RELATIONSHIPS BETWEEN NETWORK CONNECTIVITY AND GLOBAL DYNAMICS OF COMPLEX DYNAMICAL SYSTEMS

by

Peng Du

A thesis submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Doctor of Philosophy

in

Applied Mathematics

Department of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences

University of Alberta

©Peng Du, 2016

Abstract

The global dynamics of complex systems is investigated in this thesis, using the framework of coupled dynamical systems. For a coupled dynamical system on an interaction network, we show the impact of the connectivity of the interaction network on its dynamical behavior. We lay particular emphasis on non-strongly connected interaction networks, and clustered behavior of coupled dynamical systems. Two typical kinds of coupled dynamical systems are studied in the thesis: coupled gradient systems and coupled oscillators.

We present a general approach to investigating the dynamical behaviors of coupled gradient systems. The approach is demonstrated through two multi-group epidemic models: one ordinary differential equation model and one functional differential equation model with distributed delay. We show disease either persists in all groups of one strongly connected component or dies out in all groups of one strongly connected component. Moreover, we present a threshold value that determines whether disease persists or dies out in one strongly connected component.

We study both coupled linear and nonlinear oscillators in the thesis. For systems of coupled linear oscillators, we show its dynamical behavior under arbitrary interaction networks. When the interaction network is strongly connected, synchronization occurs; otherwise, clustered behavior may occur. In the case of clustered behavior, we show the frequency of oscillators in the same strongly connected components are the same. For systems of coupled nonlinear oscillators, synchronization occurs when its interaction network is strongly connected; otherwise, we show synchronization can occur when the coupling strength between any two strongly connected components is sufficiently large.

For coupled gradient systems and coupled oscillators, our analysis shows synchronization occurs under strongly connected interaction networks; while non-strongly connected interaction networks give rise to clustered behavior. In the case of clustered behavior, local systems in one strongly connected components are in the same dynamical cluster.

Acknowledgement

I want to express my deep gratitude to my supervisor, Professor Michael Y. Li, for his guidance and support during my PhD study. His knowledge and insight in applied mathematics leaded me to the start of my research, and his valuable suggestions and comments helped me to complete my thesis.

I would like to thank Professor James Muldowney for many helpful discussions on my research. I would also like to thank Professor Arno Berger, Professor Bin Han, Professor Anthony T-M Lau, Professor Branden Pass, Professor Hao Wang and Professor Xingfu Zou for their help and comments on my thesis.

I would like thank all my friends in University of Alberta. In particular, I would like to thank Professor Zhisheng Shuai, Dr. Chunhua Shan, Ms. Betsy Varughese and Mr. Chuang Xu for the beneficial discussions and collaborations in applied mathematics.

I appreciate the Department of Mathematical and Statistical Sciences, Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research of University of Alberta, for the financial support.

Finally, I am in debt to my parents, and my girl friend Ting Jiang, for their endless love, support and confidence in me.

Table of Contents

List of Figures vii
1. Introduction 1
1.1 Coupled dynamical system and its dynamical behaviors 1
1.2 Literature review 2
1.3 Motivation and objective 7
1.4 The organization of the thesis
2. Preliminaries 11
2.1 Definitions and results from graph theory 11
2.2 Auxiliary systems 13
2.3 The graph-theoretical approach to the method of global Lyapunov functions. 14
2.4 Convergence results for nonautonomous differential equations 15
3. Coupled gradient ordinary differential equations on networks 20
3.1 A general approach to studying the coupled gradient ordinary differential
equations on networks 20
3.2 A general class of multi-group epidemic models on non-strongly connected
networks
3.3 Numerical simulations
4. Coupled gradient functional differential equations on networks 42
4.1 Approach to constructing global Lyapunov functions for coupled functional
differential equations

	4.2	Model description
	4.3	Analysis of the restricted system
	4.4	Impact of the network connectivity 54
5.	Cou	pled linear oscillators on networks
	5.1	Coupled oscillators on strongly connected networks 58
	5.2	Coupled linear oscillators on network with a rooted spanning tree
	5.3	Coupled linear oscillators on arbitrary interaction networks
	5.4	Numerical simulations
6.	Cot	pled nonlinear oscillators on networks
	6.1	Synchronization of coupled nonlinear oscillators
	6.2	Non-synchronization when inter-component coupling strength is sufficient-
	ly sr	nall
	6.3	Numerical simulations
7.	Fut	ure directions
Bi	blio	graphy

List of Figures

1.1	Flow diagram of an SIR model	3
2.1	A digraph \mathcal{G} and its strongly connected components H_i are shown in (a).	
	The corresponding condensed graph \mathcal{H} is shown in (b)	13
3.1	Transmission matrix B and the corresponding transmission digraph \mathcal{G} .	39
3.2	Mixed equilibrium and positive equilibrium.	41
5.1	Interaction network \mathcal{G}_1	73
5.2	Solution approaches to a sinusoidal function when the natural frequencies	
	are the same.	73
5.3	Solution approaches to 0 when the natural frequencies are different. $\ . \ .$	74
5.4	Interaction network \mathcal{G}_2	75
5.5	Interaction network with a rooted spanning tree and same natural frequen-	
	су	76
5.6	Interaction network with a rooted spanning tree and different natural fre-	
	quency	76
5.7	Interaction network \mathcal{G}_3	77
5.8	Interaction network without a rooted spanning tree	77
6.1	The small disk is \mathcal{B}^2_{ϵ} , the ellipse is E_{C_1} and the large disk is $\mathcal{B}^2_{\epsilon_1}$	90
6.2	Strongly connected interaction network \mathcal{G}_1	94
6.3	Strongly connected interaction network case 1 and 2	95

6.4	Interaction network \mathcal{G}_2 with a rooted spanning tree	95
6.5	Interaction network with a rooted spanning tree, case 1	96
6.6	Interaction network with a rooted spanning tree, case 2	97
6.7	Interaction network with a rooted spanning tree, case 3	97
6.8	The bifurcation diagram of system (6.30)	99

Chapter 1

Introduction

A complex dynamical system involves complex coupling among their local agent systems, the state of one agent system can affect other agent systems in a complex way, this results in complex dynamics of the system. It arises in various fields of study, such as consensus problem in multi-agent systems [42, 46], the spread of infectious disease in heterogenous populations [3, 20, 55], synchronization in networks of coupled oscillators [31, 52, 59], the movement of species in ecological systems with complex dispersal networks [26, 41] and the complex behaviors of neurons in neural networks [14]. In the study of complex dynamical systems, one fundamental problem is to understand the relationship between the network connectivity and their global dynamics.

1.1 Coupled dynamical system and its dynamical behaviors

Coupled dynamical systems are used as general mathematical frameworks for the investigation of the dynamics of complex dynamical systems. Let \mathcal{G} be a directed graph with vertices 1, 2, ..., n. For i = 1, 2, ..., n, let $X_i \in \mathbb{R}^{d_i}$ be the variable on vertex i, and $F_i : \mathbb{R}^{d_i} \to \mathbb{R}^{d_i}$. Assume the local dynamics on vertex *i* is described by the differential equation

$$\dot{X}_i = F_i(X_i). \tag{1.1}$$

For i, j = 1, 2, ..., n, let $h_{ij}(X_i, X_j) : \mathbb{R}^{d_i} \times \mathbb{R}^{d_j} \to \mathbb{R}^{d_i}$ present the influence of X_j to X_i , and $h_{ij} \equiv 0$ if and only if there is no directed edge from j to i in \mathcal{G} . The coupled dynamical system on interaction network \mathcal{G} is defined as [35]

$$\dot{X}_i = F_i(X_i) + \sum_{j=1}^n h_{ij}(X_i, X_j) \qquad i = 1, 2, ..., n.$$
 (1.2)

Here the functions F_i , h_{ij} are such that the initial value problems to (1.1), (1.2) have unique solutions. In the thesis, the variables X_i , i = 1, 2, ..., n are called the agents, system (1.1) is called the *i*-th local agent system, and the directed graph \mathcal{G} is called the interaction network of (1.2).

The dynamics of (1.2) were studied in various disciplines, including ecology [26], mathematical epidemiology [3], neural science [14] and engineering [42, 45]. Generally speaking, there are three typical behaviors for coupled dynamic systems: global synchronization, totally incoherent, and clustered behavior. Global synchronization means all agent systems of (1.2) behave the same, totally incoherent behaviors can be interpreted as no pair of agents behave similarly, and clustered behaviors occur when the agents can be divided into distinct groups such that the dynamical behaviors are similar in each group [52]. These groups of agents with similar dynamical behaviors are called dynamical clusters.

1.2 Literature review

The mathematical research for coupled dynamic systems dates back to the 17th century when Christian Hyugens studied the synchronization of coupled pendulums. There are results on many different types of coupled dynamical systems. In this section we review two kinds of coupled dynamical systems: multi-group epidemic model and coupled oscillators. They are most relevant thesis.

1.2.1 Multi-group epidemic models in mathematical epidemiology

Mathematical epidemiology is a branch of applied mathematics, it concerns the mathematical modelling of the spread of infectious disease in host populations. A common mathematical model in mathematical epidemiology is the compartment model developed by Kermark and Mckendrick [28]. In a compartment model, the total population is divided into distinct compartments, such as susceptible(S), infectious(I) and recovered(R). An example of compartment model is given by

$$\dot{S} = \Lambda - \beta SI - dS,$$

$$\dot{I} = \beta SI - (d + \gamma)I,$$

$$\dot{R} = \gamma I - dR.$$
(1.3)

Here Λ represents the influx of population, βSI represents the infection, γ is the recover rate, and *d* is the natural death rate. The flow diagram of system 1.3 is shown in Figure 1.1. From biology considerations, system (1.3) is always considered in the nonnegative octant.



Figure 1.1: Flow diagram of an SIR model.

Let $R_0 = \frac{\Lambda\beta}{d(d+\gamma)}$, in mathematical epidemiology, R_0 is called the *basic reproduction number* of system (1.3). It is the average number of secondary infectious produced when one infectious individual is introduced into a host population [57].

Since variable R does not appear in the first two equations of (1.3), the third equation

can be omitted in mathematical analysis. It can be seen that system (1.3) has a boundary equilibrium $P_0 = (\frac{\Lambda}{d}, 0)$, and a positive equilibrium $P^* = (\frac{d+\gamma}{\beta}, \frac{\Lambda}{d+\gamma} - \frac{d}{\beta})$ when $R_0 > 1$. We have the following threshold theorem.

Theorem 1.1. *For system* (1.3),

- (i) when $R_0 \leq 1$, the boundary equilibrium P_0 is globally asymptotically stable, the disease will eventually disappear;
- (ii) when $R_0 > 1$, the positive equilibrium P^* is globally asymptotically stable with respect to all positive initial conditions, the disease will persist.

When the host population is heterogeneous with respect to the disease transmission, the spread of infectious disease can be modelled with the multi-group models [55]:

$$S'_{i} = \Lambda_{i} - d_{i}^{S} S_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j}),$$

$$I'_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij} f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j}) - (d_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i}) I_{i},$$

(1.4)

where S_i and I_i denote the number of individuals in the susceptible, and infectious compartments in the *i*-th group of the host population, respectively. For $i \neq j$, the incidence term $\beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)$ describes the cross-infection from group *j* to group *i*, and function $f_{ij} : \mathbb{R}^2 \to \mathbb{R}$, is called the incidence function. For detailed description of system (1.4), please see [15]. Multi-group model (1.4) is an example of coupled dynamical systems, the interaction network \mathcal{G} is obtained from the coupling matrix $(\beta_{ij})_{n \times n}$, it describes cross-transmission among groups.

The mathematical study of multi-group epidemic models lasts for a few decades. Lajmanovich and Yorke proposed and studied the first multi-group model in [32]. The global stability result for multi-group compartment model was firstly established in [21], using a global Lyapunov function, under the assumption that the cross-transmission network is strongly connected. It is shown that the global dynamics are completely determined by basic production number R_0 . Specifically, if $R_0 \le 1$, the disease dies out in all groups; if $R_0 > 1$, the endemic equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable, the disease persists in all groups, this is a threshold result as stated in Theorem 1.1. Using the same method, the threshold result was established in multi-group models with nonlinear incidence functions [30, 35], and multi-group models with distributed delays [13, 36].

Besides multi-group model, there are models in mathematical epidemiology that can be studied within the framework of coupled dynamical systems, such as heterogeneous models structured with infectious stages [20] or spatial dispersal [3,34].

For heterogeneous epidemic models, we say a group is endemic if the disease eventually persists in the group, a group is disease free if disease eventually dies out in the group. For any two groups, if they are both endemic or disease free, we say these two groups synchronize [15]. The overarching assumption for the previous threshold results is that the underlying network is strongly connected. With this assumption, all groups synchronize.

1.2.2 Coupled oscillators

In a complex system, when each local agent system exhibits periodic behavior, it can be viewed as a system of coupled oscillators. Each local agent systems is called an oscillator, and it is supposed to oscillate under its own natural frequency without coupling. Systems of coupled oscillators are used to model various phenomenons in biology, physics and engineering. Typical examples include networks of pacemaker cells in the heart, arrays of lasers, microwave oscillators and superconducting Josephson junctions [42, 44, 52, 59].

In a system of coupled oscillators, the influence of oscillator X_i to oscillator X_j is usually presented by the term $k_{ij}h(X_i, X_j)$, where k_{ij} is coupling strength, and $h(X_i, X_j)$ specifies the normalized coupling function. A system of coupled oscillators can be written as

$$\dot{X}_i = F_i(X_i) + \sum_{j=1}^n k_{ij}h(X_i, X_j) \qquad i = 1, 2, ..., n,$$
 (1.5)

where $X_i \in \mathbb{R}^d, F_i : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ and $h(X_i, X_j) : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$ for i, j = 1, 2, ..., n. Let matrix $K = (k_{ij})_{i,j=1,2,...,n}$, K is called the coupling matrix of system (1.5). System (1.5) was studied in various fields of science and engineering, and have been extensively studied [6, 24, 42, 44].

Earlier results on coupled oscillators are based on the assumption that the interaction network is symmetric. Typically, under this assumption, global synchronization occurs when the coupling strength exceeds a critical value, which is often characterized by the eigenvalue of matrix K [6,24]. Most results on the study of coupled oscillators were estimations of the critical value. In [24], coupled Duffing oscillators under diffusive coupling were investigated, it was shown synchronization will occur when the coupling strength is sufficiently large. In [60], the synchronization problem of coupled oscillators under the symmetric interaction networks was investigated, the estimation of the critical value was made by calculating the second largest eigenvalue of the matrix K. In [6], the authors presented the connection graph approach to calculating the critical coupling strength of coupled oscillators under the symmetric interaction networks.

Recently, models of coupled oscillators were extensively studied under the framework of second order consensus problems [45, 53, 61, 62]. A multi-agent system is formed by local agent systems and the connections among them, it is an example of coupled dynamical system (1.2). Consensus of multi-agent systems means that all agents eventually reach an agreement regarding a certain quantity. The study of second order consensus problem is focused on studying the following equation

$$\dot{x}_i = y_i,$$

 $\dot{y}_i = -f_i(x_i) + u_i,$ $i = 1, 2, ..., n,$
(1.6)

where $x_i, y_i \in \mathbb{R}$, $f_i : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}$ and $u_i = \sum_{j=1}^n h(x_i, y_i, x_j, y_j), i = 1, 2, ..., n$. Term u_i specifies the coupling protocol of the *i*-th oscillator. The consensus of coupled second order oscillators means every oscillator's position and velocity approach the same, it is equivalent with the conventional definition of synchronization. The research of second order consensus problems starts from the study of coupled harmonic oscillators [45], it was shown that global synchronization occurs if the interaction network has a directed spanning tree. Later in [50, 61, 62], synchronization of coupled second order nonlinear oscillators were investigated, under strict conditions on the coupling protocol u_i .

Another approach to the study of coupled oscillators is through the phase models. The phase model approach was developed by Kuramoto [31], he showed that for system of weakly coupled, nearly identical oscillators, the long time dynamics are governed by the following phase equation:

$$\dot{\theta}_i = \omega_i + \sum_{j=1}^n f_{ij}(\theta_j - \theta_i), \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n.$$
 (1.7)

where $\theta_i \in \mathbb{R}$ represents the phase of oscillator *i*, and functions $f_{ij} : \mathbb{R} \to \mathbb{R}, i, j = 1, 2, ..., n$ are determined by the original uncoupled oscillator models. Kuramoto model finds applications in a lot of areas, for reviews on Kuramoto models, please refer to [1,52].

1.3 Motivation and objective

The study of complex systems pervades all areas of science [44, 51]. When studying a complex system, it is important to understand the conditions that lead to synchronization or clustered behavior.

Previously, synchronization behavior of coupled dynamical systems has been well studied [35, 42, 43, 46, 52]. In these studies, the interaction network were assumed to be strongly connected, symmetric or more restricted, and synchronization was shown to

occur when the coupling strength is greater than a threshold value. On the other hand, clustered behavior of coupled dynamical system was widely reported [2, 3, 16, 18, 26]. In [16, 18, 26], models of coupled ecological system were studied, clustered behavior was observed when the dispersal of species was heterogeneous. In [2, 5, 56], clustered Behavior was reported in systems of coupled oscillators. In [3], clustered behavior was reported in coupled epidemic systems when the interaction network is not strongly connected. Previous observations suggested that clustered behaviors tend to occur when the connectivity of the interaction network is weak. However, mathematical results on clustered behavior were limited [7, 12, 38]. For some models, It was shown that clustered behaviors can occur under very strict conditions [12, 38].

In the thesis, we study both synchronization and clustered behaviors of coupled dynamical systems (1.2) on general interaction networks. Particular emphasis is laid on clustered behaviors, non-strongly connected interaction networks, and the impact of the network connectivity on the dynamical behavior of (1.2). When the interaction network is strongly connected, we show synchronization tends to occur; when the interaction network is not strongly connected, we consider its strongly connected components, and show local agent systems in a same strongly connected component tend to behave the same. The results in the thesis show the non-strongly connectedness of interaction network is a fact that leads to clustered behavior. Specifically, the thesis will answer the following questions for a large proportion of coupled dynamical systems.

- (i) What is the global attractor for solutions of the coupled dynamical system (1.2)?
- (ii) When does global synchronization occur? When do clustered behaviors occur?
- (iii) How does the connectivity of the interaction network determine the dynamical clusters of the coupled dynamical system (1.2)?

1.4 The organization of the thesis

For most coupled dynamical systems, the local agent systems are simple and well studied [35, 42, 45]. In the thesis we focus on two typical local agent systems: gradient system and second order oscillators. A dynamical system is *gradient* if there exists a Lyapunov function that is strictly decreasing in its nonconstant trajectories [23]. Gradient systems are common in models from mathematical epidemiology and mathematical biology [19,29,37]. The multi-group epidemic model mentioned in Section 1.2.1 is an example of coupled gradient system. The second order oscillators are modeled by equation $\ddot{x} + f(x) = 0$, it is very well studied, the orbits of second order oscillators are typically periodic orbits.

In Chapter 2, we present necessary definitions and preliminary results. In particular, we show the convergence results for limiting equations in Section 2.4. The convergence results are needed for the analysis in the following chapters.

In Chapter 3 and Chapter 4 we consider the coupled gradient dynamical systems on networks. For each agent system (4.1), we assume the feasible region is inside the nonnegative quadrant. To characterize the clustered behavior and synchronization, we look at the positiveness of a variable of interest in every local agents. For example, in multi-group epidemic models (1.4), for group *i*, the infectious population I_i is viewed as the variable of interest, if $\liminf_{t\to\infty} I_i(t)$, $\liminf_{t\to\infty} I_j(t)$ are both positive or zero, we say group *i* and group *j* synchronize. The variable of interest is chosen based on biological concern.

In Chapter 3, we present a general approach to studying coupled gradient ordinary differential equations, and demonstrate it with an application to a class of multi-group epidemic ordinary differential equation models; while in Chapter 4, we study coupled gradient functional differential equations, taking a class of multi-group epidemic models with distributed delay as an example. We use a similar approach as stated in Chapter

3. For both multi-group models, we show how the connectivity of interaction networks impact the dynamical behaviors. We are the first to show the global dynamics for multi-group epidemic models on non-strongly connected interaction networks.

In Chapter 5 and Chapter 6 we study coupled second order oscillators. Both synchronization and clustered behavior are investigated. For coupled oscillators, synchronization means that every oscillator move cohesively with each other, rigorous definition of synchronization will be provided in section 5.1. We will show synchronization can occur under weak network connections. If synchronization does not occur, we investigate the frequencies of each oscillator and show the clustered behaviors based on these frequencies. In the end of Chapter 5 and Chapter 6, numerical examples are shown to illustrate the theoretical results. Our results extend various previous results [45, 61, 62] on the this subject.

Chapter 2

Preliminaries

In this chapter we present several definitions and results that are necessary for the thesis. Definitions and results from graph theory are reviewed in Section 2.1. In Section 2.2 we define three auxiliary systems that are related to coupled dynamical system (1.2). In Section 2.3, we review the graph theoretical approach to constructing Lyapunov functions for coupled dynamical system on strongly connected networks. In Section 2.4, we state some convergence results for asymptotically autonomous ordinary, functional differential equations and more general limiting equations.

2.1 Definitions and results from graph theory

A directed graph \mathcal{G} , also called a digraph, consists of a nonempty finite set $V(\mathcal{G})$ of elements called vertices and a finite set $E(\mathcal{G})$ of ordered pairs of distinct vertices called arcs, or directed edges [4]. In the thesis, we label all the vertices with positive integers 1, 2, ..., n, and denote the arc from vertex i to j as (i, j). For the sake of simplicity, we use $i \in \mathcal{G}$ to denote a vertex $i \in V(\mathcal{G})$. A path \mathcal{P} in \mathcal{G} is a subgraph with distinct vertices $\{i_1, i_2, ..., i_m\}$ and arcs $\{e_k : k = 1, 2, ..., m - 1\}$, such that i_k, i_{k+1} are the end points of e_k . If, moreover, $e_k = (i_k, i_{k+1}), k = 1, 2, ..., m - 1$, then \mathcal{P} is a directed path. A path $\{i_1, i_2, ..., i_m\}$ is closed if $i_m = i_1$. A closed directed path is called a *directed cycle* [17].

A digraph \mathcal{G} is weighted if each arc (j, i) is assigned a positive weight k_{ij} , if an arc (j_0, i_0) does not exist, then assign $k_{i_0j_0} = 0$. Matrix $K = (k_{ij})_{n \times n}$ is called the weight matrix of \mathcal{G} . For an unweighted digraph, all the arcs have the same weight 1, the weight matrix K is the adjacency matrix of \mathcal{G} . In the thesis, we denote a digraph \mathcal{G} with weight matrix K as \mathcal{G}_K .

A digraph \mathcal{G} is *connected* if there exists a path between any two vertices of \mathcal{G} . A digraph \mathcal{G} is *strongly connected* if exists a directed path between any two vertices of \mathcal{G} . A square matrix K is *reducible* if there exists a permutation matrix P, such that

$$PKP^T = \left(\begin{array}{cc} K_1 & 0\\ K_2 & K_3 \end{array}\right),$$

where K_1, K_3 are square matrices. A square matrix is *irreducible* if it is not reducible. The next proposition is well known in graph theory [8].

Proposition 2.1. A directed graph \mathcal{G}_K is strongly connected if and only if matrix K is irreducible.

A partial order \leq among vertices of a digraph \mathcal{G} can be defined as follows: for vertices $i, j, i \leq j$ if there exists a directed path from i to j. We say $i \sim j$ if $i \leq j$ and $j \leq i$. It can be verified that relation ' \sim ' is an equivalent relation, each equivalent class is a strongly connected component of \mathcal{G} .

Proposition 2.2. *Relation* \sim *is an equivalent relation.*

Definition 1. For a directed graph \mathcal{G} , its condensed graph \mathcal{H} is a directed graph whose vertices represent the strongly connected components of \mathcal{G} . For $H, H' \in V(\mathcal{H})$, a directed edge from H to H' exists if and only if there exist $i \in H$ and $j \in H'$ and a directed edge from i to j in \mathcal{G} .

A canonical partial order \prec can be defined in \mathcal{H} as follows: for $H, H' \in \mathcal{H}, H \prec H'$ if there exists a directed path from H to H'. If $H, H' \in \mathcal{H}$ satisfy both $H \prec H'$ and $H' \prec H$, then H and H' are the same strongly connected component. This implies that \prec is a strict partial order. In Figure 2.1, a connected digraph \mathcal{G} and its condensed graph \mathcal{H} are shown. The four strongly connected components H_1, H_2, H_3 and H_4 of \mathcal{G} satisfy the relations $H_1 \prec H_3 \prec H_4$ and $H_2 \prec H_4$.



Figure 2.1: A digraph \mathcal{G} and its strongly connected components H_i are shown in (a). The corresponding condensed graph \mathcal{H} is shown in (b).

2.2 Auxiliary systems

In this section we describe three auxiliary systems of coupled dynamical system (1.2). Recall that the coupled dynamical system on interaction network \mathcal{G} can be written as

$$\dot{X}_i = F_i(X_i) + \sum_{j=1}^n h_{ij}(X_i, X_j) \qquad i = 1, 2, ..., n,$$

and $\mathcal{G} = \{1, 2, ..., n\}$. For a subgraph $G \subseteq \mathcal{G}$, we define

$$X'_{i} = F_{i}(X_{i}) + \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}} h_{ij}(X_{i}, X_{j}), \qquad i \in G.$$

$$(2.1)$$

as the *G*-subsystem of system (1.2); and

$$X'_{i} = F_{i}(X_{i}) + \sum_{j \in G} h_{ij}(X_{i}, X_{j}), \qquad i \in G.$$
 (2.2)

as the *reduced G-subsystem* of system (1.2);

let $a(t) = (a_1(t), a_2(t), \dots a_n(t))$, where $a_i(t) \in \mathcal{C}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^{d_i}), 1 \le i \le n$, we define

$$X'_{i} = F_{i}(X_{i}) + \sum_{j \in G} h_{ij}(X_{i}, X_{j}) + \sum_{l \in \mathcal{G} \setminus G} h_{il}(X_{i}, a_{l}), \qquad i \in G \qquad (2.3)$$

as the *restricted system* of system (1.2) on G at a(t).

Proposition 2.3.

- (a) If $H \in \mathcal{H}$ is a minimal element, then the H-subsystem is the same as the reduced H-subsystem.
- (b) If $H \in \mathcal{H}$ is a maximal element, then the $\mathcal{G} \setminus H$ -subsystem is the same as the reduced $\mathcal{G} \setminus H$ -subsystem.

The proposition follows from the definitions.

2.3 The graph-theoretical approach to the method of global Lyapunov functions

In 2008, Li et al developed the graph-theoretical approach to the method of global Lyapunov functions for coupled differential equations on networks [21, 35].

Theorem 2.1. [35] Suppose that the following assumptions are satisfied.

(1) There exist functions $V_i(t, X_i) : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{d_i} \to \mathbb{R}, G_{ij}(t, X_i, X_j) : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^{d_i} \times \mathbb{R}^{d_j} \to \mathbb{R}$, and constants $k_{ij} \ge 0$ such that

$$\dot{V}_i(t, X_i) \le \sum_{j=1}^n k_{ij} G_{ij}(t, X_i, X_j), \qquad t > 0, i = 1, 2, \dots n.$$
 (2.4)

(2) Let $K = (k_{ij})$, along each directed cycle C of \mathcal{G}_K ,

$$\sum_{(s,r)\in E(\mathcal{C})} G_{rs}(t, X_r, X_s) \le 0, \qquad t > 0.$$
(2.5)

(3) Digraph \mathcal{G}_K is strongly connected.

Let c_i be the cofactor of diagonal element k_{ii} of the coupling matrix K. Then $c_i > 0$ and function $V(t, X) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_i V_i(t, X_i)$ satisfies $\dot{V} \le 0$ for t > 0.

In (2.11), $\dot{V}_i(t, X_i) = \frac{\partial V_i}{\partial t} + \frac{\partial V_i}{\partial X_i}(F_i(X_i) + \sum_{j=1}^n h_{ij}(X_i, X_j))$, it is the Lyapunov derivative with respect to system (1.2).

In coupled dynamical system (1.2), if the Lyapunov function V_i for each local agent system is known, and the interaction network \mathcal{G} is strongly connected, Theorem 2.1 shows that the function $V(t, X) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} c_i V_i(t, X_i)$ is a Lyapunov function candidate for the coupled system. When the interaction network \mathcal{G} is not strongly connected, Theorem 2.1 can be applied to prove global stability results for the restricted systems (2.3) on strongly connected components of \mathcal{G} .

2.4 Convergence results for nonautonomous differential equations

In this section we review some convergence results for nonautonomous differential equations. In Section 2.4.1, we state the convergence results for asymptotically autonomous semiflows, in Section 2.4.2, we state the convergence results for more general nonautonomous differential equations.

2.4.1 Asymptotic autonomous semiflows

Let (X, d) be a metric space. Consider a mapping $\Phi : \Delta \times X \to X, \Delta = \{(t, s); t_0 \le s \le t < \infty\}$, here t_0 is an initial time. Φ is called a nonautonomous semiflow on X if it is continuous and satisfies [54]:

- (i) $\Phi(t, s, \Phi(s, r, x)) = \Phi(t, r, x), t \ge s \ge r \ge t_0$,
- (ii) $\Phi(s, s, x) = x, s \ge t_0$.

Let $(s, x) \in [t_0, \infty] \times X$, the ω -limit set of (s, x) is defined as

$$\omega_{\Phi}(s,x) = \bigcap_{\tau \ge s} \overline{\{\Phi(t,s,x); t \ge \tau\}}.$$

It can be verified that $y \in \omega_{\Phi}(s, x)$ if and only if there exists a sequence $t_k \to \infty$, such that $\Phi(t_k, s, x) \to y$.

Definition 2. Let Φ be a nonautonomous semiflow on X and Θ be an autonomous semiflow on X. Then Φ is called asymptotically autonomous, with limit semiflow Θ , if

$$\Phi(t_j + s_j, s_j, x_j) \to \Theta(t, x), \qquad j \to \infty,$$

for any three sequences $t_j \to t, s_j \to \infty, x_j \to x$ when $j \to \infty$, with $x, x_j \in X$, $0 \le t, t_j < \infty$, and $s_j \ge t_0$.

Let $f : \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$, $g : \mathbb{R}^n \to \mathbb{R}^n$. Consider ordinary differential equations

$$\dot{x} = f(t, x), \tag{2.6}$$

and

$$\dot{y} = g(y). \tag{2.7}$$

We assume that f(t, x), g(x) are continuous functions and that the initial value problems for each system have unique solutions defined for all future times. Let $x(t, s, x_0)$ be the solution of (2.6) with initial condition $x(s) = x_0$, and let $y(t, y_0)$ be the solution of (2.7) with initial condition $y(t_0) = y_0$.

Lemma 2.1. [40] Let $\Phi(t, s, x_0) = x(t, s, x_0)$, and $\Theta(t, y_0) = y(t, y_0)$. If $f(t, x) \to g(x), t \to \infty$ on compact subsets of \mathbb{R}^n , then Φ is asymptotically autonomous with limit semiflow Θ .

Suppose r > 0 is a given real number, let $C = C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^n)$ be the Banach space of continuous functions mapping the interval [-r, 0] to \mathbb{R}^n . For $\varphi \in C$, define its norm as $|\varphi| = \sup_{-r \le \theta \le 0} |\varphi(\theta)|$. Define $x_t \in C$ as $x_t(\theta) = x(t + \theta), -r \le \theta \le 0$. Let $f : \mathbb{R} \times C \to \mathbb{R}^n, g : C \to \mathbb{R}^n$ be continuous. Consider the following functional differential equations

$$\dot{x_t} = f(t, x_t), \tag{2.8}$$

$$\dot{y}_t = g(y_t). \tag{2.9}$$

We assume the initial value problems for each system have unique solutions defined for all future times. For $\tilde{x}, \tilde{y} \in C$, let $x(t, s, \tilde{x})$ be the solution of (2.8) with initial condition $x_s = \tilde{x}$, let $y(t, \tilde{y})$ be the solution of (2.9) with initial condition $y_0 = \tilde{y}$. Define a mapping $\tilde{\Phi} : \delta \times C \to C$ as $\tilde{\Phi}(t, s, \tilde{x}) = x_t(\theta, s, \tilde{x})$, and a mapping $\tilde{\Theta} : [0, \infty) \times C \to C$ as $\tilde{\Theta}(t, \tilde{y}) = y_t(\theta, \tilde{y})$.

Lemma 2.2. [40] If for every compact subset K of C, there is a neighborhood V of K, such that $f(t, \phi) \rightarrow g(\phi), t \rightarrow \infty$ uniformly for $\phi \in V$, then $\tilde{\Phi}$ is asymptotically autonomous with limit semiflow $\tilde{\Theta}$.

Note that Lemma 2.1 and Lemma 2.7 can be proved by the continuous dependence of solutions to the initial conditions and the vector fields.

For asymptotic autonomous semiflows, we have the following convergence result.

Theorem 2.2. [54] Let Φ is asymptotically autonomous on X with limit semiflow Θ . Let e be a locally asymptotically stable equilibrium of Θ and $W_s(e) = \{x \in X; \Theta(t, x) \rightarrow$ $e, t \to \infty$ its basin of attraction. Then every precompact Φ orbit whose ω - Φ -limit set intersects $W_s(e)$ converges to e.

2.4.2 General limiting equations and the skew product flow

In Section 2.4.1, we considered the asymptotic autonomous differential equations. One question aries, what if the limiting equation itself is not autonomous? For example, in (2.6), $f(t + t_n, x) \rightarrow g(t, x), t_n \rightarrow \infty$ for some sequence t_n , and g(t, x) is periodic in t. In this subsection we answer this question under the framework of the skew product flow.

Let W be an open set in \mathbb{R}^n , consider nonautonomous differential equation

$$\dot{x} = f(t, x), \tag{2.10}$$

where $f : \mathbb{R} \times W \to \mathbb{R}^n$ is continuous and that the solutions of equation (2.10) are unique and can be continued to all t in \mathbb{R} . Let $f_{\tau}(t, x) = f(t + \tau, x)$, $\mathcal{F} = \{f_{\tau}; \tau \in \mathbb{R}\}$, and $\mathcal{F}^* = \bar{\mathcal{F}}$ be the closure of \mathcal{F} in the compact open topology.

Let X be the product space $W \times \mathcal{F}^*$, a metric d on X is defined by

$$d((x, f), (\hat{x}, \hat{f})) = |x - \hat{x}| + \rho(f, \hat{f}),$$

where ρ is a basic metric on \mathcal{F}^* . Define a mapping $\pi: X \times \mathbb{R} \to X$ by

$$\pi((x, f), t) = (u(x, f, t), f_t), \tag{2.11}$$

where u(x, f, t) denotes the solution of (2.10) that satisfies u(x, f, 0) = x.

Lemma 2.3. [47] Let f(t, x) be locally Lipschitz in x and the Lipschitz constant is independent of t. Then the mapping π defined by (2.11) is a dynamical system on $X = W \times \mathcal{F}^*$. The flow defined by mapping π is called a skew product flow.

For $f \in \mathcal{F}^*$, let $\pi^*(f, t) = f_t$, then π^* defines a dynamical system on \mathcal{F}^* . Let Ω_f denote the ω -limit set of f in the flow π^* . For a $f^* \in \Omega_f$, we call the equation $\dot{x} = f^*(t, x)$ a limiting equation of (2.10). Note that the limiting equation may not be unique in general.

For $(x, f) \in X$, let $\Omega_{(x,f)}$ denote the ω -limit set of (x, f) in the flow π . If the solution u(x, f, t) to (2.10) is positively compact, $\Omega_{(x,f)}$ is nonempty, compact and invariant [48].

Lemma 2.4. [48] Let f(t, x) be locally Lipschitz in x and the Lipschitz constant is independent of t. Assume f_t is positively compact in \mathcal{F}^* . Let u(x, f, t) be a positively compact solution of (2.10). Then for every point $(x^*, f^*) \in \Omega_{(x,f)}$, the solution $u(x^*, f^*, t)$ is compact. Moreover, there exists a sequence τ_n in R with $\tau_n \to \infty$ and such that $u(x, f, t + \tau_n)$ converges to $u(x^*, f^*, t)$ uniformly on compact set in \mathbb{R} .

To prove the convergence results, we need the following lemma.

Lemma 2.5. [11] Let M be a compact isolated invariant set of a continuous flow \mathcal{F} on a locally compact metric space. Then for a point x, if $\omega(x) \cap M \neq \phi$ and $\omega(x) \nsubseteq M$, then there exist u and v, such that $u \in \omega(x) \setminus M$, and $\omega(u) \subseteq M$; $v \in \omega(x) \setminus M$, and $\alpha(v) \subseteq M$.

Theorem 2.3. If there exists a compact, isolated minimal set γ that asymptotically attracts all the solutions of the limiting equations of (2.10), then γ attracts all the solutions of equation (2.10).

Proof. For $\forall (x, f) \in X$, Lemma 2.4 shows that $\Omega_{(x,f)}$ is invariant under every limiting flow defined by the limiting equation $x = f^*(t, x)$. Therefore $\gamma \times \Omega_f \subseteq \Omega_{(x,f)}$. If $\gamma \times \Omega_f \neq \Omega_{(x,f)}$, by Lemma 2.8, there exists $(\hat{x}, \hat{f}) \in \Omega_{(x,f)}$, such that the α -limit set of (\hat{x}, \hat{f}) is contained in $\gamma \times \Omega_f$, this contradicts with the fact that γ asymptotically attracts all the solutions of the limiting equations of (2.10). Therefore $\Omega_{(x,f)} = \gamma \times \Omega_f$. \Box

Chapter 3

Coupled gradient ordinary differential equations on networks

In this chapter we study the dynamical behaviors of coupled gradient ordinary differential equations on networks. In Section 3.1, a general approach to studying the coupled gradient ordinary differential equations on networks is presented. In Section 3.2, this approach is applied to a general class of multi-group epidemic models on general interaction networks. In Section 3.3, we show some numerical simulations of the multi-group epidemic models studied in Section 3.2, the simulations illustrate the theoretical results derived in Section 3.2.

3.1 A general approach to studying the coupled gradient ordinary differential equations on networks

Consider the following coupled system on interaction network \mathcal{G} ,

$$X'_{i} = F_{i}(X_{i}) + \sum_{j=i}^{n} g_{ij}(X_{i}, PX_{j}), \qquad i = 1, 2, \dots, n,$$
(3.1)

where $X_i \in \mathbb{R}^d$, $F_i = (F_i^1, F_i^2, ..., F_i^d) : \mathbb{R}^d \to \mathbb{R}^d$, and $g_{ij} = (g_{ij}^1, g_{ij}^2, ..., g_{ij}^d) : \mathbb{R}^d \times \mathbb{R}^r \to \mathbb{R}^d$, where $r \leq n$. The local agent systems $X'_i = F_i(X_i)$, i = 1, 2, ..., n are assumed to be gradient in this chapter. Matrix P is a $r \times d$ matrix with the form $P = (I_r, 0)Q$ for some permutation matrix Q, where I_r is the identity matrix of dimension r. For each $1 \leq i \leq n$, PX_i are referred to as coupling variables. By setting $h_{ij}(X_i, X_j) = g_{ij}(X_i, PX_j)$, system (3.1) becomes the standard form of coupled dynamical system (1.2). The subsystem, reduced subsystem and restricted system of system (3.1) are defined as in Chapter 2. In this chapter, we assume \mathcal{G} is connected, but not necessarily strongly connected.

We make the following general assumptions.

(A₁) For
$$\forall 1 \leq i \leq n, 1 \leq m \leq d$$
, $F_i^m(X_i)|_{X_i^m = 0} \geq 0$; and $F_i^m(X_i)|_{X_i^m = 0} = 0$ only if $PX_i = 0$.

(A₂) For
$$1 \le i, j \le n, X_i, X_j \ge 0, Pg_{ij}(X_i, PX_j) \ge 0$$
; if $Pg_{ij} \ne 0$, then $Pg_{ij}(X_i, PX_j) \ne 0 \Leftrightarrow PX_j \ne 0$.

Assumption (A_1) ensures that the first orthant \mathbb{R}^d_+ is positively invariant for each vertex system $\dot{X}_i = F_i(X_i)$. Assumption (A_2) is regarding the non-negativity of the coupling term g_{ij} . We do not require that all entries in the vector g_{ij} to be nonnegative, and only that the coupling entries Pg_{ij} are nonnegative.

In this chapter, we characterize the positiveness of an equilibrium only by the coupling variables. An equilibrium $X^* = (X_1^*, \dots, X_n^*)$ is said to be *nonnegative* if it belongs to the first orthant $\mathbb{R}^d_+ \times \dots \times \mathbb{R}^d_+$ of the phase space. From Assumption (A_1) , we can deduce that at an non-negative equilibrium X^* , for each vertex *i*, we have either $PX_i^* > 0$ or $PX_i^* = 0$, namely, there is no such *i* such that the vector PX_i^* has both positive and zero coordinates. Equilibrium X^* is said to be *positive* if and only if $PX_i^* > 0$ for all *i*. A nonnegative equilibrium X^* is said to be *mixed* if there exists *i*, *j*, such that $PX_i^* > 0$ and $PX_j^* = 0$. Generally, if $PX_i^* = 0$ for some *i*, then X^* is a boundary equilibrium. A

mixed equilibrium is necessarily a boundary equilibrium, while a boundary equilibrium may not be mixed since we can have $PX_i^* = 0$ for all i = 1, 2, ..., n.

A differential equation $\dot{x} = f(x)$ with $x = (x_1, x_2, ..., x_k) \in \mathbb{R}^k_+$, is said to be uniformly persistent in the nonnegative orthant \mathbb{R}^k_+ if

- (i) solutions x(t) with x(0) > 0 exist for all $t \ge 0$,
- (ii) there exists constant c > 0 such that x(0) > 0 implies $\liminf_{t\to\infty} x_i(t) > c, i = 1, 2, ..., k$.

Let \mathcal{H} be the condensed graph of \mathcal{G} . We make the following additional assumptions on system (3.1).

- (A₃) For $H \in \mathcal{H}$ and constant vector $a \ge 0$, the restricted system (2.3) on H at a has a nonnegative equilibrium that attracts all positive solutions.
- (A_4) For $1 \le i \le n$, the local agent system $X'_i = F_i(X_i)$ has at most one boundary equilibrium.
- (A₅) For $H \in \mathcal{H}$, if the reduced *H*-subsystem (2.2) has a positive equilibrium, then system (2.2) is uniformly persistent.

Assumptions (A_1) , (A_2) , (A_4) and (A_5) are satisfied by many models from mathematical epidemiology and spatial ecology. Assumption (A_3) is a key assumption that needs rigorous verification for each specific model.

Theorem 3.1. Assume that (A_3) is satisfied. Then there exists a nonnegative equilibrium P^* that attracts all positive solutions of coupled system (3.1).

Proof. We use induction on the order $|\mathcal{H}|$ of \mathcal{H} . When $|\mathcal{H}| = 1$, system (3.1) and the restricted system (2.3) are the same, the theorem holds trivially. Assume that the theorem holds when $|\mathcal{H}| = m$. Then, when $|\mathcal{H}| = m + 1$, let $H \in \mathcal{H}$ be a maximal element with

respect to \prec . Let $\mathcal{G}_r = \mathcal{G} \setminus H$. Since H is a maximal element, the restricted system of the \mathcal{G}_r -subsystem is contained in the set of the restricted system of (3.1). Since $|\mathcal{G}_r/\sim| = m$, by the induction assumption, \mathcal{G}_r subsystem has a nonnegative equilibrium X_r^* that attracts all positive solutions. Now the asymptotic behavior of H-subsystem is the same as the restricted system on H at $a = (X_r^*, 0)$, by Theorem 2.2 in Section 2.4. By assumption (A_3) , H-subsystem has a nonnegative equilibrium X_H^* that attracts positive solutions. Therefore system (3.1) has a nonnegative equilibrium $X^* = (X_r^*, u_H^*)$ that attracts all positive solutions of (3.1).

When \mathcal{G} is not strongly connected, system (3.1) may have multiple mixed equilibria which stay on the boundary of the phase space. It is also possible that system (3.1) does not have any positive equilibrium. In this case, the global attracting equilibrium in Theorem 3.1 could be a mixed type. In the rest of the section, we investigate the properties of equilibria of (3.1) and provide a method for identifying the globally attracting equilibrium P^* .

Let \mathcal{P} denote the set of all nonnegative equilibria of (3.1). The following result holds.

Theorem 3.2. Assume that assumptions (A_1) and (A_2) are satisfied. For $u^* \in \mathcal{P}$, the following statements hold.

- (a) If an arc from j to i exists, then $PX_j^* > 0$ implies $PX_i^* > 0$.
- (b) For $i, j \in \mathcal{G}$ such that $j \leq i$, $PX_i^* > 0$ implies $PX_i^* > 0$.
- (c) Let $H \in \mathcal{H}$ be a strongly connected component of \mathcal{G} . Then for all $i \in H$, PX_i^* are either all zero or all positive.

Proof. By assumption (A_2) , $PX_j^* > 0$ implies $Pg_{ij}(X_i^*, PX_j^*) \neq 0$. Therefore, there exist a coupling entry m such that $g_{ij}^m(X_i^*, PX_j^*) > 0$. Assume that $PX_i^* = 0$, by assumption (A_1) , $PF(t, X_i) \geq 0$. Then $(X_i^m)'|_{X^*} = F_i^m(X_i^*) + \sum_{k=1}^n g_{ik}^m(X_i^*, PX_k^*) \geq 0$.

 $g_{ij}^m(X_i^*, PX_j^*) > 0$. This contradicts the fact that u^* is an equilibrium. Thus $PX_i^* \neq 0$. By assumption (A_1) , for $\forall i$, either $PX_i^* > 0$ or $PX_i^* = 0$. Therefore $PX_i^* > 0$.

For (b), if $j \leq i$, then there is a directed path from j to i. Applying (1) repeatedly, we get $PX_j^* > 0$ implies $PX_i^* > 0$.

For (c), if vertices *i* and *j* are in the same strongly connected components, then $i \leq j$ and $j \leq i$. By (2), we get $PX_i^* > 0 \Leftrightarrow PX_j^* > 0$.

For the restricted system (2.3) on $H \in \mathcal{H}$ at $a \ge 0$, we have the following result.

Proposition 3.1. Let X^{**} be an equilibrium of the restricted system (2.3). Then PX_i^{**} are either all positive or all zero for all $i \in H$. Furthermore, if there exist $k \in H, l \in \mathcal{G} \setminus H$ such that $g_{kl}(X_i, Pa_l) \neq 0$, then $PX_i^{**} > 0$ for all $i \in H$.

Proof. Using a similar argument as in the proof of Theorem 3.2, the signs of PX_i^{**} are the same since there is only one strongly connected component in system (2.3). If $\exists k \in H$, $l \in \mathcal{G} \setminus H$ such that $g_{kl}(X_i, Pa_l) \neq 0$, then $PX_k^{**} > 0$, and thus $PX_i^{**} > 0$ for all $i \in H$.

We define a mapping $\pi : \mathcal{P} \to (0,1)^{|\mathcal{H}|}$

$$\pi: X^* \mapsto \tilde{X}^* = (\tilde{X}^*_H)_{H \in \mathcal{H}}, \tag{3.2}$$

and

$$\tilde{X}_{H}^{*} = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } PX_{i}^{*} = 0, \text{ for } i \in H, \\ 1 & \text{if } PX_{i}^{*} > 0, \text{ for } i \in H, \end{cases}$$

where $|\mathcal{H}|$ is the order of set \mathcal{H} . From Theorem 3.2, we can see that mapping π is well defined and has the following property.

Proposition 3.2. For $X^* \in \mathcal{P}$, if $H \prec H'$, then $\tilde{X}^*_H \leq \tilde{X}^*_{H'}$.

The following result follows from Proposition 3.2.

Proposition 3.3. An equilibrium $X^* \in \mathcal{P}$ is positive if and only if $\tilde{X}_H^* = 1$ at all minimal elements $H \in \mathcal{H}$.

Proposition 3.4. Suppose that assumptions (A_3) and (A_4) are satisfied. Then

- (a) For $H \in \mathcal{H}$ and $a \ge 0$, the positive or boundary equilibrium of restricted system (2.3) on H at a is unique.
- (b) The mapping π is one-to-one.

Proof. When assumption (A_3) is satisfied, the positive equilibrium of system (2.3) is automatically unique, since otherwise the globally stable equilibrium can not attract orbits originated from the other positive equilibria. By Proposition 3.1, if $\exists k \in H, l \in \mathcal{G} \setminus H$ such that $g_{kl}(X_i, PX_l) \neq 0$, then system (2.3) only has positive equilibrium which is automatically unique; if such k, l do not exist, then system (2.3) breaks into independent systems $X'_i = F_i(X_i), i \in H$ when it is restricted on the boundary $\{PX_i = 0, i \in H\}$. Assumption (A_4) guarantees the boundary equilibrium of system (2.3) is unique.

To see that π is one-to-one, suppose that $\pi(P^*) = \pi(P^{**})$ for $P^*, P^{**} \in \mathcal{P}$. We use induction on the order $|\mathcal{H}|$ of \mathcal{H} . Suppose that the claim holds for $|\mathcal{H}| = m$. Then, when $|\mathcal{H}| = m + 1$, we can identify a maximal element H in the ordered set (\mathcal{H}, \prec) . Let $\mathcal{G}_c = \mathcal{G} \setminus H$, then variables in H will not appear in \mathcal{G}_c subsystem. Let $\mathcal{H}_c = \mathcal{G}_c/\sim = \mathcal{H} \setminus H$. Then \mathcal{H}_c is a subgraph of \mathcal{H} with $|\mathcal{H}_c| = m$, and $\tilde{P}^*_{H'} = \tilde{P}^{**}_{H'}$, for $H' \in \mathcal{H}_c$. Therefore, by our induction hypothesis,

$$P^*\big|_{\mathcal{G}_c} = P^{**}\big|_{\mathcal{G}_c}$$

Furthermore, $P^*|_H$ and $P^{**}|_H$ are the equilibrium of the restricted system on H at $a = (P^*|_{\mathcal{G}_c}, 0)$. By (a), $\tilde{P}^*_H = \tilde{P}^{**}_H$ implies $P^* = P^{**}$ on H since the boundary or positive equilibrium is unique for system (2.3). Therefore, $P^* = P^{**}$ over the entire graph \mathcal{G} , and the claim holds for $|\mathcal{H}| = m + 1$.

Define an evaluation function $E: \mathcal{P} \to \mathbb{R}_+$ as $E(X^*) = \sum_{H \in \mathcal{H}} \pi(X^*)_H$ for $u^* \in \mathcal{P}$. The following results identify the global attracting equilibrium.

Theorem 3.3. Suppose that (A_3) and (A_5) are satisfied. Then the followings hold:

- (a) all positive solutions of system (3.1) converge to a maximizer of function E;
- (b) if in addition (A_4) is satisfied, the maximizer of function E is unique.

Proof. To show (a), we note that since function E takes only integer values and is bounded by $|\mathcal{H}|$, a maximizer exists. Let X^* be a maximizer of function E. For every X^{**} that dose not maximize function E, let $H \in \mathcal{H}$ be the minimal component such that $\tilde{X}_H^* > \tilde{X}_H^{**}$. Then $\tilde{X}_H^* = 1$, $\tilde{X}_H^{**} = 0$. By Corollary 3.2, for $H' \prec H$, $\tilde{X}_{H'}^* = \tilde{X}_{H'}^{**} = 0$. Therefore the limiting system of H-subsystem is the same as H-reduced subsystem. Since $\tilde{X}_H^* = 1$, the reduced H-subsystem has a positive equilibrium. By Assumption (A_5) , the reduced Hsubsystem is persistent, and thus the coordinates of a positive solution X(t) in component H will not converge to boundary equilibrium $X^{**}|_{H}$. Therefore solutions in the interior of the nonnegative orthant will not converge to X^{**} .

To show the uniqueness of the maximizer, we assume the opposite. Let X^*, X^{**} be two minimizers and $X^* \neq X^{**}$. By assumption (A_4) , the mapping π is one to one, and thus $\pi(X^*) \neq \pi(X^{**})$. There exists a minimal element $H \in \mathcal{H}$ such that $\tilde{X^{**}}_H > \tilde{X^*}_H$. Thus $\tilde{X^{**}}_H = 1, \tilde{X^*}_H = 0$. Using a similar argument as in the proof of (a), we know the solution in the interior of nonnegative orthant will not converge to X^* . This contradicts (a) since X^* is a maximizer of E. Therefore the maximizer of function E is unique. \Box

Suppose system (3.1) satisfies assumptions $(A_1) - (A_5)$. For every equilibrium P of system (3.1), we can calculate the vector $\pi(P)$, and the number E(P). Then we find the unique maximizer P^* of E. By Theorem 3.3, positive solutions of (3.1) are attracted to P^* .

3.2 A general class of multi-group epidemic models on non-strongly connected networks

In this section we apply the approach described in section 3.1 to a general class of multigroup epidemic models. We consider the following system of multi-group epidemic models of SEIR type:

$$S'_{i} = \Lambda_{i} - d_{i}^{S}S_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j}),$$

$$E'_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j}) - (d_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i})E_{i}, \qquad i = 1, \cdots, n,$$

$$I'_{i} = \epsilon_{i}E_{i} - (d_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i})I_{i},$$
(3.3)

where S_i , E_i , and I_i denote the number of individuals in the susceptible, exposed, and infectious compartments in the *i*-th group of the host population, respectively. The number of individuals in the recovered compartment of the *i*-th group is denoted by R_i , and R_i satisfies the following equation:

$$R_i' = \epsilon_i E_i - d_i^R R_i. \tag{3.4}$$

Since equations in (3.3) does not contain variable R_i , we will first establish the global dynamics of system (3.3), and then derive the asymptotic behaviours of R_i from equation (3.4).

All parameters in system (3.3)-(3.4) are assumed to be nonnegative. We further assume that d_k^S , d_k^E , d_k^I , d_k^R , $\Lambda_k > 0$ for all k. For $i \neq j$, the incidence term $\beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)$ describes the cross-infection from group j to group i. Motivated by biological considerations, we assume that $f_{ij}(0, I_j) = 0$, $f_{ij}(S_i, 0) = 0$, and $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) > 0$ for $S_i > 0$, $I_j > 0$. We also assume that $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)$ are sufficiently smooth. We further make the following assumptions on the incidence function $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)$:

$$(F_{1}) \quad 0 < \lim_{I_{j} \to 0^{+}} \frac{f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j})}{I_{j}} = C_{ij}(S_{i}) \le +\infty, 0 < S_{i} \le S_{i}^{0}.$$

$$(F_{2}) \quad f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}) \le C_{ii}(S_{i})I_{i} \text{ for all } I_{i} > 0.$$

$$(F_2) \quad f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) \le C_{ij}(S_i)I_j \text{ for all } I_j > 0.$$

$$(F_3) \ C_{ij}(S_i) \le C_{ij}(S_i^0), \ 0 < S_i < S_i^0.$$

If a positive equilibrium $P^* = (S_1^*, E_1^*, I_1^*, ..., S_n^*, E_n^*, I_n^*)$ of (3.3) exists, we assume that

$$(F_4) \quad (S_i - S_i^*)(f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*) - f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)) > 0, \ S_i \neq S_i^*.$$

$$(F_5) \quad [f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*) - f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*)f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)] \left[\frac{f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{I_j} - \frac{f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*)f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)}{I_j^*}\right] \leq 0, \ S_i, I_i > 0.$$

Classes of $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)$ satisfying (F_1) - (F_3) include common incidence functions such as bilinear incidence $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) = I_j S_i$, nonlinear incidence $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) = I_j^{p_j} S_i^{q_i}$, and saturated incidences $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) = \frac{I_j^{p_j}}{I_j + A_j} \frac{S_i^{q_i}}{S_i + B_i}$. For detailed description of the model, we refer the reader to [21, 35, 55].

For each i, adding the three equations in (3.3) gives

$$(S_i + E_i + I_i)' \le \Lambda_i - d_i^* (S_i + E_i + I_i)$$

with $d_i^* = \min\{d_i^S, d_i^E, d_i^I + \gamma_i\} > 0$. Hence $\limsup_{t\to\infty} (S_i + E_i + I_i) \leq \Lambda_i/d_i^*$. Similarly, from the S_i equation we obtain $\limsup_{t\to\infty} S_i \leq \Lambda_i/d_i^S$. Therefore, omega limit sets of system (3.3) are contained in the following bounded region in the nonnegative cone of \mathbb{R}^{3n}

$$\Gamma = \Big\{ (S_1, E_1, I_1, \cdots, S_n, E_n, I_n) \in \mathbb{R}^{3n}_+ \mid 0 < S_i \le \frac{\Lambda_i}{d_i^S}, \ S_i + E_i + I_i \le \frac{\Lambda_i}{d_i^*}, \text{ for all } i \Big\}.$$

It can be verified that region Γ is positively invariant.

System (3.3) always has the *disease-free equilibrium* $P_0 = (S_1^0, 0, 0, \dots, S_n^0, 0, 0)$, on the boundary of Γ , where $S_i^0 = \Lambda_i/d_i^S$. An equilibrium $P^* = (S_1^*, E_1^*, I_1^*, \dots, S_n^*, E_n^*, I_n^*)$
is called an *endemic equilibrium* of (3.3) if $S_i^*, E_i^*, I_i^* > 0$ for all $i = 1, \dots, n$, and P^* is called a *mixed equilibrium* if $E_i^*, I_i^* > 0$ for some $1 \le i \le n$ while $E_j^* = I_j^* = 0$ for some $1 \le j \le n$. It can be seen that mixed equilibria are necessarily on the boundary of Γ , and an endemic equilibrium belongs to the interior of Γ .

The basic reproduction number R_0 for an epidemic model measures the average number of secondary infections caused by a single infectious individual in an entirely susceptible population during its infectious period. Assume that $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)$ satisfies (F_1) , and let

$$M_{0} = M(S_{1}^{0}, S_{2}^{0}, \dots, S_{n}^{0}) = \left(\frac{\beta_{ij} \epsilon_{i} C_{ij}(S_{i}^{0})}{(d_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i})(d_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i})}\right)_{1 \le i, j \le n}.$$
(3.5)

It can be shown using the method of next generation matrix as in [57] that R_0 for system (3.3) is

$$R_0 = \rho(M_0), \tag{3.6}$$

where ρ is the spectral radius of the matrix. If $C_{ij}(S_i^0) = +\infty$ for some *i* and *j*, it is understood that $R_0 = +\infty$, see also [35].

System (3.3) can be written as a coupled dynamical system on networks (3.1). Let $X_i = (S_i, E_i, I_i)^T$, the local agent system is a single-group SEIR model with vector field $F_i(X_i) = (\Lambda_i - d_i^S S_i - \beta_{ii} f_{ii}(S_i, I_i), \beta_{ii} f_{ii}(S_i, I_i) - (d_i^E + \epsilon_i) E_i, \epsilon_i E_i - (d_i^I + \gamma_i) I_i)$. Let $B = (\beta_{ij}) \ge 0$, the interaction network is defined by the digraph \mathcal{G}_B . A directed arc from vertex j to i exists if and only if $\beta_{ij} > 0$. The general coupling terms are given by $g_{ij} = (-\beta_{ij} f_{ij}, \beta_{ij} f_{ij}, 0)$, and they represents cross-infections among groups. The matrix

$$P = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 & 1 \end{pmatrix},$$

and $PX_i = (E_i, I_i)^T$, which shows the coupling variables are E_i and I_i . At an equilibrium $X^* = (X_1^*, \dots, X_n^*)$ with $X_i^* = (S_i^*, E_i^*, I_i^*)$, the disease is endemic in the group *i* if $PX_i^* > 0$, and group *i* is disease free if $PX_i^* = 0$.

Under the assumption that the transmission matrix $B = (\beta_{ij})$ is irreducible, or equivalently, \mathcal{G}_B is strongly connected, the following threshold result was established in [35].

Theorem 3.4 (Li and Shuai). Assume that $B = (\beta_{ij})$ is irreducible.

- (a) If $R_0 \leq 1$, then P_0 is the only equilibrium and is globally asymptotically stable in Γ .
- (b) If $R_0 > 1$, then system (3.3) has a unique endemic equilibrium P^* , and P^* is globally asymptotically stable in the interior of Γ if assumptions (F_4) and (F_5) are satisfied.

When the irreducibility assumption on the transmission matrix $B = (\beta_{ij})$ is dropped, the digraph \mathcal{G}_B is not necessarily strongly connected. We show in the following that all groups within a strongly connected component H have the same behaviours. From the form of functions $F_i(X_i)$ and $g_{ij}(X_i, X_j)$, we can verify that conditions in (A_1) and (A_2) are satisfied. From Theorem 3.2 we have the following result.

Proposition 3.5. Let $X^* = (S_i^*, E_i^*, I_i^*)_{i \in \mathcal{G}}$ be an equilibrium and H be a strongly connected component of \mathcal{G}_B . Either $PX_i^* = 0$ for all $i \in H$ or $P_i^* > 0$ for all $i \in H$.

The condensed graph \mathcal{H} , sub-systems, reduced sub-systems, restricted systems and the set of equilibria \mathcal{P} are defined in the same way as in Section 3.1. For a strongly connect component $H \in \mathcal{H}$, the reduced H-subsystem is a closed system. Let $R_{0,H}$ denote its basic reproduction number. Since the reduced H-subsystem has an irreducible transmission matrix, it satisfies Theorem 3.4. Therefore, if $R_{0,H} \leq 1$ all solutions of the reduced H-subsystem converge to the disease-free equilibrium, and if $R_{0,H} > 1$, all solutions of reduced H-subsystem converge to an unique endemic equilibrium.

The following result establishes the relation between the basic reproduction number R_0 for the entire system and $R_{0,H}$.

Theorem 3.5. Let \mathcal{H} be the condensing graph of (\mathcal{G}, B) . Then

$$R_0 = \max\{R_{0,H} \mid H \in \mathcal{H}\}.$$
(3.7)

Proof. Theorem 3.5 holds trivially if B is irreducible. Suppose that B is reducible. For a strongly connected component $H \in \mathcal{H}$, let

$$M_{0,H} = \left(\frac{\beta_{ij}\,\epsilon_i\,C_{ij}(S_i^0)}{(d_i^E + \epsilon_i)(d_i^I + \gamma_i)}\right)_{i,j\in V(H)}$$

Then $R_{0,H} = \rho(M_{0,H})$. If we group the equations in (3.3) according to strongly connected components of (\mathcal{G}, B) and rearrange the components according to the order \prec defined on \mathcal{H} , then matrix M_0 in (3.5) can be written in block-triangular form

$$M_{0} = \begin{bmatrix} M_{0,H_{1}} & 0 & \dots & 0 \\ * & M_{0,H_{2}} & \dots & 0 \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ * & * & \dots & M_{0,H_{N}} \end{bmatrix},$$

where H_1, \dots, H_N are the vertices of the condensed graph \mathcal{H} . Using Cauchy-Bonet formula we see that eigenvalues of M_0 are the ensemble of eigenvalues of M_{0,H_i} , $i = 1, \dots, N$. This leads to relation (3.7).

It is clear from Theorem 3.5 that network connectivity has a strong impact on the endemicity of disease transmission. When the interaction network is not strongly connected, $R_0 > 1$ if $R_{0,H} > 1$ on one of the component H. Accordingly, the disease may be endemic in some groups and disappears from other groups. It is possible that an endemic equilibrium may not exist, and that system (3.3) can have multiple mixed equilibria. It is of interest to investigate whether $R_0 > 1$ can imply the existence of a positive endemic equilibrium, and whether global convergence to an equilibrium still holds. Suppose $R_0 > 1$ and no positive equilibrium exists, it is then of interest to investigate which of the

many mixed equilibria will be globally stable. The theory developed in Section 3.1 will be applied to investigate the global dynamics of system (3.3) and address these issues.

Each local agent system of (3.3) is a single-group SEIR model with an unique boundary equilibrium, thus assumption (A_4) is satisfied. For every strongly connected component H, global dynamics of the reduced H-subsystem is described by Theorem 3.4. In particular, when a positive equilibrium exists, we know $R_{0,H} > 1$ and this positive equilibrium attracts all the positive solutions, therefore system (3.3) is uniformly persistent, assumption (A_5) is satisfied.

Next we show that system (3.3) satisfies assumption (A_3) . Let $H \in \mathcal{H}$ be a strongly connected component and $a_j \ge 0, j \in \mathcal{G} \setminus H$. The restricted subsystem on H at a is:

$$S'_{i} = \Lambda_{i} - d_{i}^{S}S_{i} - \sum_{j \in H} \beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j}) - \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G} \setminus H} \beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_{i}, a_{j})$$

$$E'_{i} = \sum_{j \in H} \beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j}) + \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G} \setminus H} \beta_{ij}f_{ij}(S_{i}, a_{j}) - (d_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i})E_{i}, \quad i \in H.$$

$$I'_{i} = \epsilon_{i}E_{i} - (d_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i})I_{i},$$

$$(3.8)$$

We want to show that system (3.8) has a unique nonegative equilibrium that attracts all positive solutions. We will establish the result for a more general system:

$$S'_{i} = \Lambda_{i} - d_{i}^{S}S_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f(S_{i}, I_{j}) - h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i}),$$

$$E'_{i} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f(S_{i}, I_{j}) + p_{i}h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i}) - (d_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i})E_{i}, \qquad i = 1, 2, ...n, \qquad (3.9)$$

$$I'_{i} = \epsilon_{i}E_{i} + q_{i}h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i}) - (d_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i})I_{i},$$

where p_i, q_i satisfy $p_i, q_i \ge 0$ and $0 < p_i + q_i \le 1$ for all $i, h_i(S_i, I_i) \ge 0$. Other parameters have the same interpretation as in system (3.3). Let $B_1 = (\beta_{ij})$, then \mathcal{G}_{B_1} is the interaction network that associated with system (3.9).

System (3.9) can be regarded as a general multi-group model with vertical transmission: functions $h_i(S_i, I_i)$ can be understood as newborns infected at birth in the *i*-th group, and enter compartments E_i and I_i by fractions p_i and q_i respectively. It can be verified that the feasible region for system (3.9) is

$$\Delta = \Big\{ (S_1, E_1, I_1, ..., S_n, E_n, I_n) \in R^{3n}_+ \mid 0 < S_i \le \frac{\Lambda_i}{d_i^S}, S_i + E_i + I_i \le \frac{\Lambda_i}{d_i^*}, \text{ for all } i \Big\},$$

with $d_i^* = \min\{d_i^S, d_i^E, d_I^I\}$. An equilibrium $P^* = (S_1^*, E_1^*, I_1^*, ..., S_n^*, E_n^*I_n^*)$ of system (3.9) satisfy the following equilibrium equations

$$0 = \Lambda_{i} - d_{i}^{S}S_{i}^{*} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f(S_{i}^{*}, I_{j}^{*}) - h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*}),$$

$$0 = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f(S_{i}^{*}, I_{j}^{*}) + p_{i}h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*}) - (d_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i})E_{i}^{*}, \qquad i = 1, 2, ...n.$$

$$0 = \epsilon_{i}E_{i}^{*} + q_{i}h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*}) - (d_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i})I_{i}^{*}.$$

$$(3.10)$$

Proposition 3.6. Assume matrix B_1 is irreducible and there exists k such that $h_k(S_k, I_k) > 0$ given $S_k > 0$. Then

(a) system (3.9) has no equilibria on the boundary of Δ , and

(b) system (3.9) has an endemic(positive) equilibrium.

Proof. By the positive invariance of the compact and convex feasible region Δ and Browder's Fixed Point Theorem [10], we can deduce that system (3.9) has an equilibrium in Δ . Let $P^* = (S_1^*, E_1^*, I_1^*, ..., S_n^*, E_n^*, I_n^*)$ be a equilibrium of system (2.9). From the first equation of (3.10) we get $S_i^* > 0$ for all *i*.

Suppose $h_k(S_k, I_k) > 0$ for $S_k > 0$. Then from (3.10),

$$(d_k^E + \epsilon_k)E_k^* = \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_{kj}f(S_k^*, I_j^*) + p_kh_k(S_k^*, I_k^*),$$
$$(d_k^I + \gamma_jI_k^* = \epsilon_k E_k^* + q_kh_k(S_k^*, I_k^*).$$

Therefore, $h_k(S_k^*, I_k^*) > 0$ implies that $Pu_k^* = (E_k^*, I_k^*)^T > 0$. Since \mathcal{G}_{B_1} is strongly connected, we know $Pu_i^* > 0$ for all $i \in \mathcal{G}_{B_1}$, thus system (3.9) has an endemic equilibrium

and no boundary equilibria.

Let $P^* = (S_1^*, E_1^*, I_1^*, ..., S_n^*, E_n^*, I_n^*)$ be an endemic equilibrium of (3.9). We make the following assumption on $h_i(S_i, I_i)$:

$$(F_6) \left(1 - \frac{I_i f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*) h_i(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{I_i^* f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*) h_i(S_i, I_i)} \right) \left(\frac{f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*) h_i(S_i, I_i)}{f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*) h_i(S_i^*, I_i^*)} - 1 \right) \le 0, \text{ for all } S_i, I_i > 0.$$

The next result establishes the global dynamics of system (3.9) when B_1 is irreducible. It generalizes the global stability result in [21, 35].

Theorem 3.6. Suppose matrix B_1 is irreducible and there exists k such that $h_k(S_k, I_k) > 0$ in Δ . Assume that conditions $(F_1) - (F_6)$ hold. Then system (3.9) has a unique endemic equilibrium and it is globally asymptotically stable in the interior of Δ .

Proof. Let $P^* = (S_1^*, E_1^*, I_1^*, \cdots, S_n^*, E_n^*, I_n^*)$ be an endemic equilibrium of (3.9). Let

$$V_{i} = \int_{S_{i}^{*}}^{S_{i}} \frac{f_{ii}(\xi, I_{i}^{*}) - f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{f_{ii}(\xi, I_{i}^{*})} d\xi + E_{i} - E_{i}^{*} \log E_{i} + \frac{d_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i}}{\epsilon_{i}} (I_{i} - I_{i}^{*} \log I_{i}).$$

Taking the derivative of V_i along solutions to system (3.9), we obtain

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}_{i} &= \left(1 - \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})}\right) \left(\Lambda_{i} - d_{i}^{S}S_{i} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f(S_{i}, I_{j}) - h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i})\right) + \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f(S_{i}, I_{j}) \\ &+ p_{i}h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i}) - (d_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i})E_{i} - \frac{E_{i}^{*}}{E_{i}} \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f(S_{i}, I_{j}) - \frac{E_{i}^{*}}{E_{i}}p_{i}h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i}) + (d_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i})E_{i}^{*} \\ &+ (d_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i})E_{i} - \frac{(d_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i})(d_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i})}{\epsilon_{i}}I_{i} + \frac{(d_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i})}{\epsilon_{i}}q_{i}h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i}) - \frac{I_{i}^{*}}{I_{i}}(d_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i})E_{i} \\ &+ \frac{(d_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i})(d_{i}^{I} + \gamma_{i})}{\epsilon_{i}}I_{i}^{*} - \frac{(d_{i}^{E} + \epsilon_{i})I^{*}}{\epsilon_{i}I}q_{i}h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i}) \\ &\leq -d_{i}^{S} \left[S_{i} - S_{i}^{*}\right) \left(1 - \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})}\right] \\ &+ \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{ij}f(S_{i}^{*}, I_{j}^{*}) \left[3 + \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})f_{ij}(S_{i}, I_{j})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{j}^{*})} - \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})} - \frac{I_{i}}{I_{i}^{*}} - \frac{E_{i}I_{i}^{*}}{E_{i}^{*}I_{i}}\right] \\ &+ p_{i}h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*}) \left[3 + \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})} - \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})} - \frac{I_{i}}{I_{i}^{*}} - \frac{E_{i}I_{i}^{*}}{E_{i}h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}}{I_{i}^{*}} - \frac{E_{i}I_{i}^{*}}{I_{i}} \right] \\ &+ q_{i}h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*}) \left[2 + \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})} - \frac{I_{i}}{I_{i}^{*}} - \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})}\right]. \end{split}$$

34

Let

$$Q_{i}(S_{i}, E_{i}, I_{i}) = 3 + \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})} - \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})} - \frac{E_{i}^{*}h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i})}{E_{i}h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})} - \frac{I_{i}}{I_{i}^{*}} - \frac{E_{i}I_{i}^{*}}{E_{i}^{*}I_{i}},$$
$$R_{i}(S_{i}, E_{i}, I_{i}) = 2 + \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})} - \frac{I_{i}^{*}h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i})}{I_{i}h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})} - \frac{I_{i}^{*}h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i})}{I_{i}^{*}} - \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{I_{i}^{*}},$$

and

$$F_{ij}(S_i, E_i, I_i, I_j) = 3 + \frac{f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*)f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)} - \frac{f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)} - \frac{f_{ij}(S_i, I_j)E_i^*}{f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*)E_i} - \frac{I_i}{I_i^*} - \frac{E_i I_i^*}{E_i^* I_i^*}.$$

Then

$$\begin{aligned} Q_i(S_i, E_i, I_i) &= \left(4 - \frac{f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)} - \frac{E_i^* h_i(S_i, I_i)}{E_i h_i(S_i^*, I_i^*)} - \frac{I_i f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*) h_i(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{I_i^* f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*) h_i(S_i, I_i)} - \frac{E_i I_i^*}{E_i^* I_i}\right) \\ &+ \left(1 - \frac{I_i f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*) h_i(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{I_i^* f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*) h_i(S_i, I_i)}\right) \left(\frac{f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*) h_i(S_i, I_i)}{f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*) h_i(S_i^*, I_i^*)} - 1\right) \\ &\leq \left(1 - \frac{I_i f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*) h_i(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{I_i^* f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*) h_i(S_i, I_i)}\right) \left(\frac{f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*) h_i(S_i, I_i)}{f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*) h_i(S_i^*, I_i^*)} - 1\right) \\ &\leq 0, \end{aligned}$$

by assumption (F_6) . Similarly,

$$\begin{split} R_{i}(S_{i}, E_{i}, I_{i}) &= \left(3 - \frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})} - \frac{I_{i}^{*}h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i})}{I_{i}h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})} - \frac{I_{i}f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{I_{i}^{*}f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i})}\right) \\ &+ \left(1 - \frac{I_{i}f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{I_{i}^{*}f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i})}\right) \left(\frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})} - 1\right) \\ &\leq \left(1 - \frac{I_{i}f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})}{I_{i}^{*}f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i})}\right) \left(\frac{f_{ii}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}, I_{i})}{f_{ii}(S_{i}, I_{i}^{*})h_{i}(S_{i}^{*}, I_{i}^{*})} - 1\right) \\ &\leq 0. \end{split}$$

Using assumption (F_4) we obtain

$$\dot{V}_i \leq \sum_{j=1}^n \beta_{ij} f(S_i^*, I_j^*) F_{ij}(S_i, E_i, I_i, I_j).$$

Let $\Phi(a) = 1 - a + \log a$ and $L_i(I_i) = -\frac{I_i}{I_i^*} + \log \frac{I_i}{I_i^*}$. Then $\Phi(a) \le 0$ for a > 0 and the

equality holds only at a = 1. Furthermore,

$$\begin{aligned} F_{ij} &= L_i(I_i) - L_j(I_j) + \Phi\left(\frac{f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)}\right) + \Phi\left(\frac{E_i I_i^*}{E_i^* I_i}\right) \\ &+ \Phi\left(\frac{I_j f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*) f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)}{I_j^* f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}\right) + \Phi\left(\frac{f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) E_i^*}{f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*) E_i}\right) \\ &+ \left(\frac{f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*) f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)} - 1\right) \left(1 - \frac{I_j f_{ij}(S_i^*, I_j^*) f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)}{I_j^* f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}\right) \\ &\leq L_i(I_i) - L_j(I_j). \end{aligned}$$

Therefore along each directed cycle C, $\sum_{(i,j)\in E(C)} F_{ij} \leq 0$. Let c_i is the cofactor of the *i*-th diagonal entry of matrix $(\beta_{ij}f(S_i^*, I_j^*))$, and $V = \sum_{i=1}^n c_i V_i$. By Theorem 2.1, $\dot{V} \leq 0$ for all $(S_1, E_1, I_1, \dots, S_n, E_n, I_n) \in \Delta$.

In a subset of $\{(S_1, E_1, I_1, ..., S_n, E_n, I_n) | \dot{V} = 0\}$ that is invariant for system (3.9), we necessarily have $d_i^S(S_i - S_i^*)(1 - \frac{f_{ii}(S_i^*, I_i^*)}{f_{ii}(S_i, I_i^*)}) = 0$ and $Q_i(S_i, E_i, I_i) = 0$, for all *i*. It can be verified that these conditions imply $S_i = S_i^*, E_i = E_i^*$ and $I_i = I_i^*$ for all *i*. Therefore the largest invariant set where $\dot{V} = 0$ is the singleton $\{P^*\}$. LaSalle's Invariance Principle [33] implies that the equilibrium P^* is globally asymptotically stable in Δ . The uniqueness of P^* follows from its global stability.

It can be seen that the restricted system (3.8) on a strongly connected component H is a special case of the system (3.9), with $p_i = 1$, $q_i = 0$ and

$$h_i(S_i, I_j) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G} \setminus H} \beta_{ij} f_{ij}(S_i, c_j).$$
(3.11)

The following proposition follows from Theorem 3.6. It shows that system (3.3) satisfies assumption (A_3) .

Proposition 3.7. For every $H \in \mathcal{H}$, let $h_i(S_i, I_j)$ be defined as in (3.11). Assume f_{ij} satisfies assumptions (F_1) - (F_3) .

(a) Suppose that there exists $k \in H$ such that $h_k(S_k, I_k) > 0$ and that f_{ij} satisfies assumptions (F_4) - (F_6) . Then the restricted system (3.8) has an unique endemic

equilibrium and it is globally asymptotically stable in the interior of the positive octant.

(b) Suppose that h_i(S_i, I_i) = 0 for all i ∈ H and that f_{ij} satisfies assumptions (F₄) and (F₅). If R_{0,H} ≤ 1, then disease free equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable; if R_{0,H} > 1, then a unique endemic equilibrium exists and is globally asymptotically stable in the interior the positive octant.

We have shown that assumptions (A_1) - (A_5) are satisfied by system (3.3). Let evaluation map $E : \mathcal{P} \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be defined as in Section 3.1. Applying Theorem 3.3, we have the following result.

Theorem 3.7. Assume that incidence functions in (2.6) satisfy assumptions (F_1) - (F_6) . Then all positive solutions of system (3.3) converge to the unique maximizer of the evaluation map E.

For a strongly connected component $H \in \mathcal{H}$, define

$$R_{1,H} = \max\{R_{0,H'} | H' \in \mathcal{H}, H' \prec H \text{ or } H' = H\}.$$

 R_1 serves as a threshold value that indicate whether disease disappears or persists in each strongly connected component.

Theorem 3.8. Let P^* be the nonnegative globally asymptotically stable equilibrium of system (3.3). For $\forall H \in \mathcal{H}$, if $R_{1,H} > 1$, then $I_i^* > 0$ for all $i \in H$; if $R_{1,H} \leq 1$, then $I_i^* = 0$ for all $i \in H$.

The theorem can be proved using the property of the mapping π .

Corollary 1. Assume f_{ij} satisfies assumptions (F_1) - (F_6) . For system (3.3),

(i) if $R_{1,H} \leq 1$ for every strongly connected component H, disease free equilibrium is the only equilibrium, and it is globally asymptotically stable;

- (ii) if $R_{1,H} > 1$ for every strongly connected component H, there exists an unique positive equilibrium that is globally asymptotically stable;
- *(iii) otherwise, there exist mixed equilibria, and one of them is globally asymptotically stable.*

For the class of multi-group epidemic models whose incidence functions satisfy assumptions (F_1) - (F_6) , Theorems 3.4, 3.7, 3.8 and Corollary 1 completely characterize the impact of interaction network on the endemicity of the disease. If the network is strongly connected, then the disease outcomes are entirely determined by the basic reproduction number R_0 (Theorem 3.4): if $R_0 \le 1$ the disease dies out; if $R_0 > 1$ the disease persists in all groups and all persistent solutions converge to a unique positive endemic equilibrium. The clustered behavior does not occur. If the network is not strongly connected, then R_0 no longer uniquely determines the disease outcomes. While $R_0 \leq 1$ still implies that the disease dies out from all groups, $R_0 > 1$ can not guarantee that the disease is persistent in all groups. A positive endemic equilibrium many not exist in this case, and multiple mixed equilibria may exist depending on the network connectivity. As we show in Theorems 3.7 and 3.8 that it is productive to partition the network \mathcal{G} into strongly connected components and examine the resulting condensed graph \mathcal{H} . A natural order \prec and an evaluation map E can be defined on the set of equilibria using the induced network structure on the condensed graph \mathcal{H} . The unique maximizer of map E identifies the equilibrium that attracts all positive solutions. The maximizer identifies the groups in which the disease is endemic and groups in which the disease disappears. The order \prec also enables us define the threshold value R_1 , its importance in determining whether the disease is endemic in all of the groups is clearly shown in Theorem 3.8 and its corollary.

For multi-group epidemic models, we say two groups are in the same cluster if disease eventually dies out in both groups or persists in both groups. It is shown in Theorem 3.8 that disease either dies out or persists in all groups of a same strongly connected com-

ponent, this implies that dynamical clusters are composed of strongly connected components. Thus clustered behavior will not occur for system (3.3) on strongly connected networks. The graph connectivity of interaction network \mathcal{G}_B impacts the threshold values $R_{1,H}$ for every strongly connected component, thus impacts the dynamics of system (3.3).

3.3 Numerical simulations

In this section we show several simulation results for the multi-group SEIR model in Section 3.2.

For the multi-group SEIR model (3.3), we choose n = 3, with the bilinear incidence function $f_{ij}(S_i, I_j) = S_i I_j$. The coupling matrix $B = (\beta_{ij})$ and the corresponding interaction network are given in Figure 3.1.



Figure 3.1: Transmission matrix B and the corresponding transmission digraph G.

Here the transmission matrix (β_{ij}) is reducible. The set of strongly connected components $\mathcal{H} = \{H_1, H_2\} = \{\{1, 2\}, 3\}$, and $H_1 \prec H_2$. We can compute the basic reproduction number R_{0,H_i} for H_i reduced subsystem, i = 1, 2, using formula (3.6). Then, Theorem 3.5 implies that the basic reproduction number R_0 for the coupled system satisfies

$$R_0 = \max\{R_{0,H_1}, R_{0,H_2}\}.$$

From Theorem 3.7 in Section 3.2, the global dynamics are determined by these two basic reproduction numbers and the graph structure as summarized in the following three cases:

(1) When $R_{0,H_1} \leq 1, R_{0,H_2} \leq 1$, we have $R_0 \leq 1$, and $\pi(P^*)_{H_1} = \pi(P^*)_{H_2} = 0$.

Accordingly, the disease-free equilibrium $P_0 = (S_1^*, 0, 0, S_2^*, 0, 0, S_3^*, 0, 0)$ is the only equilibrium and it is globally asymptotically stable.

- (2) When $R_{0,H_1} \leq 1, R_{0,H_2} > 1$, we have $R_0 > 1$, and $\pi(P^*)_{H_1} = 0, \pi(P^*)_{H_2} = 1$. There are two equilibria: the disease-free equilibrium P_0 and a mixed equilibrium $P^* = (S_1^*, 0, 0, S_2^*, 0, 0, S_3^*, E_3^*, I_3^*)$, with $\pi(P_0)_{H_1} = 0, \pi(P_0)_{H_2} = 1$ and $\pi(P^*)_{H_1} = 0, \pi(P^*)_{H_2} = 1$. Thus $E(P_0) = 0, E(P^*) = 1$, the mixed equilibrium P^* is the maximizer of E, all solutions in the interior of Γ are attracted to P^* .
- (3) When R_{0,H1} > 1, we have R₀ > 1, and π(P*)_{H1} = π(P*)_{H2} = 1. There are two equilibria: the disease-free equilibrium P₀ and the endemic equilibrium P* = (S*₁, E*₁, I*₁, S*₂, E*₂, I*₂, S*₃, E*₃, I*₃). It can be seen that E(P₀) = 0, E(P*) = 2. The endemic equilibrium P* is the maximizer of π and attracts all solutions in the interior of Γ, irrespective of the value of R_{0,H2}.

Note that the mapping π and E are defined in section 3.1, the feasible Γ region is defined in section 3.2.

We have chosen parameter values to simulate the model and demonstrate the solutions for cases (2) and (3). Our simulation results are shown in Figure 3.2, in which we have plotted $I_i(t)$ for i = 1, 2, 3. In Figure 3.2-(a), both $I_1(t)$ and $I_2(t)$ approach zero, and $I_3(t)$ approaches a positive value, so that solutions with positive initial conditions converge to a mixed equilibrium. In Figure 3.2-(b), all $I_i(t)$ approach positive values, thus solutions with positive initial conditions converge to the endemic equilibrium. Note that in Figure 3.2-(b), the parameter values are chosen such that $R_{0,H_2} < 1$, however, $I_3(t)$ approaches a positive value instead of 0.



(a) A positive solution is attracted to a mixed equilibrium in case (2).



(b) A positive solution is attracted to the endemic equilibrium in case (3).

Figure 3.2: Mixed equilibrium and positive equilibrium.

Chapter 4

Coupled gradient functional differential equations on networks

The local agent systems and couplings of a complex system may involve time delays [13, 42, 49]. Coupled functional differential equations on interaction networks are the mathematical framework to study complex systems with time delays. Given a directed graph \mathcal{G} with vertices 1, 2, ..., n, let $X_i \in \mathbb{R}^d$ be the variable on vertex *i*, assume the local dynamics on vertex *i* is described by

$$\dot{X}_i(t) = F_i(X_{it}). \tag{4.1}$$

For some r > 0, $X_{it} \in C([-r,0], \mathbb{R}^d)$ and $X_{it}(s) = X(t+s), -r \leq s \leq 0$, $F_i : C([-r,0], \mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}^d$. Let $h : C([-r,0], \mathbb{R}^d) \times C([-r,0], \mathbb{R}^d) \to \mathbb{R}^d$ represent the coupling from vertex j to i, and $h_{ij} \neq 0$ if and only if there is a directed edge from j to i in \mathcal{G} . The coupled functional differential equations on \mathcal{G} is

$$\dot{X}_i(t) = F_i(X_{it}) + \sum_{j=1}^n h_{ij}(X_{it}, X_{jt}) \qquad i = 1, 2, ..., n.$$
 (4.2)

In system (4.2), for i = 1, 2, ..., n, the derivative of X_i at time t is determined by all the information of $X_j(s), j = 1, 2, ..., n, t - r \le s \le t$.

Like in Chapter 3, in this chapter we assume the local agent systems (4.1) are gradient, and investigate how the connectivity of interaction network impact the dynamic behaviors of system (4.2). Without stating the general approach for studying coupled functional differential equations as in Section 3.1, we directly investigate a group of multi-group epidemic models with time delays.

Previously, multi-group epidemic models with time delays were only studied under strongly connected networks. In this chapter, our study extends various results in previous literatures. By the theory of asymptotical autonomous semiflows, we firstly establish a global convergence result for the model. Next we prove the global stability result for all restricted systems on strongly connected components, this is the key step. Thirdly, for each group, we define a number R_1 that determines whether disease dies out or persists in the group. R_1 is determined by both basic reproduction number R_0 [57] and the structure of the interaction network \mathcal{G} , thus the impact of \mathcal{G} is shown.

The chapter is organized as follows. In Section 4.1, we state the approach to constructing global Lyapunov functions for coupled functional differential equations on networks. In Section 4.2, we present the multi-group model with distributed time delays. In Section 4.3, we prove the global stability result for restricted systems, and the original model. In Section 4.4 we show the impact of the connectivity of interaction network on the disease transmission.

4.1 Approach to constructing global Lyapunov functions for coupled functional differential equations

For an open set $D_i \subset C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^d)$, $\varphi \in D$, let $X(\varphi)$ be the solution of (4.1) for initial condition φ . For a continuous functional $V_i : D_i \mapsto R$, the derivative \dot{V}_i along the solution of (4.1) is given as [25]

$$\dot{V}_i(\varphi) = \limsup_{h \to 0^+} \frac{V_i(X_h(\varphi)) - V_i(\varphi)}{h}$$

where $X_h(\theta) = X(\theta + h)$.

The following theorem can be derived from [35], it shows the approach to constructing global Lyapunov functions for coupled functional differential equations.

Theorem 4.1. For open sets $D_i \subset C([-r, 0], \mathbb{R}^d)$, i = 1, 2, ..., n, and $D = \prod_{i=1}^n D_i$. Assume that the following assumptions are satisfied.

(1) There exist functions $V_i(X_{it}) : D_i \mapsto \mathbb{R}$, $F_{ij}(u_{it}, u_{jt}) \in D_i \times D_j \mapsto \mathbb{R}$, and nonnegative constants k_{ij} such that

$$\dot{V}_i(X_{it}) \le \sum_{j=1}^n k_{ij} F_{ij}(X_i, X_j), \quad u_i \in D_i, \ i = 1, 2, \dots, n$$

(2) Let $K = (k_{ij})$, along each directed cycle C of the weighted digraph \mathcal{G}_K ,

$$\sum_{(s,r)\in E(\mathcal{C})} F_{rs}(X_r, X_s) \le 0, \quad X_r \in D_r, \ X_s \in D_s.$$

(3) Matrix K is irreducible.

Let c_i be the cofactor of the *i*-th diagonal entry of matrix K, and function $V(X_t) = \sum_{i=1}^{n} c_i V_i$. Then $c_i > 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n$ and $\dot{V}(X_t) \le 0$ for $X \in D$.

4.2 Model description

We consider a multi-group SIR model with delays. Let S_k , I_k , R_k denote the susceptible, infectious and recovered population in the k-th group, let $l_k(r) : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$ be a continuous kernel function that represents the infectivity at infectious age r. Assume the incidence function is of the nonlinear form Sh(I), where $h(I) : \mathbb{R}_+ \to \mathbb{R}_+$. The disease incidence for the k-th group is given by $\sum_{j=1}^n \beta_{kj} S_k \int_0^\infty l_j(r) h_j(I_j(t-r)) dr$, here β_{kj} is the transmission coefficient from group j to group k. The Multi-group SIR model can be described by the following system of coupled functional differential equations

$$S'_{k} = \Lambda_{k} - d_{k}^{S}S_{k} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{kj}S_{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{j}(r)h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))dr,$$

$$I'_{k} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{kj}S_{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{j}(r)h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))dr - (d_{k}^{I} + \gamma_{k})I_{k}, \qquad k = 1, 2, ..., n.$$
(4.3)

$$R'_{k} = \gamma_{k}I_{k} - d_{k}^{R}R_{k},$$

Here Λ_k represents the influx of susceptible population in group k, d_k^S , d_k^I , d_k^R represent the death rate of the susceptible, infectious and recovered population in the k-th group, and γ_k represents the rate from infectious compartment to recovered compartment in the k-th group. Note R_k does not appear in the first two equations of (4.3), we can just consider the following system

$$S'_{k} = \Lambda_{k} - d_{k}^{S}S_{k} - \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{kj}S_{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{j}(r)h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))dr, \qquad k = 1, 2, ..., n.$$
(4.4)
$$I'_{k} = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \beta_{kj}S_{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{j}(r)h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))dr - (d_{k}^{I} + \gamma_{k})I_{k},$$

Let $n \times n$ matrix $B = (\beta_{kj})$, \mathcal{G}_B is the interaction network of coupled functional differential equations (4.4). From biological considerations, we assume that the nonlinear functions $h_j(I_j), j = 1, 2, ..., n$ satisfy the following conditions.

$$(C_1) \ h_j(I) \ge 0, h_j(0) = 0, j = 1, 2, ..., n,$$

(C₂)
$$\lim_{I \to 0} \frac{n_j(I)}{I} = c_j$$
 and $\frac{n_j(I)}{I} \le c_j, j = 1, 2, ..., n$

$$(C_3)$$
 $h'_j(I) \ge 0, h''_j(I) \le 0$ for $j = 1, 2, ..., n$.

Note that we allow $c_j = \infty$ in condition (C_2) .

For k = 1, 2, ..., n, we assume that the kernel function $l_k(r)$ has compact support, and satisfies the following property:

$$a_k = \int_0^\infty l_k(r)dr > 0.$$
 (4.5)

Let N be the smallest number such that $l_k(r) = 0$ when |r| > N. Let Banach space $\mathbb{C} = C([-N, 0], \mathbb{R})$ and designate the norm of an element ϕ in \mathbb{C} by $\|\phi\| = \sup_{-N \le \theta \le 0} |\phi(s)|$. For $\phi \in \mathbb{C}$, let $\phi_t \in \mathbb{C}$ be defined as $\phi_t(\theta) = \phi(t + \theta), -N \le \theta \le 0$. We consider system (4.4) in phase space $X = \prod_{k=1}^n \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{C}$. Standard theory of functional differential equations [25] ensures that system (4.4) with initial conditions

$$(S_1(0), I_{10}, ..., S_n(0), I_{n0}) = (S_{1,0}, \phi_1, ..., S_{n,0}, \phi_n) \in X$$

has a unique solution $(S_1(t), I_{1t}, ..., S_n(t), I_{nt}) \in X$.

By similar argument as in [36], It can be seen that

$$\Theta = \{ (S_1, I_1(\cdot), ..., S_n, I_n(\cdot)) \in X | 0 \le S_k \le \frac{\Lambda_k}{d_k^S}, S_k + I_k(0) \le \frac{\Lambda_k}{d_k^*}, I_k \ge 0, k = 1, 2, ..., n \}$$

is positively invariant for system (4.4), where $d_k^* = \min\{d_k^S, d_k^I + \gamma_k\}$.

For system (4.4), there exists a disease free equilibrium $P_0 = (S_1^0, 0, S_2^0, 0, ..., S_n^0, 0)$. The basic reproduction number R_0 can be defined as the spectral radius of the next generation matrix [57]

$$M_0 = \left(\frac{\beta_{kj} S_k^0 a_j c_j}{d_k^I + \gamma_k}\right)_{n \times n},\tag{4.6}$$

where $a_j, j = 1, 2, ..., n$ are defined in (4.5). When the interaction network \mathcal{G}_B is strongly

connected, the following threshold result was established in [49].

Theorem 4.2. [49] Assume \mathcal{G}_B is strongly connected, and assumptions $(C_1), (C_2)$ are satisfied. Then

- (a) if $R_0 \leq 1$, P_0 is the only equilibrium of system (4.4) and it is globally asymptotically stable in Θ .
- (b) if $R_0 > 1$, system (4.4) has a unique endemic equilibrium P^* , and P^* is globally stable in the interior of Θ if assumption (C_3) is satisfied.

When the interaction network \mathcal{G}_B is not strongly connected, we use similar methods as in Chapter 3 to study system (4.4). Subsystems, reduced subsystems, and restricted systems of system (4.4) are defined as in Chapter 2. Let $G \in \mathcal{G}$ be a subgraph of \mathcal{G}_B , the *G*-subsystem of system (4.4) is

$$S'_{k} = \Lambda_{k} - d_{k}^{S}S_{k} - \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_{B}} \beta_{kj}S_{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{j}(r)h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))dr,$$

$$I'_{k} = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_{B}} \beta_{kj}S_{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{j}(r)h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))dr - (d_{k}^{I} + \gamma_{k})I_{k},$$

$$(4.7)$$

the reduced G-subsystem of system (4.4) is

$$S'_{k} = \Lambda_{k} - d_{k}^{S}S_{k} - \sum_{j \in G} \beta_{kj}S_{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{j}(r)h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))dr,$$

$$I'_{k} = \sum_{j \in G} \beta_{kj}S_{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{j}(r)h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))dr - (d_{k}^{I} + \gamma_{k})I_{k},$$
(4.8)

let $a = (a_1, a_2, ..., a_n) \in \mathbb{R}^n_+$, the restricted system on G at a of system (4.4) is

$$S'_{k} = \Lambda_{k} - d_{k}^{S}S_{k} - \sum_{j \in G} \beta_{kj}S_{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{j}(r)h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))dr - \sum_{s \in \mathcal{G}_{B} \setminus G} \beta_{ks}S_{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{s}(r)h_{s}(a_{s})dr,$$
$$I'_{k} = \sum_{s \in \mathcal{G}_{B} \setminus G} \beta_{ks}S_{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{s}(r)h_{s}(a_{s})dr + \sum_{j \in G} \beta_{kj}S_{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{j}(r)h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))dr - (d_{k}^{I} + \gamma_{k})I_{k}$$
$$k \in G$$

(4.9)

Let \mathcal{H} be the condensed graph of \mathcal{G}_B .

Theorem 4.3. Assume that $\forall H \in \mathcal{H}$ and $\forall a \geq 0$, the restricted system (4.9) on H at a has a nonnegative equilibrium that attracts all positive solutions. Then all positive solutions of coupled system (4.4) converge to a single nonnegative equilibrium P^* .

Proof. Suppose for $\forall s \in \mathcal{G} \setminus H$, $I_s(t)$ approaches a_s . By Lemma 2.2, the semiflow defined by the *H*-subsystem (4.2) is asymptotic autonomous with the semiflow defined by the restricted system (4.9) on *H* at *a*. By Theorem 2.2, if the restricted system (4.9) has an equilibrium P^* that attracts all positive solutions, then P^* attracts attracts all positive solutions of the *H*-subsystem (4.2). The rest of the proof is the same as the proof of Theorem 3.1.

4.3 Analysis of the restricted system

For a restricted system (4.9) on $H \in \mathcal{H}$ at a, let $p_k = \sum_{s \in \mathcal{G}_B \setminus H} \beta_{ks} \int_0^\infty l_s(r) h_s(a_s) dr, k \in H$. Let m = |H|, relabel the vertices in H to be 1, 2, ..., m. Then system (4.9) can be written as

$$S'_{k} = \Lambda_{k} - d_{k}^{S}S_{k} - \sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_{kj}S_{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{k}(r)h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))dr - p_{k}S_{k},$$

$$I'_{k} = p_{k}S_{k} + \sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_{kj}S_{k} \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{k}(r)h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))dr - (d_{k}^{I} + \gamma_{k})I_{k},$$

$$(4.10)$$

Let matrix $B_1 = (\beta_{kj})_{m \times m}$, B_1 is irreducible since H is a strongly connected component. System (4.10) can be viewed as a multi-group model with vertical transmission. Let $X_m = \prod_{k=1}^m \mathbb{R} \times \mathbb{C}$, it can be seen that

$$\Gamma = \{ (S_1, I_1(\cdot), \dots, S_m, I_m(\cdot)) \in X_m | 0 \le S_k \le \frac{\Lambda_k}{d_k^*}, S_k + I_k(0) \le \frac{\Lambda_k}{d_k^*}, I_k \ge 0, k = 1, 2, \dots m \}$$

is the feasible region for system (4.10), where $d_k^* = \min\{d_k^S + p_k, d_k^I + \gamma_k\}$.

When $p_k = 0$ for all k, system (4.10) becomes system (4.4), its dynamical behavior is totally described by Theorem 4.2.

When $p_k > 0$ for some k, the following proposition shows there is no disease free equilibrium in system (4.10).

Proposition 4.1. Assume $p_{k_0} > 0$ for some $k_0 \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$. Then system (4.10) has no disease free equilibrium, furthermore, system (4.10) has a positive equilibrium.

Proof. The set Γ is compact, convex and positively invariant, by Schauder Fixed Point Theorem [10], system (4.10) has an equilibrium in Γ . Let $P^* = (S_1^*, I_1^*, ..., S_m^*, I_m^*)$ be an equilibrium of system (3.1). By the first equation of (4.10), we know $S_k^* > 0$ for all k = 1, 2, ..., m.

Consider the second equation of (4.10) with $k = k_0$,

$$0 = \left. \frac{dI_{k_0}}{dt} \right|_{P^*} \ge p_{k_0} S_{k_0}^* - (d_{k_0}^I + \gamma_{k_0}) I_{k_0}^*,$$

thus $I_{k_0}^* > 0$.

Since B_1 is irreducible, there exists $k_1 \in \{1, 2, ..., m\}$, such that $\beta_{k_1k_0} > 0$. Consider the second equation of (4.10) with $k = k_1$,

$$0 = \left. \frac{dI_{k_1}}{dt} \right|_{P^*} \ge \beta_{k_1 k_0} S^*_{k_1} a_{k_0} h_{k_0} (I^*_{k_0}) - (d^I_{k_1} + \gamma_{k_1}) I^*_{k_1}$$

thus $I_{k_1}^* > 0$.

Since B_1 is irreducible, we can repeat this process and eventually we get $I_k^* > 0$ for all k = 1, 2, ..., m.

Lemma 4.1. Assume assumptions $(C_1), (C_2), (C_3)$ are satisfied. For any two positive numbers I, I^* , and j = 1, 2, ..., m, $\frac{h_j(I)}{h_j(I^*)} - \ln \frac{h_j(I)}{h_j(I^*)} - \frac{I}{I^*} + \ln \frac{I}{I^*} \leq 0$.

Proof. Let $x = \frac{I}{I^*}$, $f(x) = \frac{h_j(I^*x)}{h_j(I^*)} = \frac{h_j(I)}{h_j(I^*)}$. Let $g(x) = f(x) - \ln f(x) - x + \ln x$. It can

be seen that $g(x) = \frac{h_j(I)}{h_j(I^*)} - \ln \frac{h_j(I)}{h_j(I^*)} - \frac{I}{I^*} + \ln \frac{I}{I^*}$. Then

$$g'(x) = f'(x) - \frac{f'(x)}{f(x)} - 1 + \frac{1}{x} = \frac{f'(x)}{f(x)}(f(x) - 1) + \frac{1}{x}(1 - x)$$

$$= \frac{f'(x)}{f(x)}(f(x) - x) + (\frac{1}{x} - \frac{f'(x)}{f(x)})(1 - x).$$
(4.11)

Notice that $h_j(0) = 0$, since $h''_j(I) \le 0$, for $\forall z \ge 0$,

$$h'_j(z) \le h'_j(\xi) = \frac{h(z) - 0}{z - 0} = \frac{h(z)}{z} \le h'_j(0),$$
(4.12)

where ξ is a number between 0 and z. We have $f'(x) = \frac{I^* h'_j(I^*x)}{h_j(I^*)}$, by (4.12),

$$0 \le \frac{f'(x)}{f(x)} = \frac{I^* h'_j(I^*x)}{h_j(I^*x)} \le \frac{I^* \frac{h_j(I^*x)}{I^*x}}{h_j(I^*x)} \le \frac{1}{x}$$
(4.13)

Let F(x) = f(x) - x, then F(0) = F(1) = 0, and F'(x) = f'(x) - 1, $F''(x) = f''(x) \le 0$. Then $F(x) \ge 0$ when $x \le 1$ and $F(x) \le 0$ when $x \ge 1$. Therefore by (4.11), (4.13), $g'(x) \ge 0$ when $x \le 1$, $g'(x) \le 0$ when $x \ge 1$. This implies $g(x) \le g(1) = 0$. \Box

With Lemma 4.1, we are able to show the global stability of the positive equilibrium P^* in the following theorem.

Theorem 4.4. Assume that system (4.10) has an positive equilibrium $P^* = (S_1^*, I_1^*, ..., S_m^*, I_m^*)$. If assumptions $(C_1), (C_2), (C_3)$ are satisfied, then P^* is globally asymptotically stable in Γ and thus unique.

Proof. First assume $n \ge 2$. Let $\bar{\beta}_{kj} = \beta_{kj} a_j S_k^* h(I_j^*)$, and

$$\bar{B}_{1} = \begin{pmatrix} \sum_{j=1}^{m} \bar{\beta}_{1j} & -\bar{\beta}_{12} & \cdots & -\bar{\beta}_{1m} \\ -\bar{\beta}_{21} & \sum_{j=1}^{m} \bar{\beta}_{2j} & \cdots & -\bar{\beta}_{2m} \\ \vdots & \vdots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -\bar{\beta}_{m1} & -\bar{\beta}_{m2} & \cdots & -\sum_{j=1}^{m} \bar{\beta}_{mj} \end{pmatrix}$$

Let $(c_1, c_2, ..., c_m)$ be the cofactor of the *i*-th diagonal entry of \overline{B}_1 . Denote $\alpha_j(r) = \int_r^\infty l_j(r) dr$. Consider a Lyapunov functional $V = \sum_{k=1}^m c_k(V_{k1} + V_{k2})$, where

$$V_{k1} = S_k - S_k^* \ln S_k + I_k - I_k^* \ln I_k,$$
$$V_{k2} = \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_{kj} S_k^* \frac{h_j(I_j^*)}{I_j^*} \int_0^\infty \alpha_j(r) (I_j(t-r) - I_j^* \ln I_j(t-r)) dr.$$

Taking the derivative of V_{k1} , V_{k2} along solutions to system (4.10), and using the equilibrium equation, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}_{k1} &= (p_k + d_k^S) S_k^* \left(2 - \frac{S_k^*}{S_k} - \frac{S_k}{S_k^*} \right) - \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_{kj} S_k^* \int_0^\infty l_j(r) h_j(I_j(t-r)) dr \\ &+ \left(2 - \frac{S_k^*}{S_k} \right) \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_{kj} S_k^* a_j h_j(I_j^*) + p_k S_k - \frac{I_k}{I_k^*} p_k S_k^* - \frac{I_k}{I_k^*} \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_{kj} S_k^* a_j h_j(I_j^*) \\ &- \frac{I_k^*}{I_k} p_k S_k - \frac{I_k^*}{I_k} \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_{kj} S_k^* \int_0^\infty l_j(r) h_j(I_j(t-r)) dr + p_k S_k^* \\ &= d_k^S S_k^* \left(2 - \frac{S_k^*}{S_k} - \frac{S_k}{S_k^*} \right) + \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_{kj} S_k^* h_j(I_j^*) \int_0^\infty l_j(r) \left(2 - \frac{I_k}{I_k^*} - \frac{S_k^*}{S_k} \right) \\ &+ \frac{h_j(I_j(t-r))}{h_j(I_j^*)} - \frac{I_k^* S_k h_j(I_j(t-r))}{I_k S_k^* h_j(I_j^*)} \right) dr + p_k S_k^* \left(3 - \frac{S_k^*}{S_k} - \frac{I_k}{I_k} - \frac{I_k^* S_k}{I_k S_k^*} \right) \\ &\leq \sum_{j=1}^m \beta_{kj} S_k^* h_j(I_j^*) \int_0^\infty l_j(r) \left(2 - \frac{I_k}{I_k^*} - \frac{S_k^*}{S_k} + \frac{h_j(I_j(t-r))}{h_j(I_j^*)} - \frac{I_k^* S_k h_j(I_j(t-r))}{I_k S_k^* h_j(I_j^*)} \right) dr. \end{split}$$

$$(4.14)$$

$$\dot{V}_{k2} = \sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_{kj} S_k^* \frac{h_j(I_j^*)}{I_j^*} \int_0^\infty \alpha_j(r) \Big[-\frac{\partial}{\partial r} \Big(I_j(t-r) - I_j^* \ln I_j(t-r) \Big) \Big] dr$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{m} \beta_{kj} S_k^* h_j(I_j^*) \int_0^\infty l_j(r) \Big(\frac{I_j}{I_j^*} - \frac{I_j(t-r)}{I_j^*} - \ln \frac{I_j}{I_j(t-r)} \Big) dr$$
(4.15)

Combining (4.14) and (4.15), using Lemma 4.1, we have

$$\begin{split} \dot{V} &= \sum_{k=1}^{m} c_{k}(V_{k1} + V_{k2}) \\ &\leq \sum_{k,j=1}^{m} c_{k}\beta_{kj}S_{k}^{*}h_{j}(I_{j}^{*}) \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{j}(r) \Big(2 - \frac{I_{k}}{I_{k}^{*}} - \frac{S_{k}^{*}}{S_{k}} + \frac{h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))}{h_{j}(I_{j}^{*})} \\ &- \frac{I_{k}^{*}S_{k}h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))}{I_{k}S_{k}^{*}h_{j}(I_{j}^{*})} + \frac{I_{j}}{I_{j}^{*}} - \frac{I_{j}(t-r)}{I_{j}^{*}} - \ln\frac{I_{j}}{I_{j}(t-r)}\Big) dr \\ &= \sum_{k,j=1}^{m} c_{k}\beta_{kj}S_{k}^{*}h_{j}(I_{j}^{*}) \int_{0}^{\infty} l_{j}(r) \Big[\Big(1 - \frac{S_{k}^{*}}{S_{k}} + \ln\frac{S_{k}^{*}}{S_{k}}\Big) + \Big(-\frac{I_{k}^{*}}{I_{k}} + \frac{I_{j}^{*}}{I_{j}}\Big) \\ &\Big(1 - \frac{I_{k}^{*}S_{k}h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))}{I_{k}S_{k}^{*}h_{j}(I_{j}^{*})} + \ln\frac{I_{k}^{*}S_{k}h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))}{I_{k}S_{k}^{*}h_{j}(I_{j}^{*})}\Big) + \Big(-\ln\frac{I_{k}^{*}}{I_{k}} + \ln\frac{I_{j}^{*}}{I_{j}}\Big) \\ &+ \Big(\frac{h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))}{h_{j}(I_{j}^{*})} - \ln\frac{h_{j}(I_{j}(t-r))}{h_{j}(I_{j}^{*})} - \frac{I_{j}(t-r)}{I_{j}^{*}} + \ln\frac{I_{j}(t-r)}{I_{j}^{*}}\Big)\Big]dr \\ &\leq \sum_{k,j=1}^{m} c_{k}\bar{\beta}_{kj}\Big[-\Big(\frac{I_{k}^{*}}{I_{k}} + \ln\frac{I_{k}^{*}}{I_{k}}\Big) + \Big(\frac{I_{j}^{*}}{I_{j}} + \ln\frac{I_{j}^{*}}{I_{j}}\Big)\Big]. \end{split}$$

By Theorem 4.1, $\dot{V} \leq 0$.

When $\dot{V} = 0$, we have

$$2 - \frac{S_k^*}{S_k} - \frac{S_k}{S_k^*} = 0,$$

$$1 - \frac{I_k^* S_k h_j (I_j(t-r))}{I_k S_k^* h_j (I_j^*)} + \ln \frac{I_k^* S_k h_j (I_j(t-r))}{I_k S_k^* h_j (I_j^*)} = 0, \qquad k = 1, 2, ..., m.$$
(4.16)

Using the same argument as in the proof Theorem 3.1 in [36], one can show the largest invariant subset of the set where $\dot{V} = 0$ is the singleton $\{P^*\}$. Therefore P^* is globally asymptotically stable in the interior of Γ , and this implies P^* is the unique positive equilibrium.

At last, for m = 1, V can still be the Lyapunov function. The argument is similar and much simpler compared to the argument above for $n \ge 2$.

Note that assumption $(C_1), (C_2), (C_3)$ are satisfied for various incidence functions, like $h(I) = I^q$ for $q \leq 1$ or saturate incidence function $\frac{I^q}{I+pI}$. When $p_k = 0$ for all k = 1, 2, ..., m, the basic reproduction number R_0 of system (4.10) is defined as the spectral radius of (4.6). With Theorem 4.2, Theorem 4.4 and Proposition 4.1, we have the following theorem summarizing the dynamics of the restricted system (4.10).

Theorem 4.5. Assume assumptions $(C_1), (C_2), (C_3)$ are satisfied. For system (4.10),

- (i) when $p_k = 0$ for all k and $R_0 < 1$, the disease free equilibrium is globally asymptotically stable;
- (ii) when $p_k = 0$ for all k and $R_0 > 1$, there exist an unique endemic equilibrium and it is globally asymptotically stable in the interior of Γ ;
- (iii) when $p_k > 0$ for some k, system (4.10) has no disease free equilibrium, there exist an unique endemic equilibrium and it is globally asymptotically stable in Γ .

By Theorem 4.5, we show that the restricted system (4.9) has a nonnegative equilibrium that attracts all positive solutions, by Theorem 4.3, we can establish the global stability result for equation (4.4) on non-strongly connected transmission networks.

Theorem 4.6. Assume assumptions $(C_1), (C_2), (C_3)$ are satisfied. Then all positive solutions of system (4.4) converge to a nonnegative equilibrium.

A series of previous results in the study of mathematical epidemiology are extended in this section. Theorem 4.5 generalize previous results [21, 36, 49] by taking vertical transmission term $p_k S_k$ into account. Theorem 4.6 shows the global stability of the nonnegative equilibrium on non-strongly connected connected interaction networks, it generalizes almost all previous results [21, 35, 36, 49] that depended on strongly connected interaction network.

4.4 Impact of the network connectivity

Recall in system (4.4), matrix $B = (\beta_{kj})_{n \times n}$, and the interaction network is \mathcal{G}_B . By Theorem 4.2, it is shown that if the interaction network \mathcal{G}_B is strongly connected, then disease either disappears or persists in all groups. If the interaction network is not strongly connected, we can identify the globally asymptotical stable equilibrium by similar methods as stated in Chapter 3.

Proposition 4.2. Let $P^* = (S_1^*, I_1^*, ..., S_n^*, I_n^*)$ be an equilibrium of system (4.4), the following statements hold.

- (b) If a path from j to i exists and $I_j^* > 0$, then $I_i^* > 0$.
- (c) Let $H \in \mathcal{H}$ be a strongly connected component of \mathcal{G} . Then for all $i \in H$, I_i^* are either all zero or all positive.
- (d) Let $H_1, H_2 \in \mathcal{H}$ and $H_1 \prec H_2$, if there exist $j \in H_1$ such that $I_j^* > 0$, then for all $i \in H_2, I_i^* > 0$.

Proposition 4.2 can be proved with the same argument as in the proof of Proposition 4.1. For a strongly connected component H, let $R_{0,H}$ be the basic production number of the reduced H subsystem (4.8).

Proposition 4.3. Let $P^* = (S_1^*, I_1^*, ..., S_n^*, I_n^*)$ be the globally asymptotically stable nonnegative equilibrium of system (4.4).

- (a) If $R_{0,H} > 1$, then $I_i^* > 0$ for $i \in H$.
- (b) If $R_{0,H} < 1$ and $R_{0,H'} > 1$ for some $H' \prec H$, then $I_i^* > 0$ for $i \in H$.
- (c) If $R_{0,H} < 1$, and $R_{0,H'} \leq 1$ for all $H' \prec H$, then $I_i^* = 0$ for $i \in H$.

Proof. For (b), if $R_{0,H'} > 1$ for some $H' \prec H$, then disease persist in all groups of H', then the *H*-subsystem (4.7) has the same behavior as the restricted system (4.9) on *H* at some nonzero vector *a*. By Theorem 4.5, $I_i^* > 0$ for $i \in H$.

For (c), if $R_{0,H'} \leq 1$ for all $H' \prec H$, then disease disappear in all groups of H', then H-subsystem (4.7) have the same behavior as the restricted system (4.9) on H at 0, which corresponds to the case $p_k = 0$ for all k in (4.10). By Theorem 4.5, the behavior of the groups on H is determined by the basic reproduction number $R_{0,H}$ of H: if $R_{0,H} < 1$, disease will disappear in all groups of H; if $R_{0,H} > 1$, disease will persist in all groups of H.

Part (a) is implied by the proof of (b) and (c). \Box

Define

$$R_{1,H} = \max\{R_{0,H'} | H' \in \mathcal{H}, H' \prec H \text{ or } H' = H\}.$$
(4.17)

Then $R_{1,H}$ serves as a threshold quantity that indicate whether disease dies out or persists in groups of H.

Theorem 4.7. Let $P^* = (S_1^*, I_1^*, ..., S_n^*, I_n^*)$ be the globally stable nonnegative equilibrium of system (4.4),

- (i) if $R_{1,H} > 1$, then $I_i^* > 0$ for $i \in H$;
- (*ii*) if $R_{1,H} \leq 1$, then $I_i^* = 0$ for $i \in H$.

Theorem 4.7 follows from Proposition 4.3. By Theorem 4.7, we see in a strongly connected component H, disease either dies out in all groups of H, or persists in all groups of H, therefore the dynamical clusters of the multi-group model (4.4) are formed by strongly connected components. For each strongly connected component H, the quantity $R_{1,H}$ determines whether disease dies out or persists in H.

At last we state the connections between R_1 as defined in (4.17) and the basic reproduction number R_0 of the whole system (4.4). It can be verified that $R_0 = \max\{R_{0,H} | H \in$ \mathcal{H} }. By Proposition 4.7, if $R_0 < 1$, disease will disappear in all groups, if $R_0 > 1$, disease will persist in at least one strongly connected component. When the interaction network \mathcal{G}_B is strongly connected, there is only one strongly connected component in \mathcal{G}_B , which is \mathcal{G}_B itself. Thus $R_0 = R_{1,\mathcal{G}_B}$. Then Proposition 4.7 reduces to previous global stability result, Theorem 4.2.

Chapter 5

Coupled linear oscillators on networks

In this and next chapter, we study a class of n coupled oscillators

$$\dot{x}_i = y_i,$$

 $\dot{y}_i = -f_i(x_i) + \sum_{j=1}^n k_{ij}(y_j - y_i),$ $i = 1, 2, ..., n,$
(5.1)

where $f_i(x_i) \in C(\mathbb{R})$. The local agent systems of (5.1) are

$$\dot{x}_i = y_i,$$

 $\dot{y}_i = -f_i(x_i),$ $i = 1, 2, ..., n,$
(5.2)

They are derived from second order oscillators $\ddot{x}_i = -f_i(x_i), i = 1, 2, ..., n$. Let $K = (k_{ij})_{n \times n}$, the interaction network of system (5.1) is \mathcal{G}_K . System (5.1) was widely studied in cooperative control problems, classic mechanical problems and electrical problems [24, 42, 45].

In the study of coupled oscillators, frequency plays an important role. Some researchers are interested in the phenomenon of frequency synchronization, in which all agent systems oscillate under a common frequency [31, 59] when time approaches infinity. In the case of clustered behavior, oscillators in the same clusters have the same frequencies, and the dynamical clusters are characterized by their frequencies. In this chapter, we show the behavior of systems (5.1) with general interaction networks. When the interaction network is strongly connected, synchronization always occurs, regardless of the coupling strength. When the interaction network is not strongly connected, we show clustered behaviors may occur, different agent systems may have different frequencies. Moreover, we show a way to determine the frequencies of each dynamical cluster. The results in this chapter extend various previous results in the study of system (5.1).

This chapter is organized as follows. In Section 5.1, we investigate coupled linear and nonlinear oscillators on strongly connected networks. In Section 5.2, we investigate coupled linear oscillators on networks with a directed spanning tree. In Section 5.3, we investigate coupled linear oscillators on arbitrary networks. Numerical simulations are presented in Section 5.4.

5.1 Coupled oscillators on strongly connected networks

In system (5.1), for i = 1, 2, ..., n, let $F_i(x_i)$ be an anti-derivative of $f_i(x_i)$. In this section we assume that

$$(C_1) f_i(x_i)x_i > 0, x_i \neq 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n,$$

(C₂) $F_i(x_i) \to \infty$ as $|x_i| \to \infty, i = 1, 2, ..., n$.

Definition 3. System (5.1) achieves global synchronization if for every solution x(t) of system (5.1) and $\forall i, j \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$, $\lim_{t \to \infty} \dot{x}_i(t) - \dot{x}_j(t) = 0$.

Let $U = \{(x_1, y_1, ..., x_n, y_n) | y_1 = y_2 = \cdots = y_n\}$. Let W be the largest invariant set contained in U. We observe that $(0, ..., 0) \in W$, hence W is not empty. Then synchronized solutions are all in the set W. In set W, the coupling terms disappear, and system (5.1) becomes n isolated local agent systems (5.2). **Lemma 5.1.** Let $X(t) = (x_1(t), y_1(t), ..., x_n(t), y_n(t))$ be a solution of (5.1) in the set *W*. Then

(i) for i = 1, 2, ..., n, $(x_i(t), y_i(t))$ is a solution of the local agent system (5.2);

- (ii) for i, j = 1, 2, ..., n, and $t \in \mathbb{R}$, $y_i(t) y_j(t) = 0, f_i(x_i(t)) = f_j(x_j(t))$ and $x_i(t) - x_j(t) = C_{ij}$ for some constant C_{ij} ;
- (iii) if assumptions $(C_1), (C_2)$ are satisfied, and $X(t) \not\equiv 0$, the orbit $\{X(t), -\infty < t < \infty\}$ is a periodic orbit.

Proof. The first two statements follow directly from the definition of the set W. For i = 1, 2, ..., n, let $F_i(x) = \int_0^x f_i(s) ds$, $V_i(x_i, y_i) = \frac{1}{2}y_i^2(t) + F_i(x_i)$. By assumption (C_1) , V_i is positive definite, and (0, 0) is the only equilibrium point of the system

$$\dot{x}_i = y_i,$$

$$\dot{y}_i = -f_i(x_i).$$

By assumption (C_2) , all level curves of V_i are closed. It can be seen that along the orbit of X(t), $\frac{d}{dt}V_i = 0$. Then $(x_i(t), y_i(t))$ lies on one level curve of function V_i . Therefore if $(x_i(t), y_i(t)) \neq 0$, the orbit $\{(x_i(t), y_i(t)), -\infty < t < \infty\}$ is a periodic orbit.

By the first and second statement of the theorem, if $X(t) \neq 0$, the orbit $\{X(t), -\infty < t < \infty\}$ is a periodic orbit.

Theorem 5.1. In system (5.1), suppose that \mathcal{G}_K is strongly connected, and assumptions $(C_1), (C_2)$ are satisfied. Then all solutions of (5.1) are bounded, and system (5.1) achieves global synchronization.

Proof. Let c_i be the cofactor of the *i*-th diagonal element of K. Let $F_i(x) = \int_0^x f_i(s) ds$, $V_i = \frac{1}{2}y_i^2(t) + F_i(x_i)$ and define $V = \sum_{i=1}^m c_i V_i$. By assumption (C_1) , V_i , i = 1, 2, ..., n and V are positive definite. Taking derivative of V along a solution of (5.1), we have

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}_i &= -f_i(x_i)y_i + \sum_{j=1}^n k_{ij}(y_j - y_i)y_i + f_i(x_i)y_i \\ &= \sum_{j=1}^n k_{ij}(y_j - y_i)y_i \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2}\sum_{j=1}^n k_{ij}(-(y_j - y_i)^2 + y_j^2 - y_i^2) \leq \frac{1}{2}\sum_{j=1}^n k_{ij}(y_j^2 - y_i^2). \end{split}$$

By Theorem 2.1, $\dot{V} \leq 0$, and $\dot{V} = 0$ only if $y_1 = y_2 = \cdots = y_n$. By Lasalle invariance principle [33], the omega limit set of every bounded orbit of (5.1) is contained in the set W.

By assumption (C_2) , V is unbounded only if $|x_i|$ is unbounded or $|y_i|$ is unbounded for some i = 1, 2, ..., n. Since $\dot{V} \leq 0$ along every orbit of (5.1), then every orbit of system (5.1) is bounded. Therefore the omega limit set of every orbit of (5.1) is contained in the set W.

For i, j = 1, 2, ..., n, let $S_{ij}(t) = y_i(t) - y_j(t)$. Then $\{0\}$ is the only limit point of $S_{ij}(t)$ in ∞ . Therefore $\lim_{t \to \infty} y_i(t) - y_j(t) = 0$.

-	-	-	-	
L				
L				
L				

Theorem 5.1 shows that synchronization of coupled oscillators can occur when no assumption is made on the coupling strength k_{ij} . Previously, this kind of result was stated in Theorem 3.1 of [45], it only works for systems of coupled linear oscillators. Theorem 5.1 extends the result of Theorem 3.1 in [45], from coupled linear oscillators to coupled nonlinear oscillators. For nonlinear oscillators, previous synchronization results [61, 62] all require the coupling strength to exceed a threshold value.

Functions V and V_i , i = 1, 2, ..., n, defined in the proof of Theorem (5.1) can be viewed as the energy functions of the system of coupled dynamical oscillators (5.1) and its local agent systems (5.2). Theorem 5.1 shows that the omega limit set of every orbit of (5.1) is contained in W. The next theorem shows the omega limit set of every orbit of (5.1) is an orbit in W.

Theorem 5.2. Suppose that \mathcal{G}_K is strongly connected, and assumptions $(C_1), (C_2)$ are satisfied. Let γ be an orbit of system (5.1), then the omega limit set of an orbit γ of system (5.1) is either $\{0\}$ or a single periodic orbit in W.

Proof. Let *γ*₁, *γ*₂ be two orbits in *W*, and let *γ*, *γ*₁, *γ*₂ be generated by solutions *X*(*t*), *X*¹(*t*), *X*²(*t*) of system (5.1). Suppose *γ*₁ ⊆ ω(*γ*), *γ*₂ ⊆ ω(*γ*). Let *p* = 1, 2, since *γ*_{*p*} ⊆ *W*, we know $\frac{d}{dt}V(X^p(t)) = 0$, then there exist constants *V*_{*p*}, such that $V(X^p(t)) = V_p$. Consider function *V*(*X*(*t*)), we know $\frac{d}{dt}V(X(t)) \leq 0$, and *V* is bounded from below, therefore there exists constant *V*₀, such that $\lim_{t\to\infty} V(X(t)) = V_0$. Since *γ*_{*p*} ⊆ ω(*γ*), *V*₁ = *V*₂ = *V*₀. Let $X^p(t) = (x_1^p(t), y_1^p(t), ..., x_n^p(t), y_n^p(t))$. Notice *γ*_{*p*} ⊆ *W*, then for *i*, *j* = 1, 2, ..., *n* and *t* ∈ ℝ, $y_i^p(t) = y_j^p(t)$, and $-y_i^p(t)f_i(x_i^p(t)) = -y_j^p(t)f_j(x_j^p(t))$. Therefore $(F_i(x_i^p(t)))' = (F_j(x_j^p(t)))'$, by choosing appropriate antiderivatives F_i , *i* = 1, 2, ..., *n*, we can get $F_i(x_i^p(t)) = F_j(x_j^p(t))$, then $V_i(x_i^p(t), y_i^p(t)) = V_j(x_j^p(t), y_j^p(t))$. Recall $V = \sum_{i=1}^m c_i V_i$, we get $V_1 = V_2 \Leftrightarrow V_i(x_i^1(t), y_i^1(t)) = V_i(x_i^2(t), y_i^2(t)), i = 1, 2, ..., n$. By assumption C_1 , the level curves $V_i = C, C \in \mathbb{R}, i = 1, 2, ..., n$ of local agent systems (5.2) are isolated, *γ*₁, *γ*₂ are disconnected; however, since *γ* is bounded, $\omega(\gamma)$ is connected, we get a contradiction. Therefore $\omega(\gamma)$ is a single orbit in *W*. By Lemma 5.1, $\omega(\gamma)$ is

Note the orbits in W are all synchronized, as described in Lemma 5.1.

Corollary 2. Suppose that \mathcal{G}_K is strongly connected, $f_i(x_i) = f(x_i), i = 1, 2, ..., n, f(x)$ satisfies $f(0) = 0, f'(x) \ge 0$ and f'(x) = 0 only on isolated points. Then for every solution $(x_1(t), y_1(t), ..., x_n(t), y_n(t))$ of system (5.1), $\lim_{t \to \infty} x_i(t) - x_j(t) = 0$.

Proof. It can be seen under the assumption on f(x), assumptions $(C_1), (C_2)$ are satisfied. By Theorem 5.2, the omega limit set of $(x_1(t), y_1(t), ..., x_n(t), y_n(t)), 0 < t < \infty$ is a complete orbit ζ in W. Let $\zeta = \{(\bar{x}_1(t), \bar{y}_1(t), ..., \bar{x}_n(t), \bar{y}_n(t)), -\infty < t < \infty\}$. By Lemma 5.1, for i, j = 1, 2, ..., n and $t \in \mathbb{R}$, $f(\bar{x}_i(t)) = f(\bar{x}_i(t) + C_{ij})$, since $f'(x) \ge 0$ and f'(x) = 0 only in isolated points, $C_{ij} = 0$. Therefore $\bar{x}_i(t) = \bar{x}_j(t)$. Then by the same proof of Theorem 5.1, we get $\lim_{t \to \infty} x_i(t) - x_j(t) = 0$.

Theorem 5.1 applies to both linear and nonlinear oscillators. Therefore under a strongly connected interaction network, synchronization behavior should be expected. For coupled linear oscillator, $f_i(x_i) = \omega_i^2 x_i$, where ω_i is called the natural frequency of oscillator *i*.

Theorem 5.3. Let $(x_1, y_1, ..., x_n, y_n)$ be a solution of system (5.1). Let $f_i(x_i) = \omega_i^2 x_i$ for some ω_i . Suppose the interaction network \mathcal{G} is strongly connected,

- (i) if $\omega_1 = \omega_2 = \cdots = \omega_n = \omega$, for initial condition $(x_1^0, y_1^0, ..., x_n^0, y_n^0)$, there exist constants A and ϕ , such that $\lim_{t \to \infty} x_i(t) = A \cos(\omega t + \phi)$ for i = 1, 2, ..., n;
- (ii) if there exist i, j such that $\omega_i \neq \omega_j$, then $\lim_{t \to \infty} x_q(t) = 0$ for q = 1, 2, ..., n.

Proof. 1. The first statement is a result of Theorem 3.1 in [45].

2. Let $X(t) = (x_1(t), y_1(t), ..., x_n(t), y_n(t))$ be a solution of (5.1), by Theorem 5.2, the omega limit set of $\{X(t), 0 < t < \infty\}$ is an orbit ρ in W. Let $\rho = \{(\bar{x}_1(t), \bar{y}_1(t), ..., \bar{x}_n(t), \bar{y}_n(t)), -\infty < t < \infty\}$. Suppose there exist i, j such that $\omega_i \neq \omega_j$, By Lemma 5.1, $\bar{x}_i = A_i \cos(\omega_i t + \phi_i), \bar{x}_j = A_j \cos(\omega_j t + \phi_j)$, and there exists C_{ij} , such that

$$A_i \cos(\omega_i t + \phi_i) = A_j \cos(\omega_j t + \phi_j) + C_{ij}$$
(5.3)

for all t. The left hand side and right hand side of equation (5.3) has different frequencies, for equation (5.3) to hold, we need $A_i = A_j = C_{ij} = 0$. Then $\bar{x}_i(t) = \bar{x}_j(t) = 0$. For $l \neq i, j, \omega_l$ is different with at least one of ω_i, ω_j , by the same argument as above, $\bar{x}_l(t) = 0$. Thus $\lim_{t \to \infty} x_q(t) = 0$ for q = 1, 2, ..., n.

5.2 Coupled linear oscillators on network with a rooted spanning tree

Definition 4. A digraph G has a rooted spanning tree if there exists a vertex i, such that for every vertex j, there exists a directed path from i to j. Vertex i is called a root of G.

Lemma 5.2. A digraph \mathcal{G} has a rooted spanning tree if and only if the condensed graph \mathcal{H} of \mathcal{G} has only one minimal element with respect to the partial order \prec .

Proof. If \mathcal{G} has a rooted spanning tree, assume there are two minimal elements H_1 and H_2 , By the definition of rooted spanning tree, we have $H_1 \prec H_2$ and $H_2 \prec H_1$, this contradicts the fact that the partial order \prec is a strict partial order. Suppose \mathcal{H} has only one minimal element H_1 . Consider the set $\mathcal{H}_1 = \{H \in \mathcal{H}, H \not\prec H_1\}$, if there exists $H_2 \neq H_1$, such that $H_2 \not\prec H_1$, then \mathcal{H}_1 is not empty, and there exists a minimal element H_2 in \mathcal{H}_1 , then H_2 is a minimal element in \mathcal{H} , it contradicts the fact that \mathcal{H} has only one minimal element H_1 . So for $\forall H \in \mathcal{H}$, if $H \neq H_1$, $precH_1 \prec H$. Then every vertex of H is a root of \mathcal{G} .

Let \mathcal{H} be the condensed graph of \mathcal{G}_K . For a strongly connected components $H \in \mathcal{H}$, consider the restricted system on H at a function (G(t), g(t), ..., G(t), g(t)) with G'(t) = g(t).

$$\dot{x}_{i} = y_{i},$$

$$\dot{y}_{i} = -\omega_{i}^{2}x_{i} + \sum_{j \in H} k_{ij}(y_{j} - y_{i}) + \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_{K} \setminus H} k_{ij}(g(t) - y_{i}), i \in H.$$
(5.4)

Let m = |H| and $p_i = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_K \setminus H} k_{ij}$, then system (5.4) becomes

$$\dot{x}_i = y_i,$$

$$\dot{y}_i = -\omega_i^2 x_i + \sum_{j=1}^m k_{ij}(y_j - y_i) + p_i(g(t) - y_i), \qquad i = 1, 2, ..., m,$$
(5.5)

System (5.5) can be interpreted as a system of coupled oscillators forced by an external force g(t). Let $(x_1, y_1, ..., x_m, y_m)$, $(\tilde{x}_1, \tilde{y}_1, ..., \tilde{x}_m, \tilde{y}_m)$ be any two solutions of system (5.5), and $u_i = x_i - \tilde{x}_i, v_i = y_i - \tilde{y}_i$. Then u_i, v_i satisfy the following equations.

$$\dot{u}_i = v_i,$$

$$\dot{v}_i = -\omega_i^2 u_i + \sum_{j=1}^m k_{ij}(v_j - v_i) - p_i v_i, \qquad i = 1, 2, ..., m.$$
(5.6)

Theorem 5.4. Suppose there exists j, such that $p_j > 0$. Then all solutions of (5.6) approach 0.

Proof. The interaction network of system (5.6) is H, let its weight matrix be $\tilde{K} = (k_{ij})_{i,j\in H}$. Let c_i be the cofactor of the *i*-th diagonal element of matrix. Since H is strongly connected, $c_i > 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n$. let $V_i = \frac{1}{2}v_i^2(t) + \frac{u_i^2\omega_i^2}{2}$, and define $V = \sum_{i=1}^m c_i V_i$, we have

$$\dot{V}_{i} = -\omega_{i}^{2}u_{i}^{2}v_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{m} k_{ij}(v_{j} - v_{i})v_{i} - p_{i}v_{i}^{2} + \omega_{i}^{2}u_{i}^{2}v_{i}$$

$$= \sum_{j=1}^{m} k_{ij}(v_{j} - v_{i})v_{i} - p_{i}v_{i}^{2}$$

$$\leq \frac{1}{2}\sum_{j=1}^{m} k_{ij}(-(v_{j} - v_{i})^{2} + v_{j}^{2} - v_{i}^{2}) - p_{i}v_{i}^{2}$$

By Theorem 2.1,

$$\dot{V} = -\sum_{i=1}^{m} c_i p_i v_i^2 - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{m} c_i k_{ij} (v_j - v_i)^2$$

$$\leq -c_j p_j v_j^2 - \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} \sum_{j=1}^{m} c_i k_{ij} (v_j - v_i)^2 \leq 0,$$

and $\dot{V} = 0$ only if $v_j = 0$ and $v_1 = v_2 = \cdots = v_m$, that is $v_i = 0$ for all i = 1, 2, ..., m. By a similar argument as in the proof of Theorem 5.1, solutions of system (5.6) are bounded. Let U be the set such that $\dot{V} = 0$, and W be the largest invariant set contained in U. It can be seen that $W = \{0\}$. Therefore all solutions of system (5.6) approach 0.
Corollary 3. Suppose $\omega_1 = \omega_2 = ...\omega_m = \omega$, and G(t) solves the equation $\ddot{x} = -\omega^2 x$, then for every solution $(x_1, y_1, ..., x_m, y_m)$ of system (5.5), $\lim_{t \to \infty} x_i(t) - G(t) = 0, i = 1, 2, ..., m$.

Proof. If G(t) solves the equation $\ddot{x} = -\omega^2 x$, then $x_i = G(t), i = 1, 2, ..., m$ is a solution of system (5.5). By Theorem 5.4, the difference of any two solutions of system (5.5) approaches 0, therefore $\lim_{t\to\infty} x_i(t) - G(t) = 0, i = 1, 2, ..., m$ for every solution $(x_1, y_1, ..., x_m, y_m)$.

Now we are ready to prove the main theorem of this section.

Theorem 5.5. Suppose $f_i(x_i) = \omega^2 x_i$, and the interaction network \mathcal{G}_K has a rooted spanning tree. Then for every solution $(x_1, y_1, ..., x_n, y_n)$ of system (5.1), and i, j = 1, 2, ..., n, $\lim_{t \to \infty} x_i(t) - x_j(t) = 0.$

Proof. Let \mathcal{H} be the condensed graph of \mathcal{G}_K . We use induction on the order $|\mathcal{H}|$ of \mathcal{H} . When $|\mathcal{H}| = 1$, the interaction network is strongly connected, by Theorem 5.3, the theorem holds. Assume the theorem holds when $|\mathcal{H}| = N$. Then when $|\mathcal{H}| = N + 1$, let H_m be the maximal element with respect to the partial order \prec . Let $\mathcal{G}_r = \mathcal{G}_K \setminus H_m$, and let \mathcal{H}_r be the condensed graph of \mathcal{G}_r . Then $|\mathcal{H}_r| = N$. By induction assumption, every solution of system (5.1) on interaction network \mathcal{G}_r approaches to a synchronized solution $(\bar{x}(t), \bar{y}(t), ..., \bar{x}(t), \bar{y}(t))$.

Now consider system (5.1) on interaction network \mathcal{G}_K . Since H_m is the maximal element with respect to the partial order \prec , it does not effect the solution on interaction network \mathcal{G}_r . Therefore, for every vertex $i \in \mathcal{G}_r$, $x_i(t)$ approaches to $\bar{x}(t)$. Consider the restricted system on H_m at $(\bar{x}(t), \bar{y}(t), ..., \bar{x}(t), \bar{y}(t))$.

$$\dot{x}_{i} = y_{i},$$

$$\dot{y}_{i} = -\omega^{2} x_{i} + \sum_{j \in H_{m}} k_{ij} (y_{j} - y_{i}) + \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_{r}} k_{ij} (\bar{y}(t) - y_{i}), i \in H_{m}.$$

(5.7)

It is clear $\bar{x}(t)$ solves equation $\ddot{x} = -\omega^2 x$. By Corollary 3, $x_i(t)$ approaches $\bar{x}(t)$ for $i \in H_m$. By Theorem 2.3, solutions of H_m subsystem converge to $(\bar{x}(t), \bar{y}(t), ..., \bar{x}(t), \bar{y}(t))$. Therefore the solution of system (5.1) converges to $(\bar{x}(t), \bar{y}(t), ..., \bar{x}(t), \bar{y}(t))$. By induction, the theorem is proved.

Theorem 5.5 was proved in [45], by explicitly solving the system (5.1). Comparing to the proof in [45], our proof uses Lyapunov functions on each strongly connected component of \mathcal{G}_K in this section. Similar argument can be applied to general cases when the oscillators have different natural frequencies or the interaction network does not have a rooted spanning tree. We will discuss the details in next section.

5.3 Coupled linear oscillators on arbitrary interaction networks

Let \mathcal{H} be the condensed graph of \mathcal{G} . For a strongly connected component $H \in \mathcal{H}$, consider the restricted system on H at a function $(G_1(t), g_1(t), ..., G_n(t), g_n(t))$ with $G_i(t) \in C^1(\mathbb{R}), G'_i(t) = g_i(t), i = 1, 2, ..., n.$

$$\dot{x}_{i} = y_{i},$$

$$\dot{y}_{i} = -\omega_{i}^{2}x_{i} + \sum_{j \in H} k_{ij}(y_{j} - y_{i}) + \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_{K} \setminus H} k_{ij}(g_{j}(t) - y_{i}), i \in H.$$
(5.8)

Let m = |H|, $p_i = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_K \setminus H} k_{ij}$ and $h_i(t) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_K \setminus H} k_{ij}g_j(t)$. Then system (5.8) becomes

$$\dot{x}_{i} = y_{i},$$

$$\dot{y}_{i} = -\omega_{i}^{2}x_{i} + \sum_{j=1}^{m} k_{ij}(y_{j} - y_{i}) - p_{i}y_{i} + h_{i}(t), \qquad i = 1, 2, ..., m.$$
(5.9)

System (5.9) is similar to system (5.5), it can be interpreted as a system of coupled oscillators driven by an external force $(h_1(t), h_2(t), ..., h_m(t))$. Suppose $h_i(t), i = 1, 2, ..., m$ is periodic or quasi-periodic, we are going to show the solutions of system (5.9) approach to functions with the same frequencies of $h_i(t)$, i = 1, 2, ..., m. To be more specific about frequencies, we introduce the definition of frequency module. Frequency module is associated with almost periodic functions, which are a generalization of periodic functions, for detailed definition and introduction of almost periodic functions, please see [9].

Definition 5. [22] Suppose $\{\lambda_n\}$ is a set of real numbers. The module $m\{\lambda_n\}$ of the set $\{\lambda_n\}$ is the set consisting of all real numbers which are finite linear combinations of elements of the set $\{\lambda_n\}$ with integer coefficients.

Definition 6. [22] For a function f(t) and a real number λ , let $a(\lambda) = \lim_{T \to \infty} \frac{1}{T} \int_0^T f(t) e^{-i\lambda t} dt$. If for a real number λ , $a(\lambda) \neq 0$, then λ is called a Fourier exponent of function f(t). When f(t) is almost periodic, its Fourier exponents are countable, the frequency module of f(t) is defined as $m\{\lambda_n\}$ where the numbers λ_n are the Fourier exponents of function f(t).

From the definition of frequency modules, we have the following lemma.

Lemma 5.3. Let $f(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} \alpha_j \cos(\omega_j t + \phi_j)$, with $\alpha_j, \omega_j \neq 0$, and $\lim_{t \to \infty} g(t) - f(t) = 0$. Then the frequency modules $m(f) = m(g) = m\{\omega_j, j = 1, 2, ..., N\}$.

Let $H(t) = (h_1(t), h_2(t), ..., h_m(t))^T$, $x = (x_1, ..., x_m)^T$, system (5.9) can be written in matrix form

$$\ddot{x}(t) + (M+D)\dot{x}(t) + \Omega x(t) = H(t),$$
(5.10)

with

$$M = \begin{pmatrix} \sum_{j=1}^{m} k_{1j} & -k_{12} & \cdots & -k_{1m} \\ -k_{21} & \sum_{j=1}^{m} k_{2j} & \ddots & -k_{2m} \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ -k_{m1} & \cdots & -k_{m(m-1)} & \sum_{j=1}^{m} k_{mj} \end{pmatrix},$$

and

$$D = \begin{pmatrix} p_1 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & p_2 & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & p_m \end{pmatrix}, \Omega = \begin{pmatrix} \omega_1^2 & 0 & \cdots & 0 \\ 0 & \omega_2^2 & \ddots & 0 \\ \vdots & \ddots & \ddots & \vdots \\ 0 & \cdots & 0 & \omega_m^2 \end{pmatrix}$$

The interaction network of system (5.8) is the strongly connected component H, thus it is strongly connected. By the definition of matrix M, it can be seen that M is irreducible. The homogeneous equation of (5.10) is

$$\ddot{x}(t) + (M+D)\dot{x}(t) + \Omega x(t) = 0.$$
(5.11)

Theorem 5.6. Suppose $p_i > 0$ for some *i*. Then all solutions of system (5.11) approach to 0.

Theorem 5.6 can be proved by the same argument as the proof of Theorem 5.4.

Corollary 4. Let $(x_1, y_1, ..., x_m, y_m), (\tilde{x}_1, \tilde{y}_1, ..., \tilde{x}_m, \tilde{y}_m)$ be any two solutions of system (5.9). Then $\lim_{t\to\infty} x_i(t) - \tilde{x}_i(t) = 0$ for i = 1, 2, ..., m.

Proposition 5.1. Suppose $p_i > 0$ for some i, and $H(t) = le^{i\mu t}$, with $l \in \mathbb{C}^m$, $\mu \in \mathbb{R}$. Then one particular solution of system (5.10) is $ve^{i\mu t}$ for some vector $v \in \mathbb{C}^m$.

Proof. Let $W = (x_1, x_2, ..., x_m, y_1, y_2, ..., y_m)^T$, $R = \begin{pmatrix} 0, & I \\ -\Omega, & -(M+D) \end{pmatrix}$, and $\tilde{H} = (0, H)^T \in \mathbb{C}^{2m}$, rewrite system (5.10) as

$$\dot{W} = RW + \tilde{H}.\tag{5.12}$$

Let $\tilde{l} = (0, l)^T \in \mathbb{C}^{2m}$, it can be seen that $\tilde{H} = \tilde{l}e^{i\mu t}$. By Theorem 5.6, the eigenvalues of R all have negative real parts, thus $i\mu$ is not an eigenvalue of R, then it can be verified that $(i\mu I - R)^{-1}\tilde{H}e^{i\mu t}$ solves equation (5.12). Then v is the vector formed by the first mentries of $(i\mu I - R)^{-1}\tilde{H}$. **Proposition 5.2.** Suppose $p_i > 0$ for some i, and $H(t) = \sum_{j=1}^{N} l_j e^{i\mu_j t}$, with $l_j \in \mathbb{C}^m, \mu_j \in \mathbb{R}$. Then there exist $v_j \in \mathbb{C}^m, j = 1, 2, ..., N$, such that all solutions of (5.10) converge to $\sum_{i=1}^{N} v_j e^{i\mu_j t}$.

Proof. By superposition principle and Proposition 5.1, there exists exists $v_j \in \mathbb{C}^m$, j = 1, 2, ..., N, such that $\sum_{j=1}^N v_j e^{i\mu_j t}$ is a particular solution of system (5.10). By Corollary 4, all solutions of (5.10) converge to $\sum_{j=1}^N v_j e^{i\mu_j t}$.

In the thesis, we call functions with the form $A\cos(\mu t + \phi)$ sinusoidal functions. By Proposition 5.2, in the restricted system (5.8), if $g_i(t), i \in H$ are linear combinations of sinusoidal functions, then the solutions converge to a linear combination of sinusoidal functions that contains all the frequencies of $g_i(t), i \in H$.

Proposition 5.3. Suppose $g_j(t) = \sum_{i=1}^{N_j} A_{ij} \cos(\mu_{ij}t + \phi_{ij}), j \in \mathcal{G}_K \setminus H$. Let $\mathcal{J} = \{j \in \mathcal{G}_K \setminus H : \exists i \in H, k_{ij} \neq 0\}$. Then solutions of system (5.8) converge to a linear combination of sinusoidal functions $x_H(t)$, and $m(x_H(t)) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} m(g_j)$.

Proof. Proposition 5.3 is a direct result of Proposition 5.2 as a result of the following three facts.

- (i) $Re(Ae^{\phi}e^{i\mu_j t}) = Re(Ae^{i(\mu t + \phi)}) = A\cos(\mu t + \phi);$
- (ii) in system (5.9), functions $h_i(t), i = 1, 2, ..., m$, are linear combinations of $g_i(t)$;
- (iii) let f, g be two almost periodic functions, m(f) + m(g) is the smallest module that contains $m(f) \bigcup m(g)$.

Theorem 5.7. In equation (5.1), let $f_i(x_i) = \omega_i^2 x_i$. Let $(x_1, y_1, ..., x_n, y_n)$ be a solution of system (5.1). For every $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$, there exists a finite linear combination of

sinusoidal functions $\bar{x}_i(t)$, such that $\lim_{t\to\infty} x_i(t) - \bar{x}_i(t) = 0$. Furthermore, for $j, l \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$, if i, l are in the same strongly connected component, then $m(x_j) = m(x_l)$.

Proof. Let \mathcal{H} be the condensed graph of \mathcal{G}_K . We use induction on the order $|\mathcal{H}|$ of \mathcal{H} . When $|\mathcal{H}| = 1$, the interaction network is strongly connected, by Theorem 5.3, the theorem holds. Assume the theorem holds when $|\mathcal{H}| = N$, when $|\mathcal{H}| = N + 1$, let H_m be the maximal element with respect to the partial order \prec . Let $\mathcal{G}_r = \mathcal{G}_K \setminus H_m$, and let \mathcal{H}_r be the condensed graph of \mathcal{G}_r . Then $|\mathcal{H}_r| = N$.

Now consider system (5.1) on interaction network \mathcal{G} . Since H_m is the maximal element with respect to the partial order \prec , it will not effect the solution on interaction network \mathcal{G}_r . By induction assumption, for every vertex $i \in \mathcal{G}_r$, $x_i(t)$ approaches a linear combination of sinusoidal functions $\bar{x}_i(t)$, and the frequency module of any two oscillators in the same strongly connected component are the same.

For the case $i \in H_m$, consider the the H_m subsystem of system (5.1)

$$\dot{x}_{i} = y_{i},$$

$$\dot{y}_{i} = -\omega_{i}^{2}x_{i} + \sum_{j \in H_{m}} k_{ij}(y_{j} - y_{i}) + \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_{r}} k_{ij}(y_{j}(t) - y_{i}), i \in H_{m}.$$
(5.13)

We know that for $j \in \mathcal{G}_r$, $x_j(t)$ approaches to $\bar{x}_j(t)$, $y_j(t)$ approaches to $\dot{x}_j(t)$, which is also a linear combination of sinusoidal functions with the same frequency module as $\bar{x}_j(t)$. By theorem 2.3, solutions of (5.13) converges to the global attractor of the restricted system on H_m at $\dot{x}(t)$

$$\dot{x}_{i} = y_{i},$$

$$\dot{y}_{i} = -\omega_{i}^{2}x_{i} + \sum_{j \in H_{m}} k_{ij}(y - y_{i}) + \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_{r}} k_{ij}(\dot{\bar{x}}_{j}(t) - y_{i}), i \in H_{m}.$$
(5.14)

By Proposition 5.3, solutions of system (5.14) approach to a linear combination of sinusoidal functions, and the frequency module of this function is $m(x_H(t)) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{J}} m(\bar{x}_j)$, where $\mathcal{J} = \{j \in \mathcal{G}_K \setminus H_m : \exists i \in H_m, k_{ij} \neq 0\}$. Therefore for $i \in H_m, x_i(t)$ approaches to a linear combination of sinusoidal functions $\bar{x}_i(t)$, and the frequency module of any two oscillators in H_m are the same.

By Theorem 5.7, it is natural to define frequency module for a strongly connected component in system (5.1).

Definition 7. Let *H* be a strongly connected component. The frequency module of *H* is defined as $m(H) = m(x_i), \forall i \in H$.

The next theorem shows how the interaction network impacts the dynamics of coupled oscillator (2.9).

Theorem 5.8. Suppose $f_i(x_i) = -\omega_i^2 x_i$. Let \mathcal{H} be the condensed graph of \mathcal{G}_K , and $x(t) = (x_1(t), x_2(t), ..., x_n(t))$ be a solution of (5.1). Then

- (i) for every $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$, there exists a finite linear combination of sinusoidal functions $\bar{x}_i(t)$, such that $\lim_{t \to \infty} x_i(t) \bar{x}_i(t) = 0$;
- (ii) for a minimal component H, if $\forall i \in H, \omega_i = \omega$, then $m(H) = m\{\omega\}$; otherwise $m(H) = \{0\}$, and $x_i(t) \to 0, \forall i \in H$;

(iii) for a non-minimal component H, $m(H) = \sum_{H' \prec H} m(H')$.

Proof. Statement 1 directly follows from Theorem 5.7. Statement 2 follows from Theorem 5.3. Statement 3 is implied in the proof of Theorem 5.7. \Box

When interaction network G has a rooted spanning tree, Theorem 5.8 generalizes Theorem 5.5 as it applies to the situation when the natural frequencies of the oscillators are not the same.

Corollary 5. Suppose the interaction network \mathcal{G}_K has a rooted spanning tree, let \mathcal{H} be the condensed graph of \mathcal{G}_K . Let $(x_1(t), y_1(t), ..., x_n(t), y_n(t))$ be a solution of system (5.1).

(i) There is only one minimal element H with respect to the partial order ' \prec ' in H.

- (ii) If the natural frequencies ω_i of each oscillator x_i in H are the same, namely $\omega_i = \omega, i \in H$, then for every i = 1, 2, ..., n, $m(x_i) = m\{\omega\}$.
- (iii) If the natural frequencies ω_i of each oscillator x_i in H are not the same, then $m(x_i) = \{0\}$, and $x_i(t) \to 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n$.

Theorem 5.8, with Theorem 5.3 and Theorem 5.5 fully describe the dynamics of coupled linear oscillators. If we use the frequencies to differentiate clusters, by Theorem 5.8, we see dynamical cluster of coupled linear oscillators are formed by the strongly connected component of the interaction network. Clustered behavior occurs only if the interaction network does not have a rooted spanning tree, and Theorem 5.8 fully characterize how the connectivity of interaction network determines the clustered behavior of coupled linear oscillator system.

5.4 Numerical simulations

In this section we show several numerical examples to illustrate the results in this chapter. We consider four coupled linear oscillators

$$\dot{x}_i = y_i,$$

 $\dot{y}_i = -\omega_i^2 x_i + \sum_{j=1}^4 k_{ij}(y_j - y_i),$ $i = 1, 2, 3, 4.$
(5.15)

Numerical examples are shown under strongly connected interaction network, interaction network with rooted spanning tree, and interaction network without a rooted spanning tree, respectively.

5.4.1 Strongly connected interaction network

In this section, let the interaction network G_1 be described by Figure 5.1. It can be seen



Figure 5.1: Interaction network \mathcal{G}_1 .

that interaction network \mathcal{G}_1 is strongly connected. By Theorem 5.3, we know system (5.15) achieves global synchronization. If all natural frequencies are the same, solutions of system (5.15) synchronize to sinusoidal function; if there exist two different natural frequencies, solutions of system (5.15) synchronize to 0. Numerically, we consider the following two cases corresponding to the conditions stated in Theorem 5.3.

- (i) $\omega_1 = \omega_2 = \omega_3 = \omega_4 = 1.$
- (ii) $\omega_1 = 1, \omega_2 = 5, \omega_3 = 3, \omega_4 = 4.$

The simulation results are shown in Figure 5.2 and Figure 5.3. In Figure 5.2, x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4 approach to the same sinusoidal function. In Figure 5.3, x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4 approach to 0.



Figure 5.2: Solution approaches to a sinusoidal function when the natural frequencies are the same.



Figure 5.3: Solution approaches to 0 when the natural frequencies are different.

5.4.2 Interaction network with a rooted spanning tree

In this section, let the interaction network G_2 be described by Figure 5.4.



Figure 5.4: Interaction network \mathcal{G}_2 .

It can be seen that interaction network \mathcal{G}_2 has a rooted spanning tree. There are two strongly connected components in interaction network \mathcal{G} , $H_1 = \{1\}$, $H_2 = \{2, 3, 4\}$, and $H_1 \prec H_2$. When all natural frequencies are the same, by Theorem 5.5, solutions of system (5.15) achieves global synchronization. If there exists two different natural frequencies, by Corollary 5, for $i = 2, 3, 4, x_i(t)$ converge to functions with the same frequency as $x_1(t)$. Numerically, we still choose ω_i as

(i)
$$\omega_1 = \omega_2 = \omega_3 = \omega_4 = 1;$$

(ii)
$$\omega_1 = 1, \omega_2 = 5, \omega_3 = 3, \omega_4 = 4.$$

The simulation result for the first case is shown in Figure 5.5. It can be seen that x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4 synchronize and approach to the same sinusoidal function. The simulation result for the second case is shown in Figure 5.6. In Figure 5.6-(a), It can be seen that x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4 do not synchronize. In Figure 5.6-(b), We see that the frequencies of x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4 are the same, they all equal to 1, the natural frequency of x_1 .



Figure 5.5: Interaction network with a rooted spanning tree and same natural frequency.



(b) The frequencies of the four oscillators are the same.

Figure 5.6: Interaction network with a rooted spanning tree and different natural frequency.

5.4.3 Interaction network without a rooted spanning tree

In this section, let the interaction network G_3 be described by Figure 5.7.



Figure 5.7: Interaction network \mathcal{G}_3 .

It can be seen that interaction network \mathcal{G}_2 does not have a rooted spanning tree. There are three strongly connected components in interaction network \mathcal{G} , $H_1 = \{1\}$, $H_2 = \{2\}$, $H_3 = \{3, 4\}$, and $H_1 \prec H_3$, $H_2 \prec H_3$. By Theorem 5.8, x_3, x_4 converge to functions with the frequencies of $x_1(t)$ and x(t). Numerically, we still choose ω_i as $\omega_1 = 1, \omega_2 = 5, \omega_3 = 3, \omega_4 = 4$. The simulation results are shown in Figure 5.8. In Figure 5.8-(a), It can be seen that x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4 do not synchronize. In Figure 5.8-(b), We see that the frequency modules of x_3, x_4 are the same, that is $m(x_3) = m(x_4) = m\{1, \sqrt{5}\}$.





(b) x_3, x_4 inherit the frequencies of x_1, x_2 .

Figure 5.8: Interaction network without a rooted spanning tree.

Chapter 6

Coupled nonlinear oscillators on networks

In this chapter we investigate system (5.1) when $f_i(x_i)$, i = 1, 2, ..., n are nonlinear and identical.

$$\dot{x}_i = y_i,$$

 $\dot{y}_i = -f(x_i) + \sum_{j=1}^n k_{ij}(y_j - y_i),$ $i = 1, 2, ..., n.$
(6.1)

In this chapter we assume that $f(x) \in C^1(\mathbb{R}), f(0) = 0, f'(x) \ge 0$.

By Theorem 5.1, we know that if the interaction network \mathcal{G}_K is strongly connected, then system (6.1) achieves global synchronization. In this chapter we investigate synchronization problems of system (6.1) when the interaction network has a rooted spanning tree.

In Section 6.1, assuming the interaction network has a rooted spanning tree, we show system (6.1) achieves synchronization when coupling strength between different strongly connected components is sufficiently large. In Section 6.2, we investigate system (6.1) when coupling strength between different strongly connected components is sufficiently strongly strongly connected components is sufficiently strongly connected components is sufficiently strongly strongly connected components is sufficiently strongly strongly connected components is sufficiently strongly connected components is sufficiently strongly strongly strongly connected components is sufficiently strongly s

with small amplitude. In Section 6.3, numerical examples are given to illustrate the theoretic results in this chapter.

6.1 Synchronization of coupled nonlinear oscillators

In this section, we make the following assumption on f(x) in (6.1).

$$(A) \ f(x) \in C^1(\mathbb{R}), f(0) = 0, f'(x) \ge 0, \lim_{x \to \infty} f(x) = \infty \text{ and } \lim_{x \to -\infty} f(x) = -\infty.$$

Let \mathcal{H} be the condensed graph of the interaction network \mathcal{G}_K . For a strongly connected component $H \in \mathcal{H}$, consider the restricted system of (6.1) on H at a function $(G_1(t), g_1(t), ..., G_n(t), g_n(t))$ with $G_i(t) \in C^1(\mathbb{R}), G'_i(t) = g_i(t), i = 1, 2, ..., n$.

$$\dot{x}_{i} = y_{i},$$

$$\dot{y}_{i} = -f(x_{i}) + \sum_{j \in H} k_{ij}(y_{j} - y_{i}) + \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_{K} \setminus H} k_{ij}(g_{j}(t) - y_{i}), i \in H.$$

(6.2)

Let m = |H|, $p_i = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_K \setminus H} k_{ij}$ and $h_i(t) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_K \setminus H} k_{ij} g_j(t)$, system (5.8) becomes

$$\dot{x}_i = y_i,$$

$$\dot{y}_i = -f(x_i) + \sum_{j=1}^m k_{ij}(y_j - y_i) - p_i y_i + h_i(t), \qquad i = 1, 2, ..., m.$$
(6.3)

Recall $k_{ij} \ge 0$ for i.j = 1, 2, ..., n, it can be seen that $p_i \ge 0$ and $h_i(t) = 0$ when $p_i = 0$. 0. The interaction network of system (6.2) and (6.3) are strongly connected component H. Let $\tilde{K} = (k_{ij})_{m \times m}$. Then $H = \mathcal{G}_{\tilde{K}}$.

Proposition 6.1. Suppose assumption (A) is satisfied, and there exist $i \in \{1, 2, ..., n\}$ and M > 0, such that $p_i > 0$ and $|h_i(t)| \le p_i M$ for sufficiently large t. Then solutions $(x_1(t), y_1(t), ..., x_m(t), y_m(t))$ of system (6.3) are eventually bounded.

Proof. The proof has three parts.

1. Let set I be the set of index i such that $p_i > 0$. We show $|y_i(t)|, i \in I$ are bounded for sufficiently large t. Let c_i be the cofactor of the i-th diagonal element of matrix \tilde{K} . Let F(x) be the anti-derivative of $f(x), V_i = F(x_i) + \frac{y_i^2}{2}$, and $V = \sum_{i=1}^m c_i V_i$. By the assumption $(A), V, V_i, i = 1, 2, ..., m$ are positive definite. Along solutions of system (6.3),

$$\dot{V}_i = \sum_{j=1}^m k_{ij}(y_j - y_i)y_i + h_i(t)y_i - p_iy_i^2.$$

By Theorem 2.9,

$$\dot{V} \le \sum_{i \in I} (c_i p_i M |y_i| - c_i p_i y_i^2) \le \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \in I} c_i p_i (M^2 - y_i^2).$$

For $i \in I$, let $N_i = \sqrt{\frac{\sum\limits_{j \in I} c_i p_i}{c_i p_i}} M$, and $N = \max_{i \in I} N_i$. By the definition of N, we have N > M. Let set $S = \{(x_1, y_1, ..., x_m, y_m) \in \mathbb{R}^{2m} : \exists i \in I$, such that $|y_i| > N\}$. For $\forall (x_1, y_1, ..., x_m, y_m) \in S$, let $|y_{i_0}| > N$ where $i_0 \in I$, then

$$\begin{split} \dot{V}|_{(x_1,y_1,\dots,x_m,y_m)} &\leq \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \in I} c_i p_i (M^2 - y_i^2) \\ &\leq \frac{1}{2} [-c_{i_0} p_{i_0} y_{i_0}^2 + \sum_{i \in I} c_i p_i M^2] \\ &< \frac{1}{2} [-c_{i_0} p_{i_0} N^2 + \sum_{i \in I} c_i p_i M^2] \leq 0. \end{split}$$

Therefore solution of system (6.3) will enter and remain in the set $\mathbb{R}^{2m} \setminus S$, that is $|y_i(t)| \leq N$ for $i \in I$ and sufficiently large t.

2. Let $I_0 = \{1, 2, ..., m\} \setminus I$. We show $|y_i(t)|$ is bounded for $i \in I_0$. For $i \in I_0$, we have

$$\dot{V}_i = \sum_{j \in I} k_{ij} (y_j - y_i) y_i + \sum_{j \in I_0} k_{ij} (y_j - y_i) y_i.$$

Let \tilde{K}_0 be formed by the rows and columns of \tilde{K} with index in I_0 . Let e_i be the cofactor of the *i*-th diagonal entry of \tilde{K}_0 . Consider the Lyapunov function $V_0 = \sum_{i \in I_0} e_i V_i$. By Theorem 2.1,

$$\dot{V}_0 \le \sum_{i \in I_0} \sum_{j \in I} e_i k_{ij} (y_j - y_i) y_i \le \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \in I_0} \sum_{j \in I} e_i k_{ij} (y_j^2 - y_i^2).$$

From part 1 of the proof, $|y_j(t)| \leq N$ for $j \in I$ and sufficiently large t. Then

$$\dot{V}_0 \le \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i \in I_0} \sum_{j \in I} e_i k_{ij} (N^2 - y_i^2).$$

For $i \in I_0, j \in I$ such that $k_{ij} \neq 0$, let $Q_i = \sqrt{\frac{\sum \sum e_i k_{ij}}{e_i k_{ij}}} N$, and $Q = \max_{i \in I} Q_i$. Then Q > N By the same argument as in part 1, it can be shown that $|y_i(t)| \leq Q$ for $i \in Q$ and sufficiently large t.

Therefore $|y_i(t)| \leq Q$ for i = 1, 2, ..., m when t is sufficiently large.

3. We show $|x_i(t)|, i = 1, 2, ...m$ are bounded for sufficiently large t. For i = 1, 2, ..., m, let $q_i = \sum_{j=1}^m k_{ij} + p_i, e_i(t) = \sum_{j=1}^m k_{ij}y_j + h_i(t)$. Since $\mathcal{G}_{\tilde{K}}$ is strongly connected, $q_i > 0$. The *i*-th local agent system of (6.3) is

$$\dot{x}_i = y_i,$$

 $\dot{y}_i = -f(x_i) - q_i y_i + e_i(t).$
(6.4)

Let $z_i = x'_i + q_i x_i$, then system (6.4) is transformed to

$$\dot{x}_i = z_i - q_i x_i,$$

 $\dot{z}_i = -f(x_i) + e_i(t).$
(6.5)

Let $R = \sum_{j=1}^{m} k_{ij}Q + p_iM$. From part 2, for sufficiently large t, $|e_i(t)| \le R$, and $|z_i(t)| \le q_i|x_i(t)| + Q$. Consider the Lyapunov function $W_i = \frac{z_i^2}{2} + F(x_i)$, along the solutions of (6.5),

$$\dot{W}_i = -q_i f(x_i) x_i + e(t) z_i \le -q_i f(x_i) x_i + R(q_i |x_i| + Q)$$

By assumption (A), $f(x_i)x_i > 0$ and approaches ∞ when $x_i \to \infty$ or $x_i \to \infty$. There-

fore, there exists $S_i > 0$, such that $\dot{W}_i < 0$ when $|x_i| > S_i$. Therefore $|x_i(t)| \le S_i$ for sufficiently large t.

Let $b = \min_{x \in \mathbb{R}} f'(x)$, and l(x) = f(x) - bx, then $b \ge 0$, $l'(x) \ge 0$. Let $(x_1, y_1, ..., x_m, y_m)$, $(\tilde{x}_1, \tilde{y}_1, ..., \tilde{x}_m, \tilde{y}_m)$ be any two solutions of system (6.3), Let $u_i = \tilde{x}_i - x_i, v_i = \tilde{y}_i - y_i$. Then u_i, v_i satisfy the following equation

$$\dot{u}_i = v_i,$$

$$\dot{v}_i = -bu_i - l(u_i + x_i) + l(x_i) + \sum_{j=1}^m k_{ij}(v_j - v_i) - p_i v_i, \qquad i = 1, 2, ..., m.$$

(6.6)

In system (6.6), for $\forall i$, there exists $\xi_i(t)$ in between $x_i(t)$ and $\tilde{x}_i(t)$, such that $l'(\xi_i(t))u_i = l(u_i + x_i) - l(x_i)$. System (6.6) becomes

$$\dot{u}_i = v_i,$$

$$\dot{v}_i = -bu_i - l'(\xi_i(t))u_i + \sum_{j=1}^m k_{ij}(v_j - v_i) - p_i v_i, \qquad i = 1, 2, ..., m.$$
(6.7)

Now we introduce the definition detailed balanced digraph [35, 58].

Definition 8. In a weighted directed graph \mathcal{G} , the weight of a cycle is defined as the product of the weights of all the arcs that form the cycle. Let \mathcal{C} be a circle in \mathcal{G} , the reversing cycle of \mathcal{C} is a cycle with all arcs of \mathcal{C} reversing direction. A digraph is detailed balanced if the weight of a cycle equals the weight of its reversing cycle.

Lemma 6.1. A symmetric digraph is detailed balanced, the converse is not necessarily true. A detailed balanced digraph is strongly connected, the converse is not necessarily true.

For detailed balanced graph, we have the following result.

Proposition 6.2. [35] For detailed balanced graph, the conclusions of Theorem 2.2 hold if condition (2.5) is replaced by

$$\sum_{(s,r)\in E(\mathcal{C})} G_{rs}(t, X_r, X_s) + G_{sr}(t, X_s, X_r) \le 0, \qquad t > 0.$$
(6.8)

Theorem 6.1. Suppose the interaction network $\mathcal{G}_{\tilde{K}}$ is detailed balanced, and

$$p_i \ge \frac{l'(\xi_i(t))}{\sqrt{b + l'(\xi_i(t))}} \qquad t > 0, i = 1, 2, ..., m.$$
(6.9)

Then every solution of system (6.6) approaches to 0.

Proof. Let c_i be the *i*-th cofactor of the matrix \tilde{K} , and $q_i(t) = l'(\xi_i(t)), i = 1, 2, ..., m$. Then $q_i(t) \ge 0, i = 1, 2, ..., m$. Let $V_i = \frac{1}{2}[(p_i + \frac{2b}{p_i})u_i^2 + 2u_iv_i + \frac{2}{p_i}v_i^2] + \frac{1}{4}\sum_{i=1}^m k_{ij}(u_j - u_i)^2$, and $V = \sum_{i=1}^m c_iV_i$. Then $\dot{V}_i < -u_i^2 - \frac{2}{q_i}u_iv_i - (b + q_i)v_i^2 + \sum_{i=1}^m k_{ij}(v_i - v_i)v_i$

$$+ \sum_{i=1}^{m} k_{ij}(v_j - v_i)u_i + \frac{1}{2} \sum_{i=1}^{m} k_{ij}(v_j - v_i)(u_i - u_j)$$

If $p_i \ge \frac{l'(\xi_i(t))}{\sqrt{b+l'(\xi_i(t))}}$, it can be verified that the quadratic form $-u_i^2 - \frac{2}{p_i}q_iu_iv_i - (b+q_i)v_i^2 \le 0$ and equal sign holds only when $u_i, v_i = 0$. Thus

$$\dot{V}_{i} \leq \sum_{i=1}^{m} k_{ij}(v_{j} - v_{i})v_{i} + \sum_{i=1}^{m} k_{ij}(v_{j} - v_{i})u_{i} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{m} k_{ij}(v_{j} - v_{i})(u_{i} - u_{j})$$

$$= \sum_{i=1}^{m} k_{ij}(v_{j} - v_{i})v_{i} + \frac{1}{2}\sum_{i=1}^{m} k_{ij}(v_{j} - v_{i})(u_{i} + u_{j})$$
(6.10)

By (6.10) and Proposition 6.2, we can verify that $\dot{V} \leq 0$ and $\dot{V} = 0$ only when $u_i, v_i = 0, i = 1, 2, ..., n$. Therefore every solution of system (6.6) approaches to 0.

Remark 1. By Proposition 6.1, x_i , \tilde{x}_i are eventually bounded for i = 1, 2, ..., n, then $l'(\xi_i(t))$ is eventually bounded, condition 6.9 can be satisfied if constants p_i , i = 1, 2, ..., m

are sufficiently large.

Corollary 6. Suppose $G_i(t) = G(t)$ for $i \in H$, and G(t) solves the equation $\ddot{x} = -f(x)$, and $\mathcal{G}_{\tilde{K}}$ is detailed balanced. For every solution $(x_1, y_1, ..., x_m, y_m)$ of system (6.2), if condition (6.9) is satisfied, $\lim_{t\to\infty} x_i(t) - G(t) = 0, i = 1, 2, ..., m$.

Proof. If G(t) solves the equation $\ddot{x} = -f(x)$, then $x_i = G(t), i = 1, 2, ..., m$ is a solution of system (6.2). By Theorem 6.1, the difference of any two solutions of system (6.2) approaches 0, therefore $\lim_{t\to\infty} x_i(t) - G(t) = 0, i = 1, 2, ..., m$ for every solution $(x_1, y_1, ..., x_m, y_m)$.

Definition 9. Consider system of coupled nonlinear oscillators (6.1) on an interaction network \mathcal{G} . For $i \in \mathcal{G}$, assume vertex i is in component H. Define the inter-components coupling strength of i as $p_i = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G} \setminus H} k_{ij}$.

The following Theorem shows system (6.1) achieves global synchronization when the inter-components coupling strengths are sufficiently large.

Theorem 6.2. Consider system of coupled nonlinear oscillators (6.1) on an interaction network \mathcal{G}_K . Suppose \mathcal{G}_K has a rooted spanning tree. Let \mathcal{H} be the condensed graph of \mathcal{G} , let H_0 be the minimal element of \mathcal{H} with respect to the partial order ' \prec '. Further assume

- (i) condition (A) is satisfied;
- (ii) for strongly connected component $H \in \mathcal{H} \setminus \{H_0\}$, H is detail balanced.

Then for i = 1, 2, ..., n, there exists constant p_i^0 , such that when the inter-components coupling strength $p_i > p_i^0$, system (6.1) achieves global synchronization.

Proof. Firstly we assume \mathcal{G} only have two strongly connected components, H_0 and H_1 , and $H_0 \prec H_1$. H_0 is the minimal element, by Corollary 2, solutions of H_0 subsystem synchronize. That is, there exists function G(t), such that $\lim_{t\to\infty} x_i(t) - G(t) = 0$ for $i \in H_0$. Let g(t) = G'(t), the the H_1 subsystem is

$$\dot{x}_i = y_i,$$

$$\dot{y}_i = -f(x_i) + \sum_{j \in H_1} k_{ij}(y_j - y_i) + \sum_{j \in H_0} k_{ij}(y_j - y_i), i \in H_1.$$
(6.11)

By theorem 2.3, solutions of (6.11) converges to the attractor of

$$\dot{x}_i = y_i,$$

$$\dot{y}_i = -f(x_i) + \sum_{j \in H_1} k_{ij}(y - y_i) + \sum_{j \in H_0} k_{ij}(g(t) - y_i), i \in H_1.$$
(6.12)

By Proposition 6.1, $x_i(t)$ is eventually bounded for every $i \in H_1$. Thus there exists constant N, such that $l'(x(t)) \leq N$ when t is sufficiently large. Let $p_i^0 = \sqrt{N}$, when $p_i > p_i^0$, condition (6.9) is satisfied. By Corollary 6, $\lim_{t\to\infty} x_i(t) - G(t) = 0$ for $i \in H_1$, system (5.1) achieves global synchronization.

For more general interaction network \mathcal{G} , the theorem can be proved by induction, as in the proof of Theorem 5.5.

System (6.1) is a special form of system (1.6) in Chapter 1. Recall system (1.6) is

$$\dot{x}_i = y_i,$$

 $\dot{y}_i = -f_i(x_i) + u_i,$ $i = 1, 2, ..., n,$

where $u_i = \sum_{j=1}^n h(x_i, y_i, x_j, y_j)$ specifies the coupling protocol of the *i*-th oscillator. Previously, Synchronization behaviors were shown to exist when the coupling protocol u_i was assumed to be $\sum_{j=1}^n k_{ij}(y_j - y_i) + k_{ij}(x_j - x_i)$ or $\sum_{j=1}^n k_{ij}(x_j - x_i) - p_i y_i$ [50,61,62]. In this chapter, we studied system (1.6) under the coupling protocol $u_i = \sum_{j=1}^n k_{ij}(y_j - y_i)$, to the best of our knowledge, this is the first synchronization result under this kind of coupling protocol.

6.2 Non-synchronization when inter-component coupling strength is sufficiently small

By Theorem 6.2, when the inter-component coupling strength is sufficiently large, system (5.1) achieves global synchronization.

In this section we investigate system (6.1) when the inter-component coupling strength is sufficiently small. For better understanding, we firstly investigate the case of two coupled nonlinear oscillators in section 6.2.1. More general coupled nonlinear oscillators are studied in section 6.2.2.

6.2.1 The case of two oscillators

Consider the following coupled system of two oscillators,

$$\dot{x}_{1} = y_{1},$$

$$\dot{y}_{1} = -f(x_{1}),$$

$$\dot{x}_{2} = y_{2},$$

$$\dot{y}_{2} = -f(x_{2}) + k_{21}(y_{1} - y_{2}).$$

(6.13)

Assume $k_{12} > 0$, $f \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$, and $f'(x) \ge 0$, $x \in \mathbb{R}$. The interaction network for system (6.13) is

$$\underbrace{1} \xrightarrow{k_{21}} \underbrace{2},$$

representing that oscillator 1 is a free oscillator, and x_2 is damped driven by x_1 .

For every initial condition $(x_1^0, y_1^0, x_2^0, y_2^0)$, we can firstly solve $x_1(t), y_1(t)$. Then plug $y_1(t)$ into the equations of oscillator 2. The equations of oscillator x_2 are

$$\dot{x}_2 = y_2,$$

 $\dot{y}_2 = -f(x_2) + k_{21}(y_1 - y_2).$
(6.14)

Let $x = x_2(t), y(t) = y_2(t), k = k_{21}, g(t) = y_1(t)$, system (6.14) becomes

$$\dot{x} = y,$$

 $\dot{y} = -f(x) + k(g(t) - y).$
(6.15)

With the assumption on function f(x), the solutions of $\ddot{x}_1 = f(x_1)$ are periodic. Thus g(t) is a periodic function. Let b = f'(0), l(x) = f(x) - bx, then $l(x) \in C^1(\mathbb{R})$ and l'(0) = 0. Equation (6.15) can be written as

$$x = y,$$

 $\dot{y} = -bx - l(x) + k(g(t) - y).$
(6.16)

Let \mathcal{P}_T denote the set of periodic functions of period T, $\mathcal{B}^d_{\delta} = \{x(t) \in \mathbb{C}(\mathbb{R}, \mathbb{R}^d), \|x(t)\| \le \delta\}$. For $\delta > 0$, let $\eta(\delta) = max_{(x,y)\in\mathcal{B}^2_{\delta}}|l'(x)|$. It can be seen that $\eta(\delta) = max_{|x|\leq\delta}|l'(x)|$ and $\lim_{\delta\to 0} \eta(\delta) = 0$. The following theorem is used in this section.

Theorem 6.3. [22] Let $x \in \mathbb{R}^n$, $f \in \mathcal{P}_T \cap C(\mathbb{R})$ and A is an $n \times n$ matrix. Suppose the only solution of $\dot{x} = Ax$ that belongs to \mathcal{P}_T is x = 0, then system $\dot{x} = Ax + f(t)$ has an unique solution $x_f \in \mathcal{P}_T$ for every f(t), and there is a constant C such that $|x_f| \leq C|f|$ for all $f \in \mathcal{P}_T \cap C(\mathbb{R})$.

Theorem 6.4. Assume $g(t) \in \mathcal{P}_T$, and $b \neq \left(\frac{2\pi}{T}\right)^2$. Then there exist sufficiently small $k_0 > 0, \delta > 0$ and an unique function $(x^*(t,k), (x^*)'(t,k)) \in \mathcal{B}^2_{\delta} \cap \mathcal{P}_T$ that solves (6.16), for every $k \in (0, k_0]$.

Proof. The theorem can be proved with similar argument as in the proof of Theorem 2.1 in [22] Section 4.2. Let $X = (x, y)^T$, $A = \begin{pmatrix} 0 & 1 \\ -b & 0 \end{pmatrix}$, $q(k, X, t) = (0, -l(x) + kg(t) - ky)^T$, write equation (6.16) as

$$\dot{X} = AX + q(t, X, k) \tag{6.17}$$

By Theorem (6.3), for every $Z(t) = (Z_1(t), Z_2(t))^T \in \mathcal{P}_T^2$ and $k \ge 0$, equation

$$\dot{X} = AX + q(t, Z, k) \tag{6.18}$$

has an unique solution $X(t, Z, k) \in \mathcal{P}^2_T$,

$$||X(t, Z, k)|| \le C ||q(t, Z, k)|| \le C(|l(Z_1)| + k|g(t)| + k|Z_2|).$$
(6.19)

Since $g(t) \in \mathcal{P}_T$, g(t) is bounded for $t \in \mathbb{R}$, let $M = \sup_{t \in \mathbb{R}} |g(t)|$. Let $\mathcal{T} : \mathcal{P}_T \mapsto \mathcal{P}_T$ be a transform defined as $\mathcal{T}(Z) = X(t, Z, k)$. Choose k_0, δ sufficiently small such that

$$C(\eta(\delta)\delta + k_0(M+\delta)) < \delta.$$
(6.20)

For $Z, \tilde{Z} \in \mathcal{B}^2_{\delta} \cap \mathcal{P}_T$, $k \in [0, k_0]$, by (6.20), we have

$$\|\mathcal{T}Z\| \le C\|q(t,Z,d)\| \le C(\eta(\delta)\delta + kM + k\delta) \le C(\eta(\delta)\delta + k_0(M+\delta)) < \delta,$$
(6.21)

and

$$\|\mathcal{T}Z - \mathcal{T}\tilde{Z}\| = \|\mathcal{T}(Z - \tilde{Z})\| \le C \|q(t, Z, k) - q(t, \tilde{Z}, k)\|$$

= $C|l(Z_1) - l(\tilde{Z}_1)| + k_0|Z_2 - \tilde{Z}_2|$
 $\le C(\eta(\delta) + k_0)\delta \le \theta < 1.$ (6.22)

By (6.21) and (6.22), the transform \mathcal{T} is a uniform contraction from $\mathcal{B}^2_{\delta} \cap \mathcal{P}_T$ to $\mathcal{B}^2_{\delta} \cap \mathcal{P}_T$ when $k \leq k_0$. Therefore it has a unique fixed point $(x^*(t,k), (x^*)'(t,k)) \in \mathcal{B}^2_{\delta} \cap \mathcal{P}_T$, and $x^*(t)$ solves equation (6.16).

Theorem 6.4 establishes the existence of a periodic solution $x^*(t, k)$ for sufficiently small k, its period is the same with the driving force g(t). Next we investigate the stability of $x^*(t, k)$. Let x(t) be a solution of equation (6.16) other than $x^*(t, k)$, let u(t) = x(t) - $x^*(t,k)$, then u(t) satisfies the following differential equation

$$\dot{u} = u,$$

 $\dot{v} = -bu - l(x^*(t) + u) + l(x^*(t)) - kv.$
(6.23)

For $t \in \mathbb{R}$, there exists $\xi(u(t), x^*(t))$, such that $l(x^*(t)+u)-l(x^*(t)) = l'(\xi(u(t), x^*(t)))u$. Let $h(t, u) = l'(\xi(y(t), x^*(t)))$. Equation (6.23) can be written as

$$\dot{u} = u,$$

$$\dot{v} = -bu - h(t, u)u - kv.$$
(6.24)

Theorem 6.5. Assume b > 0, $l'(x) \ge 0$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}$, and $||(x^*(t), (x^*)'(t))|| \le \mu$. Then $\forall \epsilon > 0$, there exists $k(\epsilon, \mu) > 0$, such that when $k > k(\epsilon, \mu)$, solution u(t), v(t) of system (6.24) approach zero if the initial condition $||(u(0), v(0))|| < \epsilon$.

Proof. Consider the Lyapunov function $V(u, v) = \frac{1}{2}[(k + \frac{2b}{k})u^2 + 2uv + \frac{2}{k}v^2]$. It can be verified that V(u, v) is positive definite, and

$$\dot{V} = -u^2 - \frac{2}{k}huv - (b+h)v^2.$$

Therefore $\dot{V} < 0$ when

$$k > \frac{h(t,u)}{\sqrt{b+h(t,u)}}.$$
(6.25)

Note that $h(t, u) \ge 0$ since $l'(x) \ge 0$. For a constant C > 0, the curve V(u, v) = C is an ellipse E_C . Given $\epsilon > 0$, we can find the minimal ellipse E_{C_1} that encloses \mathcal{B}^2_{ϵ} , and the minimal disk $\mathcal{B}^2_{\epsilon_1}$ that encloses the ellipse E_{C_1} . Ellipse E_{C_1} , disks $\mathcal{B}^2_{\epsilon_1}$, $\mathcal{B}^2_{\epsilon_1}$ are described in Figure 6.1.

Let $\epsilon_2 = \epsilon_1 + \mu$, then $||(u(0) + x^*(0), v(0) + (x^*)'(0))|| \le \epsilon + \mu < \epsilon_1 + \mu = \epsilon_2$. Recall that $\eta(\delta) = \max_{|x|\le \delta} |l'(x)|$, let $k(\epsilon, \mu) = \frac{\eta(\epsilon_2)}{\sqrt{b}}$, then it can be seen for $k > k(\epsilon, \mu)$, (6.25) is satisfied when $||(u(t), v(t))|| < \epsilon_1$ for all t.

Suppose $||(u(0), v(0))|| < \epsilon$, let C(t) = V(u(t), v(t)), this means that the point

(u(0), v(0)) is on the the ellipse $E_{C(0)}$. By the definition of the disk $\mathcal{B}^2_{\epsilon_1}$, the point (u(0), v(0)) is inside the disk $\mathcal{B}^2_{\epsilon_1}$. When $k > k(\epsilon, \mu)$, $\dot{V}|_{t=0} < 0$. As time evolves, the point (u(t), v(t)) will be on the shrinking ellipse $E_{C(t)}$, then (u(t), v(t)) will be always in the interior of the disk $\mathcal{B}^2_{\epsilon_1}$, therefore (6.25) is always satisfied, $\dot{V}(t) < 0$ for all t > 0, thus u(t), v(t) approach to 0.



Figure 6.1: The small disk is \mathcal{B}^2_{ϵ} , the ellipse is E_{C_1} and the large disk is $\mathcal{B}^2_{\epsilon_1}$.

Remark 2. In the proof of Theorem 6.5, the ellipse mentioned has the form $Au^2 + 2uv + Bv^2 = const$, where $A = k + \frac{2b}{k}$, $B = \frac{2}{k}$. Note that when k is sufficiently small, A and B are both sufficiently large, the rate of the major axis and minor axis approaches to the maximal of $\frac{A}{B}$ and $\frac{B}{A}$, that is the maximal of b and $\frac{1}{b}$. This implies $\frac{\epsilon_1}{\epsilon}$ is bounded.

Note that in equation (6.23) the solution $x^*(t)$ is an arbitrary solution, if we apply Theorem 6.5 to show the stability of the periodic solution $x^*(t, k)$, the stability of $x^*(t, k)$ can be derived.

Theorem 6.6. Suppose $g(t) \in \mathcal{P}_T$, $b \neq \left(\frac{2\pi}{T}\right)^2$ and b > 0. For function l(x), assume $l'(x) \geq 0$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\lim_{x \to 0} \frac{l'(x)}{x} = 0$. Then there exists sufficiently small $k_0 > 0$, such that for every $k \in (0, k_0]$, there exist $\delta > 0$ and a unique function $(x^*(t, k), (x^*)'(t, k)) \in \mathcal{B}^2_{\delta} \cap \mathcal{P}_T$ that solves (6.16), and it is locally asymptotically stable. Let ζ denote the orbit of $(x^*(t, k), (x^*)'(t, k))$, the attraction region is $\{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2, d((x, y), \zeta) < \delta\}$.

Proof. The key to prove this theorem is to find k, such that both (6.20) and (6.25) are satisfied.

Define the ellipse E_C as in the proof of Theorem 6.6. Given $\delta > 0$, there exists $C_1 > 0$, such that E_{C_1} is the minimal ellipse that encloses the disk \mathcal{B}^2_{δ} , and there exists $\gamma_1 > 0$, such that the disk $\mathcal{B}^2_{\gamma_1}$ is the minimal disk that encloses the ellipse E_{C_1} . Let $\gamma(\delta) = \gamma_1 + \delta$, and $k(\delta) = \frac{\eta(\gamma(\delta))}{\sqrt{b}}$. It can be seen that $\gamma(\delta) = O(\delta)$.

By our assumption, we have $\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{\eta(\gamma)\delta}{\delta} = 0$ and $\lim_{\delta \to 0} \frac{k(\delta)(M+\delta)}{\delta} = \lim_{\delta \to 0} M \frac{k(\delta)}{\delta} + k(\delta) = 0$. Therefore there exists δ_0 , such that for $\delta \in (0, \delta_0]$.

$$C(\eta(\delta)\delta + k(\delta)(M+\delta)) < \delta.$$
(6.26)

Let $k_0 = k(\delta_0)$, for every $k \in (0, k_0]$, there exists $\delta \in (0, \delta_0]$, such that $k = k(\delta)$. By Theorem 6.4, there exists periodic solution $x^*(t, k)$ and $||(x^*(t, k), (x^*, k)'(t))|| \le \delta$. Notice that $k(\delta) > \frac{\eta(\gamma(\delta))}{\sqrt{\eta(\gamma(\delta))+b}}$, by Theorem 6.5, $x^*(t, k)$ is asymptotically stable, and the attraction region is $\{(x, y) \in \mathbb{R}^2, d((x, y), \zeta) < \delta\}$.

In Theorem 6.6, the assumptions on f(x) are satisfied by various functions, one class of examples is functions $f(x) = a_1x + a_3x^3 + a_5x^5 + \cdots$ with $a_i > 0, i = 1, 3, 5, \dots$

6.2.2 The case of multiple oscillators

In this section we consider system (6.1), the general system of coupled nonlinear oscillators. Suppose H is a strongly connected component of the interaction network \mathcal{G}_K , with m vertices, the restricted system on H at a function $(G_1(t), g_1(t), ..., G_n(t), g_n(t))$ is given by (6.3). Recall b = f'(0), l(x) = f(x) - bx. System (6.3) can be written as

$$\dot{x}_i = y_i,$$

$$\dot{y}_i = -b - l(x_i) + \sum_{j=1}^m k_{ij}(y_j - y_i) - p_i y_i + h_i(t), \qquad i = 1, 2, ..., m,$$
(6.27)

where $p_i = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_K \setminus H} k_{ij} \ge 0$ and $h_i(t) = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_K \setminus H} k_{ij}g_j(t)$.

Theorem 6.7. Assume $h_i(t) \in \mathcal{P}_T$, i = 1, 2, ..., n, and $b \neq \left(\frac{2\pi}{T}\right)^2$. Then there exist sufficiently small $p_0 > 0$, $\delta > 0$ and a unique function

$$W^*(t) = (x_1^*(t), (x_1^*)'(t), \dots, x_m^*(t), (x_m^*)'(t)) \in \mathcal{B}_{\delta}^{2m} \bigcap \mathcal{P}_T$$

that solves (6.27), for all $0 < p_i \le p_0, i = 1, 2, ..., n$.

It can be seen that $\lim_{p_i \to 0} h_i(t) = 0$. Write system (6.27) in vector form, as system (6.17), then Theorem 6.7 can be proved in the same way as Theorem 6.4. Theorem 6.7 shows the existence of the perturbed periodic solution $W^*(t)$ of the restricted system (6.27). With the same arguments as in Theorem 6.5 and Theorem 6.6, we can show the stability of $W^*(t)$.

Theorem 6.8. For equation (6.27), suppose $h_i(t) \in \mathcal{P}_T$, $i = 1, 2, ..., n, m \neq \left(\frac{2\pi}{T}\right)^2$, b > 0and the strongly connected component H is detailed balanced. For function l(x), assume $l'(x) \geq 0$ for $x \in \mathbb{R}$ and $\lim_{x\to 0} \frac{l'(x)}{x} = 0$. Then there exist sufficiently small p_0 , such that for all constants $0 < p_i \leq p_0, i = 1, 2, ..., n$, there exists $\delta > 0$ and a unique function $W^*(t) \in \mathcal{B}^{2m}_{\delta} \cap \mathcal{P}_T$ that solves (6.27), and it is locally asymptotically stable. Let ζ denote the orbit of $W^*(t, P)$, the attraction region is $\{W \in \mathbb{R}^{2m}, d(W, \zeta) < \delta\}$.

Note that to prove Theorem 6.8, we can use the Lyapunov function given in the proof of Theorem 6.1.

In system (6.1), let \mathcal{H} be the condensed graph of \mathcal{G}_K . For i = 1, 2, ..., n, suppose $i \in H$, recall $p_i = \sum_{j \in \mathcal{G}_K \setminus H} k_{ij} \ge 0$ is the inter-components coupling strength of vertex i, as defined in Definition 9. For a solution $W(t) = (x_1(t), y_1(t), ..., x_n(t), y_n(t))$ of system (6.1), and a strongly connected component H, let $W_H(t) = (x_i(t), y_i(t))_{i \in H}$. We have the following theorem.

Theorem 6.9. In (6.1), suppose the interaction network \mathcal{G}_K has a rooted spanning tree, let H_0 be the minimal element of \mathcal{H} with respect to the partial order ' \prec '. Assume

(i) $f(x) \in C^1(\mathbb{R}), f'(x) \ge 0, x \in \mathbb{R}, f'(0) > 0$ and f''(0) = 0;

(ii) for strongly connected component $H \in \mathcal{H} \setminus \{H_0\}$, H is detail balanced;

Then

- (a) system (6.1) synchronize in component H_0 , and $x_i(t), i \in H_0$ approaches to a function in \mathcal{P}_T for some T > 0;
- (b) for every $H \in \mathcal{H} \setminus \{H_0\}$, there exists sufficiently small p_H , such that if the intercomponents coupling strength $0 < p_i \leq p_H$ for all $i \in H$, there exist small constants δ_H and a solution $W^*(t) \in \mathcal{P}_T$ of system (6.1), with $|W^*_H(t)| \leq \delta_H$.

Theorem 6.9 can be proved by applying Theorem 6.8 to the restricted system on $H \neq H_0$, following the partial order ' \prec '. We briefly describes the process of the proof when the interaction network \mathcal{G}_K has two strongly connected components. Suppose $\mathcal{H} = \{H_0, H_1\}$, and $H_0 \prec H_1$. By Corollary 2, W_{H_0} synchronizes, and $x_i(t), y_i(t), i \in H_0$ approaches to a function $p_0(t)$ in \mathcal{P}_T for some T > 0. By Theorem 6.8, there exists a locally asymptotically stable periodic solution $p_1(t)$ of the restricted system on H_1 at $p_0(t)$. Then $W_{H_0}^*(t) = p_0(t)$ and $W_{H_1}^*(t) = p_1(t)$.

Recall in Theorem 6.2, we show that system (6.1) achieves synchronization when the inter-components coupling strength is sufficiently large. Now with Theorem 6.9, we show the behavior of system (6.1) when the inter-components coupling strength is sufficiently small. Then what happens when the the inter-components coupling strength is neither sufficiently large nor sufficiently small? This question is numerically investigated in Section 6.3.3 with a bifurcation diagram.

6.3 Numerical simulations

In this section we provide several numerical examples to illustrate the results in this chapter. We consider four coupled nonlinear oscillators

$$\dot{x}_i = y_i,$$

 $\dot{y}_i = -f_i(x_i) + \sum_{j=1}^4 k_{ij}(y_j - y_i),$ $i = 1, 2, 3, 4.$
(6.28)

6.3.1 Strongly connected interaction network

In this section, let the interaction network G_1 be described by Figure 6.2.



Figure 6.2: Strongly connected interaction network G_1 .

It can be seen that Interaction network G_1 is strongly connected. In system (6.28), we consider the following two cases.

(i)
$$f_i(x_i) = x_i^3$$
, for $i = 1, 2, 3, 4$

(ii)
$$f_i(x_i) = \alpha_i x_i^3$$
, where $\alpha_1 = 1, \alpha_2 = 5, \alpha_3 = 3, \alpha_4 = 4$.

Coupled nonlinear oscillators with strongly connected interaction network is studied in section 5.1. By Theorem 5.1, for all the three cases, system (6.28) achieves global synchronization under strongly connected interaction network, that is $\lim_{t\to\infty} \dot{x}_i(t) - \dot{x}_j(t) = 0$ for i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4. For the first case, by Corollary 2, $\lim_{t\to\infty} x_i(t) - x_j(t) = 0$ for i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4, and they all approach to an orbit of $\ddot{x} + x^3 = 0$. For the second case, for i, j = 1, 2, 3, 4, let $C_{ij} = \lim_{t\to\infty} x_i(t) - x_j(t)$, then we have $\lim_{t\to\infty} f_i(x_j(t) + C_{ij}) - f_j(x_j(t)) = 0$, it is clear that $x_j(t)$ approaches 0 for j = 1, 2, 3, 4.

The simulation results are shown in Figure 6.3. Case 1 shown in Figure 6.3-(a), x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4 approach to the same periodic function. Case 2 is shown in Figure 6.3-(b), x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4 approach to 0, note here the time it takes for solution to approach 0 is huge, the reason is when x_i is small, $f_i(x_i)$ is the third order infinitesimal of x_i , then $f_i(x_j(t) + 0) - f_j(x_j(t))$ is very small.



Figure 6.3: Strongly connected interaction network case 1 and 2.

6.3.2 Interaction network with a rooted spanning tree

In section, let $f_i(x_i) = x_i + x_i^3$, i = 1, 2, 3, 4. Let the interaction network \mathcal{G}_2 be described by Figure 6.4.



Figure 6.4: Interaction network \mathcal{G}_2 with a rooted spanning tree.

It can be seen that Interaction network \mathcal{G}_2 has a rooted spanning tree. There are three strongly connected components in interaction network \mathcal{G}_2 , $H_1 = \{1\}$, $H_2 = \{3, 4\}$, $H_3 = \{2\}$, and $H_1 \prec H_2 \prec H_3$. The inter-component coupling strength of vertices in H_2 is $p_3 = k_{31}, p_4 = k_{41}$; the inter-component coupling strength of vertices in H_3 is $p_2 = k_{24}$. By Theorem 6.2, when the inter-component coupling strength is sufficiently large, system (6.28) achieves global synchronization. By Theorem 6.9, when the inter-component coupling strength is sufficiently small, x_2, x_3, x_4 will converge to periodic orbits with small amplitudes. We consider the following three cases.

- (i) $k_{31} = k_{41} = k_{34} = k_{43} = k_{24} = 1$.
- (ii) $k_{31} = k_{41} = 0.5, k_{34} = k_{43} = k_{24} = 0.1.$
- (iii) $k_{31} = k_{41} = k_{34} = k_{43} = k_{24} = 0.1, k_{41} = 0.01.$

The simulation results are shown in Figure 6.5, Figure 6.6 and Figure 6.7. Case 1 shown in Figure 6.5, oscillators x_1, x_2, x_3, x_4 synchronize, since p_2, p_3, p_4 are all sufficiently large. Case 2 is shown in Figure 6.6, oscillators x_1, x_3, x_4 synchronize while x_2 approaches to a periodic orbit with small amplitude, this is because the inter-component coupling strength p_3, p_4 is large while p_2 is small. Case 3 is shown in Figure 6.7, oscillators x_2, x_3, x_4 all approach to periodic orbits with small amplitudes. The reason is p_2, p_3, p_4 are all sufficiently small.



Figure 6.5: Interaction network with a rooted spanning tree, case 1.



Figure 6.6: Interaction network with a rooted spanning tree, case 2.



Figure 6.7: Interaction network with a rooted spanning tree, case 3.

6.3.3 Bifurcation diagram of two coupled oscillators

As stated in the end of Section 6.2, in this section we numerically investigate the dynamical behavior of (6.1) when the inter-component coupling strength is neither sufficiently large nor sufficiently small. For simplicity, we consider the following system of two coupled oscillators,

$$\dot{x}_{1} = y_{1},$$

$$\dot{y}_{1} = -x_{1} - x_{1}^{3},$$

$$\dot{x}_{2} = y_{2},$$

$$\dot{y}_{2} = -x_{2} - x_{2}^{3} + k(y_{1} - y_{2}).$$

(6.29)

Oscillator 1 is a free oscillator, without loss of generality, we assume the initial condition of x_1 oscillator is (1,0), thus x_1 oscillates with amplitude 1. We focus on the dynamics of oscillator 2.

$$\dot{x}_2 = y_2,$$

 $\dot{y}_2 = -x_2 - x_2^3 + k(y_1 - y_2).$
(6.30)

When k is sufficiently large, by Theorem 6.2, system 6.29 achieves global synchronization, thus the amplitude of oscillator x_2 is also 1. When k is sufficiently small, by Theorem 6.12, a stable periodic solution of (6.30) with a small amplitude exists. Therefore there must exist threshold value $k_0 > 0$, such that for $k \ge k_0$, the small periodic orbit no longer exists. One natural question arises: when k increases continuously from small to large, how do the dynamics of system (6.30) change? Figure 6.8 is the bifurcation diagram of system (6.30), it shed some light on this question.



Figure 6.8: The bifurcation diagram of system (6.30).

In Figure 6.8, the horizonal axis describes the coupling strength k, the vertical axis describes the amplitude of periodic orbit of (6.30) for corresponding k. The light green curve represents stable periodic orbit, while dark blue curve represents unstable periodic orbit. It can be seen that there is a turning point at $k_0 \approx 0.3$. When $k < k_0$, there are three periodic solutions of (6.30): the synchronized orbit $x_1(t)$, the stable periodic orbit with small amplitude and an unstable periodic orbit in between of them, when $k > k_0$, system (6.29) achieves global synchronization. $x_2(t)$ approaches to $x_1(t)$, which is periodic function with amplitude 1. The small periodic orbit and the unstable periodic orbit no longer exist.

Chapter 7

Future directions

In the thesis we study coupled gradient systems and coupled oscillators on arbitrary interaction networks, we show the impact of network connectivity on their dynamical behavior. For these two types of systems, we show synchronization occurs when the interaction network is strongly connected, while clustered behavior is expected when the interaction network is not strongly connected. In the case of clustered behavior, the local agent systems in the same strongly connected component are in the same dynamical clusters.

Many mathematical problems regarding coupled dynamical systems can be further investigated. For the future research on this subject, I plan to investigate the following problems.

- Study coupled dynamical systems with multiple interaction networks. For example, in system (1.6), let u = ∑_{j=1}ⁿ k_{ij}(y_j y_i) + l_{ij}(x_j x_i), K = (k_{ij}), L = (l_{ij}). Then there are two independent interaction networks G_K and G_L in system (1.6).
- Provide a condition such that core assumption of Chapter 3, assumption (A₃) is satisfied.
- Study coupled nonlinear oscillators on networks without a rooted spanning tree. Unlike the case of linear oscillator, for systems of coupled nonlinear oscillators,
there is no superposition principle which is critical for the proof of Theorem 5.8.

• For system (6.29), do bifurcation analysis on system (6.29) on parameter k.

Bibliography

- J. A. Acbrón, L. L. Bonilla, C. J. P. Vicente, F. Ritort and R. Spigler, The Kuramoto model, a simple paradigm for synchronization phenomena, *Rev. Mod. Phys.*, 77 (2005), 137–185.
- [2] D. M. Abrams and S. H. Strogatz, Chimera and phase cluster states in populations of coupled chemical oscillators, *Nat. Phys.*, 8 (2012), 662–665.
- [3] J. Arino, Disease in metapopulations, Z. Ma, Y. Zhou, J. Wu (Eds.), Modelling and Dynamics of Infectious Disease, Series in Contemporary Applied Mathematics, vol. 11, World Scientific, Singapore, 2009, pp. 65–123.
- [4] J. Bang-Jensen and G. Gutin, Digraphs: Theory, Algorithms and Applications, Springer, London, 2001.
- [5] D. Battogtokh and Y. Kuramoto, Coexistence of coherence and incoherence in nonlocally coupled phase oscillators, *Nonl. Phen. Compl. Sys.*, 5 (2002), 380–385.
- [6] V. N. Belykh, I. V. Belykh and M. Hasler, Connection graph stability method for synchronized coupled chaotic systems, *Physica D*, **195** (2004), 159–187.
- [7] V. N. Belykh, G. V. Osipov, V. S. Petrov and J. A. K. Suykens, Cluster synchronization in oscillatory networks, *Chaos*, **18** (2008), 037106-1–037106-6.

- [8] A. Berman and R. J. Plemmons, Nonnegative Matrices in the Mathematical Sciences, Academic Press, New York, 1979.
- [9] A. S. Besicovitch, Almost Periodic Functions, Dover Publications, New York, 1954.
- [10] F. E. Browder, The fixed point theory of multivalued mapping in topological vector spaces, *Math. Ann.*, **177** (1968), 283–301.
- [11] G. Butler, Persistence in dynamical systems, J. Differential Equations, 63 (1986), 255–263.
- [12] J. Cao and L. Li, Cluster synchronization in an array of hybrid coupled neural networks with delay, *Neural Netw.*, **22** (2009), 335–342.
- [13] H. Chen and J. Sun, Global stability of delay multigroup epidemmic models with group mixing and nonlinear incidence rates, *Appl. Math. Comput.*, 218 (2011), 4391–4400.
- [14] C. C. Chow and N. Kopell, Dynamics of spiking neurons with electrical coupling, *Neural Comput.*, **12** (2000), 1643–1678.
- [15] P. Du and M. Y. Li, Impact of network connectivity on the synchronization and global dynamics of coupled systems of differential equations, *Physica D*, 286-287 (2014), 32–42.
- [16] M. A. Fortuna, R. Albaladejo, L. Fernandez, A. Aparicio and J. Bascompte, Networks of spatial genetic variation across species, *Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci.* U. S. A., 106 (2009), 19044–19049.
- [17] J. L. Gross and J. Yellen, Handbook of Graph Theory, CRC Press, Boca Raton, 2004.

- [18] R. Gulmerà and L. A. N. Amaral, Functional cartography of complex metabolic networks, *Nature*, 433 (2005), 895–900.
- [19] H. Guo and M. Y. Li, Global dynamics of a staged-progression model with amelioration for infectious diseases, J. Biol. Dyn., 2 (2008), 154–168.
- [20] H. Guo, M. Y. Li, and Z. Shuai, Global dynamics of a general class of multistage models for infectious diseases, *SIAM J. Appl. Math.*, **72** (2012), 261– 279.
- [21] H. Guo, M. Y. Li and Z. Shuai, A graph-theoretic approach to the method of global Lyapunov functions, *Proc. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **136** (2008), 2793–2802.
- [22] J. K. Hale, Ordinary Differential Equation, John Wiley & Sons, New York, 1969.
- [23] J. K. Hale, Stability and gradient dynamical systems, *Rev. Mat. Complut.*, 17 (2004), 7C-57.
- [24] J. K. Hale, Diffusive coupling, dissipation and synchronization, J. Dyn. Differ. Equ., 9 (1997), 1–52.
- [25] J. K. Hale, Theory of Functional Differential Equations, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1977.
- [26] A. Hastings and M. D. Holland, Strong effect of dispersal network structure on ecological dynamics, *Nature*, 456 (2008), 792–794.
- [27] A. Hastings, Dynamics of a single species in a spatially varing environment, *J. Math. Biol.*, 16 (1982), 49–55.
- [28] H. W. Hethcote, The mathematics of infectious diseases, SIAM Rev., 42 (2000), 599–653.

- [29] Y. Jin and W. Wang, The effect of population disperal on the spread of a disease, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 308 (2005), 343–364.
- [30] T. Kunyia, Global stability analysis with a discretization approach for an agestructured multigroup SIR epidemic model, *Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl.*, **12** (2011), 2640–2655.
- [31] Y. Kuramoto, Chemical Oscillations, Waves, and Turbulance, Springer, Berlin, 1984.
- [32] A. Lajmanovich and J. Yorke, A deterministic model for gonorrhea in a nonhomogenous population, *Math. Biosci.*, 28 (1976), 221–236.
- [33] J. P. LaSalle, The Stability of Dynamical Systems, CBSF-NSF Regional Conf. Ser. in Appl. Math., SIAM, Philadelphia, 1976.
- [34] M. Y. Li and Z. Shuai, Global stability of an epidemic model in a patchy environment, *Canad. Appl. Math. Quart.*, **17** (2009), 175–189.
- [35] M. Y. Li and Z. Shuai, Global stability problem for coupled systems of differential equation on networks, *J. Differntial Equations*, **248** (2010), 1–20.
- [36] M. Y. Li, Z. Shuai and C. Wang, Global stability of multi-group epidemmic models with distributed delays, J. Math. Anal. Appl., 361 (2010), 38–47.
- [37] X. Lin and J. W. H. So, Global stability of the endemic equilibrium and uniform persistence in epidemic models with subpopulations, *J. Austral. Math. Soc. Ser. B*, **34** (1993), 282–295.
- [38] W. Lu, B. Liu and T. Chen, Cluster synchronization in networks of coupled nonidentical dynamical systems, *Chaos*, **20** (2010), 013120-1–013120-12.

- [39] Y. L. Maistrenko, O. V. Popovych and P. A. Tass, Chaotic Attractor in the Kuramoto Model, *Int. J. Bifurcat. Chaos*, **15** (2005), 3457–3466.
- [40] K. Mischaikow, H. Smith and H. Thieme, Asymptotically autonomous semiflows: Chain recurrence and lyapounov functions, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, 347 (1995), 1669–1685.
- [41] J. D. Murray, Mathematical Biology, Springer-Verlag, New York, 1989.
- [42] R. Olfati-Saber, J. A. Fax and R. M. Murray, Consensus and cooperation in networked multi-agent systems, *Proc. IEEE*, 95 (2007), 215–233.
- [43] R. Olfati-Saber and R. M. Murray, Consensus protocols for networks of dynamic agents, *Proc. Amer. Control Conf.*, (2003), 951–956.
- [44] A. Pikovsky and M. Rosenblum, Synchronization: A Universal Concept in Nonlinear Sciences, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, 2003.
- [45] W. Ren, Synchronization of coupled harmonic oscillators with local interaction, *Automatica*, 44 (2008), 3195–3200.
- [46] W. Ren, R. Beard and E. Atkins, A survey of consensus problems in multiagent coordination, *Proc. Amer. Control Conf.*, (2005), 1859–1864.
- [47] G. R. Sell, Nonautonomous differential equaitions and topological dynamicsI, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **127** (1967), 241–262.
- [48] G. R. Sell, Nonautonomous differential equaitions and topological dynamics II, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.*, **127** (1967), 263–283.
- [49] H. Shu, D. Fan and J. Wei, Global stability of multi-group epidemic models with distributed delays and nonlinear transmission, *Nonlinear Anal. Real World Appl.*, **13** (2012), 1581–1592.

- [50] Q. Song, J. Cao and W. Yu, Second-order leader-following consensus of nonlinear multi-agent systems via pinning control, *Syst. Control Lett.*, **59** (2010), 553–562.
- [51] S. H. Strogatz, Exploring complex networks, *Nature*, **410** (2001), 268–276.
- [52] S. H. Strogatz, From kuramoto to Crawford: exploring the onset of synchronzaiton in populations of coupled oscillators, *Physica D*, **143** (1995), 1–20.
- [53] H. Su, X. Wang and Z. Lin, Synchronization of coupled harmonic oscillators in a dynamic proximity network, *Automatica*, 45 (2009), 2286–2291.
- [54] H. R. Thieme, Asymptotically autonomous differential equations in the plane, *Rocky Mountain J. Math.*, 24 (1994), 351–380.
- [55] H. R. Thieme, Mathematics in Population Biology, Princeton University Press, Princeton, 2003.
- [56] M. R. Tinsley, S. Nkomo and K. Showalter, Chimera states for coupled oscillators, *Phys. Rev. Lett.*, **93** (2004), 174102.
- [57] P. van den Driessche and J. Watmough, Reproduction numbers and subthreshold endemic equilibria for compartmental models of disease transmission, *Math. Biosci.*, **180** (2002), 29–48.
- [58] L. Wang and F. Xiao, Finite-time consensus problems for networks of dynamic agents, *IEEE Trans. Autom. Control*, 55 (2010), 950–955.
- [59] K. Wiesenfeld, P. Colet and S. H. Strogatz, Frequency locking in Josephson arrays: connection with the Kuramoto model, *Phys. Rev. E*, 47 (1998), 1563– 1569.

- [60] C. W. Wu and L. O. Chua, On a conjecture regarding the synchronization in an array of linearly coupled dyanmical systems, *IEEE Trans. Circuits Syst. I, Fundam. Theory Appl.*, **43** (1996), 161–165.
- [61] W. Yu, G. Chen and M. Cao, Consensus in directed networks of agents with nonlinear dynamics, *IEEE Trans. Autom. Control*, **56** (2011), 1436–1441.
- [62] W. Yu, G. Chen, M. Cao and J. Kurths, Second-order consensus for multiagent systems with directed topologies and nonlinear dynamics, *IEEE Trans. Syst. Man, Cybern. B, Cybern.*, **40** (2010), 881–891.